
 

625 Fisgard St.,
Capital Regional District Victoria, BC V8W 1R7 

Notice of Meeting and Meeting Agenda 

Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission 

Thursday, May 15, 2025 9:00 AM SIMS Boardroom 

124 Rainbow Road 

Salt Spring Island BC 

MS Teams Link: Click here 

E. Rook (Chair), G. Holman (Vice Chair), G. Baker, B. Corno, B. Webster 

The Capital Regional District strives to be a place where inclusion is paramount and all people are 

treated with dignity. We pledge to make our meetings a place where all feel welcome and respected. 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement 

2. Approval of Agenda 

3. Adoption of Minutes 

3.1. 25-0551 Minutes of April 17, 2025 Salt Spring Island Local Community 

Commission 

Recommendation: That the minutes of April 17, 2025 meeting be adopted as circulated. 

Attachments: Minutes: April 17, 2025 

4. Chair, Director, and Commissioner Reports 

5. Senior Manager Report 

6. Presentations/Delegations 

Delegations will have the option to participate electronically. Please complete the online 

application at www.crd.bc.ca/address for "Addressing the Salt Spring Island Local 

Community Commission" no later than 4:30 pm two days before the meeting and staff 

will respond with details. Alternatively, you may email your comments on an agenda 

item to the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission (LCC) at 

saltspring@crd.bc.ca. 

6.1. Presentations 

6.1.1. 25-0552 Presentation: Isha Matous-Gibbs, Urban Matters Re: Integrated Housing 

Strategy Action Plan 

6.2. Delegations 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Notice of Meeting and Meeting May 15, 2025 

Commission Agenda 

7. Commission Business 

7.1. 25-0553 

Recommendation: 

Attachments: 

Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application - Spring 

Intake 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission recommends the Salt Spring 

Island Electoral Area Director: 

1. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix A, in the 

amount of $39,096; and 

2. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix B in the 

amount of $7,500 subject to the application changes listed under Table 5. 

Staff Report: Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application - Spring Intake 

Appendix A: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 

Appendix B: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 

Appendix C: GIA – Salt Spring Historical Society 

Appendix D: GIA – Gulf Islands Community Radio Society 

Appendix E: GIA – Salt Spring Community Energy 

Appendix F: GIA – The Circle Salt Spring Education Society 

Appendix G: GIA – Salt Spring Therapeutic Riding Association 

Appendix H: GIA – GISRA 

Appendix I: GIA – Salt Spring Island Rowing Club 

Appendix J: GIA – Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island 

Appendix K: GIA – Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society 

Appendix L: GIA – Copper Kettle Community Partnership 

Appendix M: GIA – Bandemonium Music Society 

Appendix N: GIA – Bandemonium Music Society 

Appendix O: GIA – The Diverse Village 

Appendix P: GIA – The Salish Sea Inter Island Transportation Society 

Appendix Q: GIA – Salt Spring Island Minor Baseball Association 

Appendix R: GIA – Patricia Blanchard 

Appendix S: GIA – Penelakut Tribe 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Notice of Meeting and Meeting May 15, 2025 

Commission Agenda 

7.2. 25-0554 163 Drake Road - Phoenix Elementary School Property Expression of 

Interest 

Recommendation: That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission authorize staff to enter a 

lease with Creek Song Learning Centre for a portion of the main building, playground 

and community gardens located at 163 Drake Road (PID 004-607-295) at a monthly 

rate of $1,000 plus GST. 

Attachments: Staff Report: 163 Drake Road - Phoenix Elementary School Property Expression of Interest 

Appendix A: Creek Song Learning Centre Proposal 

Appendix B: Chuan Society Proposal 

Appendix C: Salt Spring Chapter of the BCSPCA 

Appendix D: Decision Making Framework 

7.2.a. 25-0437 Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

Recommendation: The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission approved a $23,724 contract with 

the Southern Gulf Islands Community Resource Centre for a Housing Now HomeShare 

Registry for Salt Spring Island. 

Attachments: Staff Report: Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

Appendix A: Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project Work 

7.3. 25-0557 SD64 and CRD Special Joint Meeting 

Recommendation: There is no recommendation, this report is for information only. 

Attachments: Staff Report: SD64 and CRD Special Joint Meeting 

Appendix A: Kanaka Skate Park Joint Use Agreement 

Appendix B: SD64 and CRD Joint Use Agreement 

Appendix C: Salt Spring Island Multi Space Lease 

Appendix D: Hydofield Design, Construction Management & Operating License 

Appendix E: 163 Drake Road, Phoenix Elementary Lease 

8. Notice(s) of Motion 

8.1. 25-0574 Motion with Notice: Drake Road Licence of Occupation (D. Holman) 

Recommendation: [At the May 08, 2025 Salt Spring Local Community Commission meeting, the following 

notice was read by Director Holman into record to be discussed at a following meeting:] 

"That the CRD SSI Electoral Area Director and staff explore possibilities for a Licence 

of Occupation or similar arrangement allowing for location of the Hearth on CRD 

Housing's Drake Road property in proximity to the supported housing facility." 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Notice of Meeting and Meeting May 15, 2025 

Commission Agenda 

8.2. 25-0575 Motion with Notice: Mobile Speed Reader Board Advocacy (D. Holman) 

Recommendation: [At the May 08, 2025 Salt Spring Local Community Commission meeting, the following 

notice was read by Director Holman into record to be discussed at a following meeting:] 

"That staff submit an immediate request to MOTT for location of their mobile speed 

reader board on SSI at a priority location, for example: Upper Ganges southbound just 

before Baker Rd intersection; Sunset Drive southbound near Duck Creek Park; 

Vesuvius Bay Rd westbound just before ferry terminal." 

8.3. 25-0576 Motion with Notice: Prioritizing Locations for Reflectors (G. Holman) 

Recommendation: [At the May 08, 2025 Salt Spring Local Community Commission meeting, the following 

notice was read by Director Holman into record to be discussed at a following meeting:] 

"That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission develop a list of priority 

locations for installation of flexible steel reflectors." 

8.4. 25-0573 Motion with Notice: Repaving and Intersection Advocacy (B. Webster) 

Recommendation: [At the May 08, 2025 Salt Spring Local Community Commission meeting, the following 

notice was read by Commissioner Webster into record to be discussed at a following 

meeting:] 

"That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission (LCC) write to the B.C. 

Minister of Transportation and Transit requesting: 

1. In order to enhance road safety, increase active transportation options and support 

expanded public transit along Salt Spring Island's primary north-south transportation 

corridor, that the Ministry place a high priority on repaving and widening paved 

shoulders on Fulford-Ganges Road from Cranberry Road to the planned 

Blackburn/Cusheon Bridge. 

2. In order to improve safety, reduce congestion and enable planning for other projects 

in the Ganges core, undertake an options study of long-term solutions to the 

intersection of Fulford-Ganges Road and Lower Ganges Road on Salt Spring Island." 

9. Motion to Close Meeting 

9.1. 25-0568 Motion to Close Meeting 

Recommendation: 1.That the meeting be closed for discussion of negotiations that could reasonably be 

expected to harm the interest of the Electoral Area under Section 90(1)(k) of the 

Community Charter [2 items]. 

10. Adjournment 

Next Meeting: 

-Thursday, June 5, 2025 at 9:00AM in the Salt Spring Island Multi Space (SIMS) 

Boardroom, 124 Rainbow Road, Salt Spring Island, BC V8K 2V5 
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625 Fisgard St.,Capital Regional District Victoria, BC V8W 1R7 

Meeting Minutes - Draft 

Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission 

Thursday, April 17, 2025 9:00 AM SIMS Boardroom 

124 Rainbow Road 

Salt Spring Island BC 

PRESENT: 

COMMISSIONERS: E. Rook (Chair) G. Holman (Director), G. Baker, B. Corno, B. Webster , 

STAFF: S. Henderson, Senior Manager, Real Estate, SGI Administration and SSI LCC, D. Ovington, 

Senior Manager, SSI Administration, D. Olafson, Manager, SSI Engineering, M. Williamson, Committee 

Clerk, (Recorder) 

GUEST: M. Boysen, North Salt Spring Waterworks District, C. Court, Momentum Design Build (EP), A. 

Geddes, Windsor Plywood (EP), 

EP- Electronic Participation 

These minutes follow the order of the agenda although the sequence may have varied. 

The meeting was called to order at 09:01 am. 

1. Territorial Acknowledgement 

Commissioner Rook provided a Territorial Acknowledgement. 

2. Approval of Agenda 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

That a late delegation, C. Johnson be permitted to speak. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Commissioner Corno, SECONDED by Commissioner Webster, 

That agenda for the March 20, 2025, meeting of the Local Community 

Commission be approved as amended with the addition of agenda item 6.2.2. 

Delegation: Corey Johnson, Salt Spring Island Minor Baseball Re: Item 7.4 Salt 

Spring Island Parks and Recreation - 2025-2026 Fees and Charges. 

CARRIED 

3. Adoption of Minutes 

3.1. Minutes of March 20, 2025 Salt Spring Island Local Community 

Commission 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Webster, 

That the minutes of March 20, 2025 meeting be adopted as circulated. 

CARRIED 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

4. Chair, Director, and Commissioner Reports 

Commissioner Rook spoke of the following items: 

-Next joint meeting with the Local Trust Committee 

-Integrated Housing Plan 

Director Holman spoke of the following items: 

-Proposed Regional Transportation Service AAP 

-Bylaw Review Workshop 

-AAVIC Conference 

-Regional District legislative review 

-BC Transit funding resources 

-Kings Lane affordable housing 

-Rural Housing program expression of interest 

-Drake road housing 

-Mahon Hall maintenance costs for SSI Arts Council 

-Change in CWF guidelines 

-SSI Harbours Roundtable 

-BC Ferries Vesuvius upgrade 

Commissioner Webster spoke of the following items: 

-SSI Foundation Funders Table 

-Proposed Regional Transportation Service AAP 

-Bylaw Review Workshop 

Commissioner Corno spoke of the following items: 

-SSI Harbours Roundtable 

-SSI Volunteer Fair 

Commissioner Baker spoke of the following items: 

-Transitions SS Chipping Program 

-SSI Harbours Roundtable 

-Island Pathway roadside sweeping 

-Ask Salt Spring 

5. Senior Manager Report 

D. Ovington spoke regarding hiring a new SSI Engineer Manager. 

S. Henderson provided information on: 

-Short Term Rentals Provincial requirements 

-Business licence feasibility report 

-Green house gases and biochar report 

-SSI Harbours Roundtable 

6. Presentations/Delegations 

6.1. Presentations 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

6.1.1. Presentation: Mark Boysen; North Salt Spring Waterworks District, Re: 

Update Proposed Maxwell Lake Water Treatment Plant 

M. Boysen spoke regarding the proposed Maxwell Lake Water Treatment Plant 

Project. 

6.1.2. Presentation: Stefanie Campbell; Windsor Plywood and Momentum 

Design Build, Re: Widening Entrance at 166 Rainbow Road (Windsor 

Plywood) 

C. Court spoke regarding the proposed widening of entrance at 166 Rainbow 

Road. 

6.2. Delegations 

6.2.1. Delegation: Myna lee Johnstone, SSI Resident Re: Item 7.1 Ganges Active 

Transportation Plan 

M. Johnstone spoke to item 7.1. 

6.2.2. Delegation: Corey Johnson, Salt Spring Island Minor Baseball Re: Item 7.4 

Salt Spring Island Parks and Recreation - 2025-2026 Fees and Charges 

C. Johnson spoke to item 7.4. 

7. Commission Business 

7.1. Ganges Active Transportation Plan 

Discussion ensured regarding updates on the Ganges Active Transportation 

Plan. 

7.2. Project Tracker Quarterly No. 18, 2025 

This report was received for information. 

Discussion ensured regarding updates on project tracker. 

7.3. Motion Tracker 

This report was received for information. 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

7.4. Salt Spring Island Parks and Recreation - 2025-2026 Fees and Charges 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

That the Recreation Centre drop-in fees increase by 5% for 2025-2026. 

DEFEATED 

OPPOSED Baker, Corno, Rook, Webster 

Commissioner Baker declared a personal conflict and recused herself from the 

meeting room at 11:49pm. 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Webster, 

That the Small Classroom and Large Classroom per month rate increase by 5% 

for 2025-2026. 

CARRIED 

Commissioner Baker returned to the meeting room at 11:55pm. 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Webster, 

That the Ball Diamond and Main Field/ Side Field per hour rate be $2.50 for 

Youth non-profit and $3.25 for Adult non-profit for 2025-2026. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Commissioner Baker, SECONDED by Director Holman, 

That the meeting be extended past the 3-hour scheduled time. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Director Holman, 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission recommends to the 

Capital Regional District Board that the Salt Spring Island Parks and Recreation 

2025/2026 Fees and Charges be approved with specific amendments to Appendix 

A excluding Small Classroom and Large Classroom per month rate. 

CARRIED 

Commissioner Baker declared a personal conflict and recused herself from the 

meeting room at 12:07pm. 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Webster, 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission recommends to the 

Capital Regional District Board that the Salt Spring Island Parks and Recreation 

2025/2026 Fees and Charges be approved the Small Classroom and Large 

Classroom per month rate as amended in Appendix A. 

CARRIED 

Commissioner Baker returned to the meeting room at 12:08pm. 

The Commission recessed at 12:09 pm. 

The Commission reconvened at 12:41 pm. 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

7.5. Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Director Holman, 

That consideration of the agenda item be postponed to the May 15, 2025. 

CARRIED 

7.6. SSI Chamber of Commerce Funding Request 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission approve a $10,000 contract 

with the Salt Spring Island Chamber of Commerce to support the Salt Spring 

Island Visitor Centre. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Commissioner Corno, 

That the agenda be amended to move consideration of agenda item 9.1. before 

agenda item 8.1. 

CARRIED 

9. Motion to Close Meeting 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

9.1. 

8. Notice(s) of Motion 

8.1. 

10. Adjournment 

Motion to Close Meeting 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Commissioner Corno, 

That the meeting be closed for consideration of whether a meeting should be 

closed under a provision of a subsection of the Community Charter, under 

Section 90(1)(n) of the Community Charter. 

CARRIED 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission returned to the closed 

session at 1:04pm 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission rose from its closed 

session at 1:12pm without report. 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

That the meeting be closed for negotiations of a proposed provision of a service 

that are at their preliminary stages and that could reasonably be expected to 

harm the interests of the Electoral Area under Section 90(1)(k) of the Community 

Charter. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Director Holman, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

That the meeting be closed for consideration of information received and held in 

confidence relating to negotiations between the Electoral Area and a provincial 

government Section 90(2)(b) of the Community Charter. 

CARRIED 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission returned to the closed 

session at 1:13pm. 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission rose from its closed 

session at 3:58pm without report. 

Motion with Notice: SSI Foundation Meeting (G. Baker) 

MOVED by Commissioner Webster, SECONDED by Director Holman, 

That consideration of the Motion with notice be postponed to the June 19, 2025. 

CARRIED 

MOVED by Commissioner Corno, SECONDED by Commissioner Baker, 

That the Local Community Commission adjourn the meeting at 04:02pm. 

CARRIED 
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______________________________ 

______________________________

Salt Spring Island Local Community Meeting Minutes - Draft April 17, 2025 

Commission 

CHAIR

 SENIOR MANAGER 
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REPORT TO SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL COMMUNITY COMMISSION 
MEETING OF THURSDAY, MAY 15, 2025 

SUBJECT Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring 
Intake 

ISSUE 

To review the Spring 2025 Grant-In-Aid application submissions for the Salt Spring Island 
Electoral Area. 

BACKGROUND 

The Supplementary Letters Patent for Grant-In-Aid (GIA) requires Capital Regional District (CRD) 
approval to be obtained before any payments for GIA are made on behalf of one or more-member 
electoral areas to any organization deemed to be contributing to the general interests and 
advantage of the area. 

This service covers the Electoral Areas (EA). Before exercising the powers described above, the 
Supplementary Letters Patent requires that the Salt Spring Island (SSI) Local Community 
Commission (LCC) obtain the written approval of the Director of each EA to the proposed GIA for 
such EA.  

In 2023, the LCC directed that two annual intakes for Grant-in-Aid (GIA) funding be held for the 
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area—one in the spring and one in the fall. 

Table 1: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Overall Summary 

The current 2025 GIA budget is $65,486. 

2025 GIA Overall Summary 

Core GIA 

Budget Spent Remaining 

SSI ($) 68,986 3,500 65,486 

Table 2: Salt Spring Island Grant-in-Aid Awarded for 2025 

The Transition Salt Spring Society application was brought forward ahead of the GIA Spring 
Intake at the direction of the LCC. 

2025 Project Summary 

Applicant Project Title Award ($) 

Transition Salt Spring Society 
To organize the collection and chipping of 
invasive plants in spring 2025. 

$ 3,500 

GIA Total $ 3,500 

Index No 
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Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission Meeting – May 15, 2025 
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring Intake 

Table 3: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Summary 

The CRD Salt Spring Island Electoral Area has allocated 75% of its 2025 Grant-in-Aid (GIA) 
budget to the Spring Intake, totaling $51,739.50. After awarding $3,500 to the Transition Salt 
Spring Society, the remaining balance for the Spring Intake is $48,239.50. 

2025 GIA Spring Intake 
Summary 

Core GIA 

Budget Spent Remaining 

SSI ($) $51,739.50 $3,500 $48,239.50 

Table 4: Salt Spring Island Eligible 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application Summary – Spring 
Intake 

The Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application Summary lists GIA application 
submissions received by April 30, 2025, intake deadline. 

2025 Grant-In-Aid Application - Spring Intake 

Applicant Project Title 
Amount 

Requested 
($) 

Guideline 
$5,000 Max 

($) 

Salt Spring Historical 
Society 

New large bed scanner to do the Grace Inlet 
and Bridgman Collections projects. 

$5,000 $5,000 

Gulf Islands Community 
Radio Society 

Extending FM coverage to south end of SSI 
through repeater station on Mount Bruce. 

$5,000 $5,000 

Salt Spring Community 
Energy 

Salt Spring Community Energy Agrivoltaics 
Project. 

$5,000 $5,000 

The Circle Salt Spring 
Education Society 

Paid intergenerational co-facilitator for the 
Pass It On Girls program. 

$3,840 $3,840 

Salt Spring Therapeutic 
Riding Association 

Arena lighting for therapeutic riding lessons. $9,500 $5,000 

GISRA 

Regulatory planning and approvals and 
financial feasibility/business planning for a 
50-unit affordable rental project at 154-164 
Kings Lane. 

$10,000 $5,000 

Salt Spring Island Rowing 
Club 

Purchase of new, professional-quality oars 
for an expanding fleet of quad racing boats. 

$10,000 $5,000 

Restorative Justice Salt 
Spring Island 

Build the organizational and volunteer 
capacity of restorative justice to respond to 
community conflict needs. 

$5,000 $5,000 

Salt Spring Island Farmland 
Trust Society 

Further indigenous engagement - partners 
putting om the Indigenous Peoples Weekend 
on June 20-22, 2025. 

$5,000 $5,000 

Copper Kettle Community 
Partnership 

To purchase Country Grocer gift cards. $5,000 $5,000 

Bandemonium Music 
Society 

50% off the cost of a piano dolly. $ 420 $ 420 

Bandemonium Music 
Society 

Assistance with the costs associated with 
three performances and one workshop. 

$1,000 $1,000 

The Diverse Village 
Improve access to education, information 
and resources for ND families on SSI and 
Gulf Islands. 

$5,000 $5,000 
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3 
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission Meeting – May 15, 2025 
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring Intake 

Applicant Project Title 
Amount 

Requested 
($) 

Guideline 
$5,000 Max 

($) 

The Salish Sea Inter Island 
Transportation Society 

Support the Tour des Iles 2025 2-day 
festival. 

$5,000 $5,000 

Salt Spring Island Minor 
Baseball Association 

Baseball and softball field tarping. $4,900 $4,900 

Spring Intake 2025 GIA Total $79,660 $65,160 

Table 5: Salt Spring Island Eligible 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application Summary – Spring 
Intake – Other 

2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring Intake - Other 

Applicant Project Title Award ($) 

The Penelakut Council 
Truth and Reconciliation Gathering on 
Salt Spring Island for the Penelakut 
Council on September 30th , 2025 

$2,500 

Patricia Blanchard 
6-month pilot program that provides free 
and accessible garbage disposal to 
individuals impacted by the housing crisis 

$5,000 

GIA Total $7,500 

The Penelakut Council 

Th purpose of the application is to assist with the costs for the Truth and Reconciliation 
Gathering on Salt Spring Island for the Penelakut Council on September 30th, 2025. The CRD, 
Corporate Grants department indicated that the Penelakut Council GIA application would be 
eligible subject to the following changes: 

1. The application should be resubmitted by an eligible society or agency. GIAs are 
intended non-profit agencies and societies, not governments. 

2. A financial statement for the applying organization needs to be submitted. 
3. The applicant must confirm the organization applying is not directly funded on an 

ongoing basis by taxation. 

Patricia Blanchard 

The purpose of this application is to support a 6-month pilot program that provides free and 
accessible garbage disposal to individuals impacted by the housing crisis, living unsheltered 
and liveaboards.  The program will remove barriers to safe and sanitary waste management by 
funding monthly replacement of 15-yard bins and covering the cost of individual bags.  The 
CRD, Corporate Grants department indicated that the GIA application would be eligible subject 
to the following changes: 

1. The application should be resubmitted by an eligible society or agency. GIAs are intended 
non-profit agencies and societies, not governments. 

2. To provide an estimated annual budget in lieu of financial statements. 
3. To complete the following two sections of the application: 

a. Applicant Profile section 
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4 
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission Meeting – May 15, 2025 
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring Intake 

i. Question 1: They did not describe the services or benefits that their 
organization provides to the community. 

ii. Question 3 is blank. 
b. Project/Personal Profile section 

i. Question 3 is blank. 

Table 6: Post Approval Funds Remaining 

Insufficient funds exist to approve all applications, leaving a shortfall of $24,420.50 

2025 GIA Overall Summary 

Core GIA 

Budget 
Spring 

Spent 
Intake 

Insufficient 
Funds 

SSI ($) $51,739.50 $3,500 $72,660 $24,420.50 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission recommends the Salt Spring Island 
Electoral Area Director: 

1. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix A in the amount 
of $39,096; and 

2. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix B in the amount of 
$7,500 subject to the application changes listed under Table 5. 

Alternative 2 

Refer the Grant-in-Aid applications back to staff for more information. 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission recommends the Salt Spring Island 
Electoral Area Director: 

1. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix A, in the amount of 
$39,096; and 

2. Approve the Grant-in-Aid applications to the applicants listed in Appendix B in the amount of 
$7,500 subject to the application changes listed under Table 5. 

Submitted by: Dan Ovington, BBA, Senior Manager, Salt Spring Island Administration 

Concurrence: 
Stephen Henderson, MBA, BSc, Senior Manager of Real Estate, Southern Gulf 
Islands and Salt Spring Local Community Commission 

Appendix A: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 
– Approval Recommended 

Appendix B: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 
– Approval Recommended / Subject to Changes 
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5 
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission Meeting – May 15, 2025 
Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 2025 Grant-In-Aid Application – Spring Intake 

Appendix C: GIA – Salt Spring Historical Society 
Appendix D: GIA – Gulf Islands Community Radio Society 
Appendix E: GIA – Salt Spring Community Energy 
Appendix F: GIA – The Circle Salt Spring Education Society 
Appendix G: GIA – Salt Spring Therapeutic Riding Association 
Appendix H: GIA – GISRA 
Appendix I: GIA – Salt Spring Island Rowing Club 
Appendix J: GIA – Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island 
Appendix K: GIA – Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society 
Appendix L: GIA – Copper Kettle Community Partnership 
Appendix M: GIA – Bandemonium Music Society 
Appendix N: GIA – Bandemonium Music Society 
Appendix O: GIA – The Diverse Village 
Appendix P: GIA – The Salish Sea Inter Island Transportation Society 
Appendix Q: GIA – Salt Spring Island Minor Baseball Association 
Appendix R: GIA – Patricia Blanchard 
Appendix S: GIA – Penelakut Tribe 

Page 16



  
 
 

 

                    
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

  
 

 

 
 

 

  
 

 

 

 

  

  

  
 

 
  

   

 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Appendix A: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 
– Approval Recommended 

Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application – Approval Recommended 

Applicant Project Title 
*Recommended 

Grant ($) 

Salt Spring Historical Society 
New large bed scanner to do the Grace 
Inlet and Bridgman Collections projects. 

$ 3,000 

Gulf Islands Community Radio Society 
Extending FM coverage to south end of 
SSI through repeater station on Mount 
Bruce. 

$ 3,000 

Salt Spring Community Energy 
Salt Spring Community Energy 
Agrivoltaics Project. 

$ 3,000 

The Circle Salt Spring Education Society 
Paid Intergenerational Co-facilitator for 
the Pass It On Girls program. 

$ 2,304 

Salt Spring Therapeutic Riding 
Association 

Arena Lighting for Therapeutic Riding 
Lessons. 

$ 3,000 

GISRA 

Regulatory Planning and Approvals and 
Financial feasibility/business planning 
for a 50-unit affordable rental project at 
154-164 Kings Lane. 

$ 3,000 

Salt Spring Island Rowing Club 
Purchase of new, professional-quality 
oars for an expanding fleet of quad 
racing boats. 

$ 3,000 

Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island 
Build the organizational and volunteer 
capacity of Restorative Justice to 
respond to community conflict needs. 

$ 3,000 

Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society 

Further indigenous engagement - 
partners putting om the Indigenous 
Peoples Weekend on June 20-22, 
2025. 

$ 3,000 

Copper Kettle Community Partnership To purchase Country Grocer Gift Cards $ 3,000 

Bandemoniom Music Society 50% off the cost of a piano dolly $ 252 

Bandemoniom Music Society 
Assistance with the costs associated 
with three performances and one 
workshop. 

$ 600 

The Diverse Village 
Improve access to education, 
information and resources for ND 
families on SSI and Gulf Islands. 

$ 3,000 

The Salish Sea Inter Island Transportation 
Society 

Support the Tour des Iles 2025 2-day 
festival. 

$ 3,000 

Salt Spring Island Minor Baseball 
Association 

Baseball and Softball Field Tarping $ 2,940

 Spring Intake 2025 GIA Total $39,096 

* The Recommended Grant ($) is 60% of the ‘Guideline $5,000 Max’ column in Table 4. 

Index No 
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Appendix B: Salt Spring Island 2025 Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application 
– Approval Recommended / Subject to Changes 

Grant-In-Aid Spring Intake Application (Other) – Approval Recommended / Subject to 
Changes 

Applicant Project Title Award ($) 

The Penelakut Council 
Truth and Reconciliation Gathering on 
Salt Spring Island for the Penelakut 
Council on September 30th , 2025 

$2,500 

Patricia Blanchard 
6-month pilot program that provides free 
and accessible garbage disposal to 
individuals impacted by the housing crisis 

$3,000 

GIA Total $5,500 
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Project / Proposal Profile 

1. Assistance is being requested for: 

capital project and / or equipment 

special event  

other purpose (______________________________________________________) 

2. Please describe the proposal for which you are requesting assistance. Attach additional 
information if required. 

3. Please describe how this proposal will benefit the community. 

3 

CAPITAL EQUIPMENT (couldn't check first item in PDF)

We need to purchase a transmitter, antenna, and upgrade our cabling in order to 
broadcast from Mount Bruce. THere will also be the costs of bringing in installers from 
off-Salt Spring. There will also be a update of an audio over IP equipment. 

This is the final stage of a multi-year effort to get onto the FM band, and also to be in 
complete compliance with our CRTC license

This will complete the envisioned coverage for our radio license. During our FM tests 
we had a lot of community feedback who heard it; many we disappointed to learn that 
the south of the island won't be able to receive our signal when we first go live. 

This will also ensure that all Salt Spring resisdents will be able to receive our 
emergency broadcasting. 
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  Please remember to attach: 
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Mount Bruce Installation 

OUTGOINGS  Budget Actual 

Transmitter $ 6,600 

Antenna $ 3,300 

Misc cabling $ 1,500 

Audio converter $ 600 

Installation $ 8,000 

TOTAL: $ 20,000 

NOTES on other funding sources 

Operating 

Expenses 

to cover transmitters and 
Master Capital 

antennas and other unique 
Requirements 

electrical equipment 

We operate a used vinyl, CD, and 

audio equipment store (open on 

Saturdays) from opur broadcast 

location that provides all of the 

funding required for our current 

operating needs 

We had a concerted fund-raising 

program primarily aimed at 

attracting donations from 

members of the 5 islands that we 

serve. We did this using a variety of 

vehicles that resulted in well over 

$65,000 to be raised in 2 years 

Page 36



Gulf Island Community Radio 
Profit and Loss 

January - December 2024 

TOTAL 

INCOME 

Donations 9,280.00 

Go Fund Me programs 47.94 

Total Donations 

Grants 

CRD Grants 

9,327.94 

0.00 

2,770.00 

Total Grants 2,770.00 

Memberships 365.00 

Club 107.9 members 1,498.10 

Total Memberships 1,863.10 

Receipts and Volunteers - Country Grocer 147.86 

Sales 0.00 

Advertising Sales 25.00 

Sales of Product Income 200.00 

Total Sales 

Special Event Income 

The Record Shop Sales 

225.00 

50.00 

12,488.49 

Total Income $26,872.39 

GROSS PROFIT $26,872.39 

EXPENSES 

Advertising 110.88 

Bank charges 4,555.50 

Broadcasting Equipment Installation 12,501.25 

Commissions and fees 64.56 

Insurance - Liability 793.98 

Internet and Phone 1,687.32 

Office Rent 5,464.45 

Technology Master 0.00 

Program Management Software 2,692.95 

Total Technology Master 2,692.95 

Total Expenses $27,870.89 

PROFIT $ -998.50 

Accrual Basis  Saturday, January 25, 2025 11:06 AM GMT-08:00 Page 37   1/1 
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Project / Proposal Profile 

1. Assistance is being requested for: 

capital project and / or equipment 

special event  

other purpose (______________________________________________________) 

2. Please describe the proposal for which you are requesting assistance. Attach additional 
information if required. 

3. Please describe how this proposal will benefit the community. 

3 

Purchase of and Installation of lighting in riding arena

To serve our Island community better, we request funds to purchase and install arena 
lighting, which will allow us to expand our operating hours.  
Recently, SSTRA has experienced a refresh. Our new board wishes to improve the 
organization's operations and expand its therapeutic lesson offerings.  
To aid us in expanding our program, we would like to add arena lighting which will 
extend SSTRA's working day. As 95% of our students are in public school, our 
after-school lesson slots are always at a premium. In the winter, when daylight is 
scant, our after-school operation window shrinks significantly. With arena lighting, we 
will be able run lessons in the evening, which will enable more children/youth to enroll 
in our sessions. 
 
We have attached a project budget spreadsheet and quotes to support our request. 
We have budgeted for the following: trenching for electrical wires, purchase and 
installation of lighting, aerial work platform rental, permits, travel. Please see attached. 

SSTRA's mandate is to support both the emotional and physical development of our 
riders through the delivery of structured programming in a caring and inclusive 
environment. By striving to enhance our students' well-being, we are, by extension, 
enhancing the well-being of our Salt Spring Island community. 
 
Arena lighting will help SSTRA expand its program and improve community outreach  
in two ways: 1) Increased enrollment and 2) Subsidized lessons.  We plan to use 
additional revenue gained through our expanded offerings to subsidize lessons for 
those in our community in need of both compassionate and financial assistance. 
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Project / Proposal Profile 

1. Assistance is being requested for: 

capital project and / or equipment 

special event  

other purpose (______________________________________________________) 

2. Please describe the proposal for which you are requesting assistance. Attach additional 
information if required. 

3. Please describe how this proposal will benefit the community. 

3 

zoning revisions, sewer design/costing, feasibility & business plan

GISRA also owns a 3.43-acre site at 154-164 Kings Lane, currently housing the SSI 
Health Centre. Previous plans were to construct ‘Meadowlane’, a 50-unit supportive 
seniors’ residence, for which it was designed and re-zoned. GISRA is in the process of 
design and bylaw changes to instead build a standard independent affordable rental 
building.  The proposed use of these funds is for technical and planning assistance 
and any associated application fees for the following: 
 
1) Revising the zoning bylaw and housing agrement to allow for a broader range of 
residents and remove the restriction of 12 medical practitioners in the existing clinic, to 
allow for an expansion in collaboration with a local doctors' group and the Lady Minto 
Hospital Foundation. 
 
2) Preliminary planning, design and cost estimating for line extension and connection 
to the Ganges Sewer system. 
 
3) Updated financial feasibility and business planning, in preparation for capital funding 
applications.

This project will help meet two of the community's most critical needs: affordable 
housing and the shortage of doctors and other medical professionals.  Salt Spring is 
experiencing a serious affordable housing crisis, with a clear and very strong need for 
more affordable rental housing.  Community consensus indicates that the best use for 
the site would be staff housing for a wide range of incomes, with a focus on 
lower-middle incomes as much as is financially feasible. Younger and independent 
seniors, some of whom may still be employed, could be included.  
 
Salt Spring also has a severe shortage of primary health care providers, with up to half 
of the community unattached to a family doctor. A key element of this being the 
difficulty family doctors face in securing a long-term facility for their practices.  
Inclusion of the medical clinic expansion in GISRA’s housing proposal and possibly 
dedicating some of the planned housing units to medical staff could help meet both 
these important community needs. 
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GISRA Kings Lane Project Updated: 25-Apr-2025 

CRD Grant-in-Aid Application 

PROPOSED BUDGET - Grant in Aid 
Application fee - zoning bylaw revisions 4,900 
Legal fees - revise housing agreement 5,000 
Consultant - process & negotiate applications 6,000 
Sewer design & costing 3,500 
Consultant - update feasibility & business plan 5,000 
Contingency 10% 2,440 
TOTAL COST 26,840 

Source of Funds 
CRD Grant-in-Aid 10,000 
Islands Trust sponsor application 4,900 
GISRA funds 11,940 
TOTAL COST 26,840 

Page 111Kings Lane budget for CRD GIA.xlsx (CRD GIA budget) Page 1 of 2 



 

 

 

GISRA Kings Lane Project Updated: 25-Apr-2025 

CRD Grant-in-Aid Application 

PRELIMINARY CAPITAL BUDGET 
Total Acquisition and Servicing 2,772,500 
Total Municipal Fees 284,000 
Total Utility Fees 142,500 
Total Design Consultants 1,297,000 
Total Consultants 515,500 
Total Miscellaneous Soft Cost 671,500 
Total Borrowing Cost 258,120 
Total Construction 17,489,000 
Total Building Start-up/Commissioning 122,000 
Total Contingency 2,000,000 
TOTAL COST 25,552,120 

Planned Fundraising 
Society Land Equity 1,000,000 
Society Cash Equity & Fundraising 0 
Islands Trust fee waiver 6,500 
CRD PDF (forgivable portion) 50,000 
BCH Grants 7,914,700 
CMHC Seed Funding Grant 0 
CMHC or other Federal Grants 0 
CRD Regional Housing Fund 3,000,000 
CRD Commiunity Works (sewer) 400,000 
SS Foundation 500,000 
Lady Minto Foundation 0 
SHORTFALL - FUNDRAISING REQ'D 293,500 
TOTAL EQUITY 13,164,700 

MORTGAGE REQUIRED 12,387,420 

PROPOSED BUDGET - Grant in Aid 
Application fee - zoning bylaw revisions 4,900 
Legal fees - revise housing agreement 5,000 
Consultant - process & negotiate applications 6,000 
Sewer design & costing 3,500 
Consultant - update feasibility & business plan 5,000 
Contingency 10% 2,440 
TOTAL COST 26,840 

Source of Funds 
CRD Grant-in-Aid 10,000 
Islands Trust sponsor application 4,900 
GISRA funds 11,940 
TOTAL COST 26,840 

Page 112Kings Lane budget for CRD GIA.xlsx (Kings Lane capital) Page 2 of 2 



 
 

June 12, 2024 

Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
121 Atkins Road 
Salt Spring Island BC V8K 2X7 

Dear Helen, Richard and Keena: 

We are enclosing: 

 One copy of your reviewed financial statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association for the year 
ended December 31, 2023. 

 One copy of the letter of representation. 

 One copy of our standard engagement letter. 

 Our invoice, which we trust you will find in order. 

 Our year-end journal entries and other relevant working papers are being provided to assist you in updating 
your accounting system. If you find after inputting our year-end entries that your general ledger does not agree 
to our closing balances, please contact our office so we may help you rectify the problem. 

We have relied on you to provide us with the necessary information in a form sufficiently complete to enable us to 
prepare the financial statements. We understand that the financial statements referred to will be only for 
management purposes and will not be made available to other parties without our consent. 

We wish to emphasize that our engagement cannot be relied upon to disclose errors, omissions or other 
irregularities nor will it fulfill any statutory audit requirements. 

We thank you for the opportunity to be of service to you and trust everything is in order.  If you have any questions 
or concerns, please contact us by email at flizotte@mlwaccounting.ca or call 250-537-9742. 

Sincerely, 

MCLEAN, LIZOTTE, WHEADON AND COMPANY 
Chartered Professional Accountants 

Frédéric Lizotte, CPA, CGA 
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December 17, 2023 

Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association 
121 Atkins Road 
Salt Spring Island BC V8K 2X7 

Dear Richard and Harry: 

The Objective and Scope of the Review 

You have requested that we review the general purpose financial statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences 
Association, which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the statements of 
revenues and expenditures, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. We are pleased to confirm our acceptance and 
our understanding of this review engagement by means of this letter (the "Engagement"). 

Our review will be conducted with the objective of expressing our conclusion on the financial statements. Our 
conclusion, if unmodified, will be in the form of "Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes 
us to believe that these financial statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit 
organizations (ASNPO)". 

Our Responsibilities 

We will conduct our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements, 
which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. 

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review 
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. We will perform procedures, primarily consisting of making 
inquiries of management and others within the entity (as appropriate) and applying analytical procedures, and 
evaluate the evidence obtained. We will also perform additional procedures if we become aware of matters that 
cause us to believe the financial statements as a whole may be materially misstated. These procedures are 
performed to enable us to express our conclusion on the financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted standards for review engagements. The procedures selected will depend on what we consider 
necessary in applying our professional judgment, based on our understanding of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences 
Association and its environment, and our understanding of ASNPO and its application in the industry context. 

A review is not an audit of the financial statements, therefore: 

a. There is a commensurate higher risk than there would be in an audit that any material misstatements that exist 
in the financial statements reviewed may not be revealed by the review, even though the review is properly 
performed in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements. 

b. In expressing our conclusion from the review of the financial statements, our report on the financial statements 
will expressly disclaim any audit opinion of the financial statements. 

1 
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Reporting 

Unless unanticipated difficulties are encountered, our report will be substantially in the following form contained in 
Appendix A to this letter. 

If we determine that a modification to our conclusion on the financial statements is necessary, we will discuss the 
reasons with you in advance. 

Management's Responsibilities 

Our review will be conducted on the basis that management and, where appropriate, those charged with 
governance / oversight acknowledge and understand that they have responsibility: 

a. For the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with ASNPO. 

b. For the design and implementation of such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

c. To provide us with timely: 

i. Access to all information of which management is aware that is relevant to the preparation of the financial 
statements, such as records, documentation and other matters; 

ii. Information about all known or suspected fraud, any allegations of fraud or suspected fraud and 
any known or probable instances of non-compliance with legislative or regulatory requirements; 

iii. Additional information that we may request from management for the purpose of review; and 

iv. Unrestricted access to persons within Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association from whom we 
determine it necessary to obtain evidence. 

As part of our review, we will request from management [and, where appropriate, those charged with governance] 
written confirmation concerning representations made to us in connection with the review. 

We will communicate any misstatements identified during the Engagement other than those that are clearly trivial. 
We will request that management correct all the misstatements communicated. 

Use of Information 

It is acknowledged that we will have access to all information about identified individuals ("personal information") in 
your custody that we require to complete our Engagement. Our services are provided on the basis that: 

a. You represent to us that management has obtained any required consents for our collection, use, disclosure, 
storage, transfer and process of personal information required under applicable privacy legislation and 
professional regulation; and 

b. We will hold all personal information in compliance with our Privacy Statement. 

File Inspections 

In accordance with professional regulations (and by our firm's policy), our client files may periodically be reviewed 
by practice inspectors and by other engagement file reviewers to ensure that we are adhering to professional and 
firm standards. File reviewers are required to maintain confidentiality of client information. 

Confidentiality 

One of the underlying principles of the profession is a duty of confidentiality with respect to client affairs. Each 
professional accountant must preserve the secrecy of all confidential information that becomes known during the 
practice of the profession. Accordingly, we will not provide any third party with confidential information concerning 
the affairs of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association unless: 

a. We have been specifically authorized with prior consent; 

b. We have been ordered or expressly required by law or by the British Columbia Code of Professional 
Conduct/Code of Ethics; or 
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c. The information requested is (or enters into) public domain. 

Use and Distribution of Our Report 

The examination of the financial statements and the issuance of our review engagement report are solely for the 
use of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association and those to whom our report is specifically addressed by us. 
We make no representations or warranties of any kind to any third party in respect of these financial statements or 
our review engagement report, and we accept no responsibility for their use by any third party or any liability to 
anyone other than Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association. 

For greater clarity, our review will not be planned or conducted for any third party or for any specific transaction. 
Accordingly, items of possible interest to a third party may not be addressed and matters may exist that would be 
assessed differently by a third party, including, without limitation, in connection with a specific transaction. Our 
review engagement report should not be circulated (beyond Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association) or relied 
upon by any third party for any purpose, without our prior written consent. 

You agree that our name may be used only with our prior written consent and that any information to which we 
have attached a communication be issued with that communication, unless otherwise agreed to by us in writing. 

Reproduction of Review Engagement Report 

If reproduction or publication of our review engagement report (or reference to our report) is planned in an annual 
report or other document, including electronic filings or posting of the report on a website, a copy of the entire 
document should be submitted to us in sufficient time for our review and approval in writing before the publication 
or posting process begins. 

Management is responsible for the accurate reproduction of the financial statements, the review engagement 
report and other related information contained in an annual report or other public document (electronic or paper-
based). This includes any incorporation by reference to either full or summarized financial statements that we have 
reviewed. 

We are not required to read the information contained in your website or to consider the consistency of other 
information in the electronic site with the original document. 

Communications 

In performing our services, we will send messages and documents electronically. As such communications can be 
intercepted, misdirected, infected by a virus or otherwise used or communicated by an unintended third party, we 
cannot guarantee or warrant that communications from us will be properly delivered only to the addressee. 
Therefore, we specifically disclaim, and you release us from, any liability or responsibility whatsoever for 
interception or unintentional disclosure of communications transmitted by us in connection with the performance of 
this Engagement. In that regard, you agree that we shall have no liability for any loss or damage to any person or 
entity resulting from such communications, including any that are consequential, incidental, direct, indirect, punitive, 
exemplary or special damages (such as loss of data, revenues, or anticipated profits). 

If you do not consent to our use of electronic communications, please notify us in writing. 

Ownership 

The working papers, files, other materials, reports and work created, developed or performed by us during the 
course of the Engagement are the property of our firm, constitute our confidential information and will be retained 
by us in accordance with our firm's policies and procedures. 

During the course of our work, we may provide, for your own use, certain software, spreadsheets and other 
intellectual property to assist with the provision of our services. Such software, spreadsheets and other intellectual 
property must not be copied, distributed or used for any other purpose. We also do not provide any warranties in 
relation to these items and will not be liable for any lost or corrupted data or other damage or loss suffered or 
incurred by you in connection with your use of them. 

We retain the copyright and all intellectual property rights in any original materials provided to you. 
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Governing Legislation 

This engagement letter is subject to, and governed by, the laws of the Province of British Columbia. The Province 
of British Columbia will have exclusive jurisdiction in relation to any claim, dispute or difference concerning this 
engagement letter and any matter arising from it. Each party irrevocably waives any right it may have to object to 
any action being brought in those courts, to claim that the action has been brought in an inappropriate forum or to 
claim that those courts do not have jurisdiction. 

Accounting Advice 

Except as outlined in this letter, this Engagement does not contemplate the provision of specific accounting advice 
or opinions or the issuance of a written report on the application of accounting standards to specific transactions 
and to the facts and circumstances of the entity. Such services, if requested, would be provided under a separate 
engagement letter. 

Dispute Resolution 

You agree that any dispute that may arise regarding the meaning, performance or enforcement of this Engagement 
will, prior to resorting to litigation, be submitted to mediation. 

Indemnity 

Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association hereby agrees to indemnify, defend (by counsel retained and 
instructed by us) and hold harmless our firm (and its partners, agents and employees) from and against any and all 
losses, costs (including solicitors� fees), damages, expenses, claims, demands and liabilities arising out of (or in 
consequence of): 

a. The breach by Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association, or its directors, officers, agents or employees, of 
any of the covenants or obligations of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association herein, including, without 
restricting the generality of the foregoing, the misuse of, or the unauthorized dissemination of, our engagement 
report or the financial statements in reference to which the engagement report is issued, or any other work 
product made available to you by our firm. 

b. A misrepresentation by a member of your management or the those charged with governance. 

Time Frames 

We will use all reasonable efforts to complete the Engagement as described in this letter within the agreed upon 
time frames. 

However, we shall not be liable for failures or delays in performance that arise from causes beyond our reasonable 
control, including any delays in the performance by Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association of its obligations. 

Billing 

Our fees and costs will be billed monthly and are payable upon receipt. Invoices unpaid 30 days past the billing 
date may be deemed delinquent and are subject to an interest charge of 1.50% per month. We reserve the right to 
suspend our services or to withdraw from this Engagement in the event that any of our invoices are deemed 
delinquent. In the event that any collection action is required to collect unpaid balances due to us, you agree to 
reimburse us for our costs of collection, including lawyers' fees. 

Costs of Responding to Government or Legal Processes 

In the event we are required to respond to a subpoena, court order, government agency or other legal process for 
the production of documents and/or testimony relative to information we obtained and/or prepared during the 
course of this Engagement, you agree to compensate us at our normal hourly rates for the time we expend in 
connection with such response and to reimburse us for all of our out-of-pocket costs (including applicable GST) 
incurred. 

Termination 

Management acknowledges and understands that failure to fulfill its obligations as set out in this engagement letter 
will result, upon written notice, in the termination of the Engagement. 
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Either party may terminate this agreement for any reason upon providing written notice to the other party [not less 
than 30 calendar days before the effective date of termination]. If early termination takes place, Gulf Islands 
Seniors Residences Association shall be responsible for all time and expenses incurred up to the termination date. 

If we are unable to complete the Engagement or are unable to come to a conclusion on the financial statements, 
we may withdraw from the Engagement before issuing a review engagement report, or we may issue a denial of 
assurance on the financial statements. If this occurs, we will communicate the reasons and provide details. 

Survival of Terms 

This engagement letter will continue in force for subsequent reviews unless terminated by either party by written 
notice prior to the commencement of the subsequent review. 

Foreign Reporting 

It is understood and agreed that the organization is aware of the foreign reporting rules effective for tax years 
starting in 1996, and we are relying on the organization to provide us with the necessary information. 

Failure to comply may result in significant penalties that are not deductible for income tax purposes. There are 
more penalties to those persons who make or participate in the making of a false statement or omission on the new 
information returns. Therefore, we must impress upon you the importance of carrying out due diligence to file these 
returns accurately and completely. 

Conclusion 

This engagement letter includes the relevant terms that will govern the Engagement for which it has been 
prepared. The terms of this letter supersede any prior oral or written representations or commitments by or 
between the parties. Any material changes or additions to the terms set forth in this letter will only become effective 
if evidenced by a written amendment to this letter, signed by all of the parties. 

If you have any questions about the contents of this letter, please raise them with us. Please sign and return the 
attached copy of this letter to indicate your acknowledgment of, and agreement with, the arrangements of our 
review of the financial statements, including our respective responsibilities. We appreciate the opportunity of 
continuing to be of service to your organization. 

Sincerely, 

MCLEAN, LIZOTTE, WHEADON AND COMPANY 
Chartered Professional Accountants 

Frédéric Lizotte, CPA, CGA 

Acknowledged and agreed to on behalf of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association by: 

Date signed 

Date signed 
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Appendix A - Expected Form of Report 

To the Members of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association 

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences 
Association (the organization) that comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, 
and the statements of revenues and expenditures, changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year 
then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO), and for such 
internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Practitioner's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our 
review. We conducted our review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review 
engagements, which require us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. 

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review 
engagements is a limited assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily 
consisting of making inquiries of management and others within the entity, as appropriate, and applying 
analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained. 

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those 
performed in an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. 
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on these financial statements. 

Conclusion 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial 
statements do not present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Gulf Islands Seniors 
Residences Association as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with ASNPO. 
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INDEPENDENT PRACTITIONER'S REVIEW ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

To the Members of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association 

We have reviewed the accompanying financial statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association (the organization) that 
comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2023, and the statements of revenues and expenditures, changes 
in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with Canadian 
accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations (ASNPO), and for such internal control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Practitioner's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express a conclusion on the accompanying financial statements based on our review. We conducted our 
review in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements, which require us to comply with 
relevant ethical requirements. 

A review of financial statements in accordance with Canadian generally accepted standards for review engagements is a limited 
assurance engagement. The practitioner performs procedures, primarily consisting of making inquiries of management and others 
within the entity, as appropriate, and applying analytical procedures, and evaluates the evidence obtained. 

The procedures performed in a review are substantially less in extent than, and vary in nature from, those performed in an audit 
conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion on 
these financial statements. 

Conclusion 

Based on our review, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to believe that the financial statements do not present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial position of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association as at December 31, 2023, and the 
results of its operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with ASNPO. 

Salt Spring Island, British Columbia MCLEAN, LIZOTTE, WHEADON AND COMPANY 
May 30, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

2023 2022 

REVENUES 
Rents 
Fee for service 
Donations 
Meals and sundry 
Grants and rebates 
Membership fees 

$ 1,715,180 
37,296 
17,248 
11,885 

2,354 
500 

$ 1,497,695 
17,882 

5,931 
10,322 

6,438 
190 

1,784,463 1,538,458 

EXPENSES 
Advertising 
Automotive 
Bank charges 
Board costs 
CFO costs 
Housekeeping 
Insurance 
Interest on mortgage payable 
Licenses and dues 
Medical alert and fire monitoring 
Office and miscellaneous 
Professional fees 
Property taxes 
Repairs and maintenance 
Resident activities 
Supplies - food 
Telephone 
Utilities and property services 
Wages, costs and benefits 

375 
1,315 
1,587 

55 
39,411 
4,645 

35,009 
69,154 

1,180 
16,994 
11,437 
26,859 
17,113 
50,495 

6,594 
123,696 

4,389 
165,454 
821,427 

454 
714 

1,659 
1,194 

46,679 
4,085 

33,853 
68,065 

1,124 
15,979 

8,757 
20,233 
16,000 
47,767 

3,591 
114,608 

4,656 
156,698 
697,780 

1,397,189 1,243,896 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES FROM OPERATIONS 387,274 294,562 

OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Other income 
Investment income (loss) 
Investment and finance fees 
Amortization 

20,000 
12,486 

(701) 
(134,120) 

18,925 
(400) 
(333) 

(135,459) 

(102,335) (117,267) 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES FOR THE YEAR $ 284,939 $ 177,295 

See notes to financial statements 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Statement of Changes in Fund Balances 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Operating 
Fund 

Internally 
Restricted 

Fund 

Invested in 
Tangible 

Capital Assets 
Fund 2023 2022 

FUND BALANCES -
BEGINNING OF 
YEAR 

EXCESS OF REVENUES 
OVER EXPENSES 

PURCHASE OF 
TANGIBLE CAPITAL 
ASSETS 

INTERFUND 
TRANSFERS 

$ 191,626 

316,783 

(27,218) 

(125,805) 

$ 287,599 

102,276 

(224,467) 

125,805 

$ 2,537,529 

(134,120) 

251,685 

-

$ 3,016,754 

284,939 

-

-

$ 2,839,459 

177,295 

-

-

FUND BALANCES -
END OF YEAR $ 355,386 $ 291,213 $ 2,655,094 $ 3,301,693 $ 3,016,754 

See notes to financial statements 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Statement of Cash Flows 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

2023 2022 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Cash receipts from customers 
Cash paid to suppliers and employees 
Investment income received 
Interest paid 

$ 1,777,166 
(1,279,635) 

11,776 
(70,740) 

$ 1,510,073 
(1,234,470) 

-
(69,720) 

Cash flow from operating activities 438,567 205,883 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchase of tangible capital assets 
Redemption (Purchase) of investments 

(251,685) 
38,935 

(142,422) 
3,107 

Cash flow used by investing activities (212,750) (139,315) 

FINANCING ACTIVITY 
Repayment of long term financing (167,334) (119,742) 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH FLOW 58,483 (53,174) 

Cash - beginning of year 325,791 378,965 

CASH - END OF YEAR $ 384,274 $ 325,791 

CASH CONSISTS OF: 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 384,274 $ 325,791 

See notes to financial statements 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

1. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION 

Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association (the "Society") is a not-for-profit organization 
incorporated provincially under the Society Act of British Columbia. As a registered charity the 
organization is exempt from the payment of income tax under Section 149(1) of the Income Tax Act. 

The purpose of the Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association is to provide and manage one or 
more non-profit residential facilities on Salt Spring Island for persons sixty-five years of age and 
over. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Basis of presentation 

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations (ASNFPO). 

Fund accounting 

Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association follows the fund accounting method of accounting for 
contributions. 

The Operating Fund accounts for the Society�s program delivery and administrative activities. 
This fund reports unrestricted resources and restricted operating grants and unrestricted donations 
at the discretion of the Board of Directors. 

The Internally Restricted Fund comprises of investment in the Victoria Foundation Fund (�VFF�), a 
Maintenance Fund (�MF�) to maintain facilities, and Kings Lane Fund (�KLF�), previously 
Meadowlane, comprised of funds designated for the purpose of a new facility. 

The Tangible Capital Assets Fund reflects amounts invested in tangible capital assets, including the 
Meadowlane Project. 

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash includes cash and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are investments in term deposits and 
are valued at cost plus accrued interest. The carrying amounts approximate fair value because they 
have maturities at the date of purchase of less than ninety days. 

(continues) 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Tangible capital assets 

Tangible capital assets are stated at cost or deemed cost less accumulated amortization and are 
amortized over their estimated useful lives on a declining balance basis at the following rates: 

Automotive 30% 
Buildings 4% 
Site improvements 4% 
Furniture and Equipment 20% 

Amortization is charged at one-half the above rates for acquisitions in the year. 

The Society adopted a capitalization policy, whereby a $1,000 threshold limit is applied for the 
capitalization of goods and services that have a useful life greater than a year, and that mortgage 
interest on asset development projects is capitalized. 

Investments 

Investments are comprised of publicly traded securities, bonds, and debentures, which are recorded 
at fair value based on the quoted market prices, as well as term deposits maturing beyond the 
current year. The investments are held and invested through the Victoria Foundation and the Island 
Savings Credit Union. Realized and unrealized market gains or losses, and interest income, are 
recognized in the statement of operations. Transaction costs, such as management fees, arising 
from these investments are expensed when incurred. 

Investment in the Victoria Foundation comprised of a $10,000 Endowment to be retained in 
perpetuity by the Victoria Foundation, and a $100,000 retractable Endowment, which was retracted 
during the 2017 fiscal year. An additional contribution of $5,000 was added to this fund during the 
fiscal year. The investment is pooled with the Common Trust Fund of the Foundation and invested 
in accordance with the Investment Policy of the Foundation, as approved by its Board of Directors. 

The Society is entitled to a prorated portion of the annual returns of the Common Trust Fund less an 
annual administration fee. 

Revenue recognition 

The Society follows the fund accounting method of accounting for contributions. 

All restricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the appropriate fund. All restricted 
contributions are recognized as revenue in the year in which the amount to be recorded can be 
reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured. 

Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue of the operating Fund in the year received or 
receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably 
assured. 

(continues) 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

Use of estimates 

When preparing financial statements according to ASNPO, the Association makes estimates and 
assumptions relating to: 
� Reported amounts of revenue and expenses; 
� Reported amounts of assets and liabilities; and 
� Disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. 

Management�s assumptions are based on a number of factors, including historical experience, 
current events and actions that the organization may undertake in the future, and other assumptions 
that we believe are reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could differ from those 
estimates under different conditions and assumptions. Estimates were used when accounting for 
certain items, such as the useful lives of capital assets and impairment of long-lived assets. 

Financial instruments 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially recognized at fair value. The Society 
subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost, except for 
investments, which are measured at fair value. Changes in fair value are recognized in the 
statement of operations and changes in fund balances. 

The Society�s financial assets measured at fair value include its term investments and investments 
held by the Victoria Foundation. 

3. INVESTMENTS 

As of December 31, 2022, investments comprised of the following: 

Victoria Foundation Funds 

Term Deposit #81, interest rate of 1.25% and matures on 
April 17, 2025 

Credit Union Shares 

Term deposit #1, interest rate of 2.5% and matures on July 
11, 2023 

$ 

2023 

32,573 

32,294 

12 

-

$ 

2022 

25,407 

31,349 

11 

47,047 

$ 64,879 $ 103,814 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

4. TANGIBLE CAPITAL ASSETS 

2023 2022 
Accumulated Net book Net book 

Cost amortization value value 

Land $ 1,425,676 $ - $ 1,425,676 $ 1,425,676 
Automotive 14,820 14,432 388 554 
Buildings 5,127,892 2,645,019 2,482,873 2,586,326 
Site improvements 919,116 393,990 525,126 443,604 
Furniture and equipment 357,467 300,936 56,531 40,043 
Asset under development 2,873,846 - 2,873,846 2,750,671 

$ 10,718,817 $ 3,354,377 $ 7,364,440 $ 7,246,874 

5. CEBA LOAN PAYABLE 

Loan payable to Island Savings for $60,000 pursuant to the Canada Emergency Business Account 
(CEBA) loan. CEBA is a loan launched by the Government of Canada to ensure that businesses 
have access to capital during the COVID-19 pandemic and can only be used to pay specified, 
non-deferrable operating expenses. 

Repaying $40,000 of the loan on or before December 31, 2023 will result in loan forgiveness of the 
remaining $20,000. If repaid by December 31, 2023 no interest will be payable on the loan. The loan 
is unsecured and no monthly payments are currently required. 

The Society repaid the loan on December 7, 2023 and received the loan forgiveness of $20,000 in 
the 2023 fiscal year. 

6. MORTGAGE PAYABLE 
2023 2022 

First West Credit Union Mortgage, 5.8%, payable at $5,693.23 
monthly, principal and interest, due on October 1, 2025 
(�Mortgage #1�) $ 819,929 $ 840,056 

First West Credit Union Mortgage, 3.45%, payable at 
$19,213.63 monthly, principal and interest, due on 
October 1, 2025 (�Mortgage #3�) 3,517,336 3,624,542 

4,337,265 4,464,598 

Amounts payable within one year (131,815) (127,334) 

$ 4,205,450 $ 4,337,264 

(continues) 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

6. MORTGAGE PAYABLE (continued) 

The mortgages are secured by way of a charge on the real estate assets of the Society, and an 
assignment of rents. 

In October 2022, the Society renewed Mortgage #1 for a thirty-six month term at 5.8%. 

Principal repayment terms are approximately: 

2024 $ 131,815 
2025 120,986 
2026 42,794 
2027 45,569 
2028 47,803 
Thereafter 3,948,298 

$ 4,337,265 

An estimated interest rate of 6.3% was used to calculate the future principal repayment effective 
November 2025. 

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The organization is exposed to various risks through its financial instruments and has a 
comprehensive risk management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage these risks. The 
following analysis provides information about the organization's risk exposure and concentration as 
of December 31, 2023. 

(a) Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from the potential that a counter party will fail to perform its obligations. The 
organization is exposed to credit risk from customers. In order to reduce its credit risk, the 
organization reviews a new customer's credit history before extending credit and conducts regular 
reviews of its existing customers' credit performance. An allowance for doubtful accounts is 
established based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific accounts, historical trends 
and other information. The organization has a significant number of customers which minimizes 
concentration of credit risk. 

(c) Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument might be adversely affected by a 
change in the interest rates. In seeking to minimize the risks from interest rate fluctuations, the 
organization manages exposure through its normal operating and financing activities. The 
organization is exposed to interest rate risk primarily through its interest income on term deposits. 

(continues) 
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GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Notes to Financial Statements 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

7. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

(d) Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with 
financial liabilities. The organization is exposed to this risk mainly in respect of its receipt of funds 
from its customers and other related sources, and accounts payable. 

(b) Investment risk 

The maximum investment risk to the Society is presented by the fair value of the investments. 

8. REMUNERATION 

On November 28, 2016, the new British Columbia Societies Act came into force. Included in the 
new Act is a requirement to disclose the remuneration paid to all directors, the ten highest paid 
employees and all contractors who are paid at least $75,000 annually. 

During the year, the Society paid wages exceeding $75,000 to one employee. 

9. COMPARATIVE FIGURES 

The prior year comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to the current year's 
presentation, and are presented for comparative purposes only. 

11 Page 132



    

      
 

    

 

  

 
  

 

 
 

 

   
  

   

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
   

  
  

 

 
  
   

  

   

GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

Schedule of Revenues and Expenses by Location 
(Schedule 1) 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

GISRA Meadowbrook Kings Lane 2023 

REVENUES 
Rents $ - $ 1,537,374 $ 177,806 $ 1,715,180 
Fee for services - 1,371 35,925 37,296 
Donations 2,233 15,015 - 17,248 
Meals and sundry - 11,885 - 11,885 
Grant and rebates - 2,354 - 2,354 
Membership fees 500 - - 500 

2,733 1,567,999 213,731 1,784,463 

EXPENSES 
Advertising 346 29 - 375 
Automotive - 1,315 - 1,315 
Bank charges 31 1,545 11 1,587 
Board costs 55 - - 55 
CFO costs 39,411 - - 39,411 
Housekeeping - 4,645 - 4,645 
Insurance 1,394 37,371 (3,756) 35,009 
Interest on mortgage payable - 69,154 - 69,154 
Licenses and dues 295 885 - 1,180 
Medical alert and fire 

monitoring - 16,994 - 16,994 
Office and miscellaneous 5,807 5,630 - 11,437 
Professional fees 8,432 18,427 - 26,859 
Property taxes - - 17,113 17,113 
Repairs and maintenance 109 47,224 3,162 50,495 
Resident activities - 6,594 - 6,594 
Supplies - food - 123,696 - 123,696 
Telephone - 4,389 - 4,389 
Utilities and property services - 155,629 9,825 165,454 
Wages, costs and benefits 218,823 599,135 3,469 821,427 

274,703 1,092,662 29,824 1,397,189 

OTHER (INCOME) / 
EXPENSES 
Management fees (271,970) 184,970 87,000 -
Amortization - 128,367 5,753 134,120 
Other income - (20,000) - (20,000) 
Investment loss / (income) - (10,247) (2,239) (12,486) 
Investment and finance fees - 683 18 701 

2,733 1,376,435 120,356 1,499,524 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER 
EXPENSES $ - $ 191,564 $ 93,375 $ 284,939 

See notes to financial statements 
Page 13312 



   

  
  

 

    

    
  
       

   

 

             
               

                
            

              
             

 

            
               
             

               
            

   

             
 

 

              
              

           
               

            
  

           
            

    

          
        

 

    

                   
        

              

            

GULF ISLANDS SENIORS RESIDENCES ASSOCIATION 

121 Atkins Road 
Salt Spring Island, BC 

V8K 2X7 

May 30, 2024 

McLean, Lizotte, Wheadon and Company 
340 Lower Ganges Road 
Salt Spring Island British Columbia V8K 2V3 

Attention: Frédéric Lizotte, CPA, CGA 

Dear Sir: 

This representation letter is provided in connection with your review of the financial statements of Gulf Islands 
Seniors Residences Association for the year ended December 31, 2023 for the purpose of expressing a conclusion 
that, based on your review, nothing has come to your attention that causes you to believe that the financial 
statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association do not present fairly, in all material respects, the 
financial position of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association as at December 31, 2023, and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-
for-profit organizations (ASNPO). 

Certain representations in this letter are described as being limited to matters that are material. Misstatements 
(including omissions) are considered to be material if they, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements. 

In making the representations outlined below, we took the time necessary to appropriately inform ourselves on the 
subject matter through inquiries of organization personnel with relevant knowledge and experience, and, where 
appropriate, by inspecting supporting documentation. 

We confirm, to the best of our knowledge and belief, the following representations made to you during 
your review: 

Financial Statements 

We have fulfilled our responsibilities, as set out in the terms of the engagement letter dated 
December 17, 2023, for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
ASNPO. 

We reviewed, approved and recorded all of your proposed adjustments (except for uncorrected 
misstatements, which are addressed in the next bullet point) to our accounting records. This includes journal 
entries, changes to account coding, classification of certain transactions and preparation of, or changes to, 
certain accounting records. 

The effects of uncorrected misstatement are immaterial, individually and in aggregate, to the financial 
statements as a whole. A list of the uncorrected misstatements, including the reasons why they were not 
corrected, is attached to this representation letter. 

Management or other appropriate persons (such as those charged with governance) have accepted 
responsibility for the financial statements, including the related notes. 

Information Provided 

We have provided you with: 

� Access to all information of which we are aware that is relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements, such as records, documentation and other matters; 

� Additional information that you have requested from us for the purpose of the review; and 

� Unrestricted access to persons within the organization from whom you determined it necessary to obtain 
evidence. Page 134



             

    

          
   

               

            
      

              

              

           
     

            
     

 

    
              

           

 
            

  

 
               

     

  
         

          
             

             

                 
 

  
              

         

             
 

             
              

       

(continued) 

All transactions have been recorded in the accounting records and are reflected in the financial statements. 

We have disclosed to you: 

� The identity of the organization's related parties and all the related-party relationships and transactions of 
which we are aware; 

� Significant facts relating to any fraud or suspected fraud known to us that may have affected the 
organization; 

� Known actual or possible non-compliance with laws and regulations for which the effects of non-compliance 
impact the financial statements of Gulf Islands Seniors Residences Association; 

� All information relevant to use of the going concern assumption in the financial statements; 

� All events occurring subsequent to the date of the financial statements that may require adjustment or 
disclosure; 

� Material commitments, contractual obligations or contingencies that have affected or may affect the 
organization's financial statements, including disclosures; and 

� Material non-monetary transactions or transactions for no consideration undertaken by the organization in 
the financial reporting period under consideration. 

Other Representations 

Fair values of financial instruments 
The significant assumptions used in arriving at the fair values of financial instruments, as measured and 
disclosed in the financial statements, are reasonable and appropriate in the circumstances. 

Material transactions 
There are no material transactions that have not been properly recorded in the accounting records underlying 
the financial statements. 

Future plans 
We have no plans or intentions that may materially affect the carrying value or classification of assets and 
liabilities reflected in the financial statements. 

Related-party transactions 
All related-party transactions have been appropriately measured and disclosed in the financial statements. 

Estimates 
The nature of all material measurement uncertainties has been appropriately disclosed in the financial 
statements, including all estimates where it is reasonably possible that the estimate will change in the near 
term and the effect of the change could be material to the financial statements. 

Claims 
We have informed you of all outstanding and possible claims, whether or not they have been discussed with 
legal counsel. 

Liabilities and contingencies 
All liabilities and contingencies, including those associated with guarantees, whether written or oral, have been 
disclosed to you and are appropriately reflected in the financial statements. 

Ownership 
The organization has satisfactory title to all assets, and there are no liens or encumbrances on the 
organization's assets. 

Compliance 
We have disclosed to you, and the organization has complied with, all aspects of contractual agreements that 
could have a material effect on the financial statements in the event of non-compliance, including all 
covenants, conditions or other requirements of all outstanding debt. 
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Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
Year End: December 31, 2023 6. 1 
Trial Balance 

Prepared by Reviewed by 

SS FL 
2024-05-27 2024-06-12 

Account Prelim Adj's Reclass Rep Annotation Rep 12/22 Amount Chg %Chg 

1001 Chequing - Operating 
1003 Savings - restricted 

1004 Chequing - GISRA Subsidiary 
1005 Savings - GISRA Subsidiary - Meadowla 
1012 Meadowbrook Term Deposit Restricted 

1499 Undeposited Funds 
111.1000 Cash and short term deposits 

31,325.77 
198,184.92 

29,151.79 
76,494.01 

0.00 

895.00 
336,051.49 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

48,222.08 

0.00 
48,222.08 

31,325.77 
198,184.92 

29,151.79 
76,494.01 
48,222.08 

895.00 
384,273.57 

TAB G 
TAB G 

TAB G 
TAB G 
OK 

TAB G 

11,674.94 
110,825.50 

92,149.57 
75,431.18 
31,349.35 

4,360.00 
325,790.54 

19,650.83 168 
87,359.42 79 

(62,997.78 ) (68 ) 
1,062.83 1 

16,872.73 54 

(3,465.00 ) (79 ) 
58,483.03 18 

1000 Cash Clearing 
1200 Accounts Receivable 
1201 Accounts Receivable (Resident) 

1202 Accounts receivable - Other 
1230 GST Refund Due Society 
115.1060 Accounts receivable 

0.00 
(23,653.14 ) 
42,392.69 

45,097.45 
4,415.36 

68,252.36 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
(23,653.14 ) 
42,392.69 

45,097.45 
4,415.36 

68,252.36 

OK 
TAB I 
TAB I 

TAB I 
TAB I 

1,550.00 
14,929.84 
38,090.41 

0.00 
3,999.13 

58,569.38 

(1,550.00 )(100 ) 
(38,582.98 )(258 ) 

4,302.28 11 

45,097.45 0 
416.23 10 

9,682.98 17 

1210 Prepaid Expenses 
128.1484 Prepaid expenses 

26,284.99 
26,284.99 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

26,284.99 
26,284.99 

TAB K 24,625.26 
24,625.26 

1,659.73 
1,659.73 

7 
7 

1504 Land 
151.1600 Land 

1,425,676.00 
1,425,676.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

1,425,676.00 
1,425,676.00 

TAB J 1,425,676.00 
1,425,676.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0 
0 

1505 Site Improvements 
151.1601 Land improvements 

919,115.78 
919,115.78 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

919,115.78 
919,115.78 

TAB J 817,823.78 
817,823.78 

101,292.00 
101,292.00 

12 
12 

1553 Site Improve. Amortization 
152.1602 Land improvements - acc amort 

(393,989.74 ) 
(393,989.74 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(393,989.74 ) 
(393,989.74 ) 

TAB J (374,219.73 ) 
(374,219.73 ) 

(19,770.01 ) 
(19,770.01 ) 

5 
5 

1502 Buildings 
155.1680 Buildings 

5,127,892.03 
5,127,892.03 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

5,127,892.03 
5,127,892.03 

TAB J 5,127,892.03 
5,127,892.03 

0.00 
0.00 

0 
0 

1551 Building Amortization 
156.1681 Buildings - acc amort 

(2,645,019.47 ) 
(2,645,019.47 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(2,645,019.47 ) 
(2,645,019.47 ) 

TAB J (2,541,566.45 ) 
(2,541,566.45 ) 

(103,453.02 ) 
(103,453.02 ) 

4 
4 

1501 43 Truck 
157.1742 Motor vehicles 

14,820.46 
14,820.46 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

14,820.46 
14,820.46 

TAB J 14,820.46 
14,820.46 

0.00 
0.00 

0 
0 

1554 Truck Amortization 
158.1743 Motor vehicles - acc amort 

(14,432.46 ) 
(14,432.46 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(14,432.46 ) 
(14,432.46 ) 

TAB J (14,266.17 ) 
(14,266.17 ) 

(166.29 ) 
(166.29 ) 

1 
1 

1503 Furniture and Equipment 
157.1787 Furniture and fixtures 

357,467.37 
357,467.37 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

357,467.37 
357,467.37 

TAB J 330,249.29 
330,249.29 

27,218.08 
27,218.08 

8 
8 

1552 Equipment Amortization 
158.1788 Furniture and fixtures - acc amo 

(300,936.28 ) 
(300,936.28 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(300,936.28 ) 
(300,936.28 ) 

TAB J (290,205.77 ) 
(290,205.77 ) 

(10,730.51 ) 
(10,730.51 ) 

4 
4 

1506 Assets under Development 
167.1900.01 Other capital asset #1 

2,873,846.29 
2,873,846.29 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

2,873,846.29 
2,873,846.29 

TAB J 2,750,671.20 
2,750,671.20 

123,175.09 
123,175.09 

4 
4 

1009 Meadowbrook Term Deposit 81 
1010 Membership Shares - Subsidiary 

1013 Meadowlane Term Deposit 3 
1800 Victoria Foundation Funds (Res) 
131.2300 Long term Investments 

32,294.10 
11.71 

48,222.08 
32,572.75 

113,100.64 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(48,222.08 ) 
0.00 

(48,222.08 ) 

32,294.10 
11.71 

0.00 
32,572.75 
64,878.56 

TAB G 
TAB G 

TAB G 
TAB H SS-1 

31,349.35 
11.23 

47,045.93 
25,407.32 

103,813.83 

944.75 3 
0.48 4 

(47,045.93 )(100 ) 
7,165.43 28 

(38,935.27 ) (38 ) 

2000 Accounts Payable 
2002 Credit card payable 
2106 WCB Payable 

2109 Pension Plan Payable 
2250 Accrued payables 
215.2620 Accounts payable 

(38,872.89 ) 
(6,341.06 ) 
(4,670.15 ) 

(2,220.26 ) 
(29,879.17 ) 
(81,983.53 ) 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

(38,872.89 ) 
(6,341.06 ) 
(4,670.15 ) 

(2,220.26 ) 
(29,879.17 ) 
(81,983.53 ) 

TAB L 
TAB M 
TAB U 

TAB N 

(20,996.61 ) 
(4,171.27 ) 
(3,857.83 ) 

0.00 
(21,858.59 ) 
(50,884.30 ) 

(17,876.28 ) 85 
(2,169.79 ) 52 

(812.32 ) 21 

(2,220.26 ) 0 
(8,020.58 ) 37 

(31,099.23 ) 61 

2102 Accrued Wages (38,231.51 ) 0.00 0.00 (38,231.51 ) TAB R (23,127.37 ) (15,104.14 ) 65 

2024-06-12 
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Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
Year End: December 31, 2023 6. 1-1 
Trial Balance 

Prepared by Reviewed by 

SS FL 
2024-05-27 2024-06-12 

Account Prelim 

2105 Vacation Pay (20,447.09 ) 
215.2624 Wages payable (58,678.60 ) 

2101 Payroll Liabilities (20,393.19 ) 
215.2627 Employee deductions payable (20,393.19 ) 

2255 Current portion of LT Debt (131,815.08 ) 
225.2920 Current portion of long term deb (131,815.08 ) 

2301 Due Residents Association (4,703.44 ) 
2303 Damage Deposit (25,413.00 ) 

2304 Refundable Depts:Damage Deposit:Dam (78,000.00 ) 
228.2961 Deposits received (108,116.44 ) 

2505 CEBA Loan 0.00 
231.3140.01 Bank loans payable - long ter 0.00 

2502 Mortgage #3 (3,517,335.54 ) 
231.3141.02 Mortgages payable - long term (3,517,335.54 ) 

2504 Pre-construction Mortgage (819,928.72 ) 
231.3141.03 Mortgages payable - long term (819,928.72 ) 

2501 Current Portion of LTD 131,815.08 
225.3140 Current portion of long term deb 131,815.08 

3900 Retained Earnings (67,353.20 ) 
280.0001 Partner capital/fund #1 capital, (67,353.20 ) 

3014 Meadowlane fund (355,777.73 ) 
3020 Meadowbrook Fund Equity (63,057.03 ) 
280.0002 Partner capital/fund #2 capital, (418,834.76 ) 

3015 Invested in Tangible Capital As (2,530,566.26 ) 
280.0003 Partner capital/fund #3 capital, (2,530,566.26 ) 

4000 Memberships (donations) (500.00 ) 
311.8000 Trade sales (500.00 ) 

4010 Meal & Sundry (11,885.00 ) 
311.8000.01 Other trade sales #1 (11,885.00 ) 

4015 Rental Income - Kings Lane (1,715,180.42 ) 
311.8000.02 Other trade sales #2 (1,715,180.42 ) 

4021 Donations - Meadow Lane (17,248.30 ) 
311.8000.03 Other trade sales #3 (17,248.30 ) 

4017 Fees for Services (37,295.55 ) 
311.8000.04 Other trade sales #4 (37,295.55 ) 

4035 Rebates (2,353.89 ) 
4040 Grants 0.00 
311.8000.05 Other trade sales #5 (2,353.89 ) 

5010 Advertising & Promotion 134.23 
5015 Advertising - Website 240.87 

511.8520 Advertising and promotion 375.10 

5640 Resident Activities/Spec Events 6,593.63 

511.8523 Meals and entertainment 6,593.63 

2024-06-12 
3:08 PM 

Adj's 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(124,272.93 ) 
(124,272.93 ) 

106,151.05 
25,084.25 

131,235.30 

(6,962.37 ) 
(6,962.37 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

Reclass 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

0.00 

Rep 

(20,447.09 ) 
(58,678.60 ) 

(20,393.19 ) 
(20,393.19 ) 

(131,815.08 ) 
(131,815.08 ) 

(4,703.44 ) 
(25,413.00 ) 

(78,000.00 ) 
(108,116.44 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

(3,517,335.54 ) 
(3,517,335.54 ) 

(819,928.72 ) 
(819,928.72 ) 

131,815.08 
131,815.08 

(191,626.13 ) 
(191,626.13 ) 

(249,626.68 ) 
(37,972.78 ) 

(287,599.46 ) 

(2,537,528.63 ) 
(2,537,528.63 ) 

(500.00 ) 
(500.00 ) 

(11,885.00 ) 
(11,885.00 ) 

(1,715,180.42 ) 
(1,715,180.42 ) 

(17,248.30 ) 
(17,248.30 ) 

(37,295.55 ) 
(37,295.55 ) 

(2,353.89 ) 
0.00 

(2,353.89 ) 

134.23 
240.87 

375.10 

6,593.63 

6,593.63 

Annotation 

TAB S 

TAB R SS-2 

TAB Q 

TAB X 

TAB V 

TAB P, A.3 

TAB Q, A.3 

TAB Q, A.3 

TAB Q 

SS. 3 

SS. 3 
SS. 3 

SS. 3 

20. 2 

Rep 12/22 Amount Chg %Chg 

(19,575.67 ) (871.42 ) 4 
(42,703.04 ) (15,975.56 ) 37 

(18,995.85 ) (1,397.34 ) 7 
(18,995.85 ) (1,397.34 ) 7 

(127,333.52 ) (4,481.56 ) 4 
(127,333.52 ) (4,481.56 ) 4 

(5,421.47 ) 718.03 (13 ) 
(22,317.00 ) (3,096.00 ) 14 

(78,000.00 ) 0.00 0 
(105,738.47 ) (2,377.97 ) 2 

(60,000.00 ) 60,000.00 (100 ) 
(60,000.00 ) 60,000.00 (100 ) 

(3,624,541.73 ) 107,206.19 (3 ) 
(3,624,541.73 ) 107,206.19 (3 ) 

(840,056.04 ) 20,127.32 (2 ) 
(840,056.04 ) 20,127.32 (2 ) 

127,333.52 4,481.56 4 
127,333.52 4,481.56 4 

109,941.93 (301,568.06 )(274 ) 
109,941.93 (301,568.06 )(274 ) 

(355,777.73 ) 106,151.05 (30 ) 
(63,057.03 ) 25,084.25 (40 ) 

(418,834.76 ) 131,235.30 (31 ) 

(2,530,566.26 ) (6,962.37 ) 0 
(2,530,566.26 ) (6,962.37 ) 0 

(190.00 ) (310.00 ) 163 
(190.00 ) (310.00 ) 163 

(10,321.85 ) (1,563.15 ) 15 
(10,321.85 ) (1,563.15 ) 15 

(1,497,694.88 ) (217,485.54 ) 15 
(1,497,694.88 ) (217,485.54 ) 15 

(5,930.50 ) (11,317.80 ) 191 
(5,930.50 ) (11,317.80 ) 191 

(17,881.85 ) (19,413.70 ) 109 
(17,881.85 ) (19,413.70 ) 109 

(1,438.17 ) (915.72 ) 64 
(5,000.00 ) 5,000.00 (100 ) 
(6,438.17 ) 4,084.28 (63 ) 

238.89 (104.66 ) (44 ) 
215.25 25.62 12 

454.14 (79.04 ) (17 ) 

3,591.11 3,002.52 84 

3,591.11 3,002.52 84 
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Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
Year End: December 31, 2023 6. 1-2 
Trial Balance 

Prepared by Reviewed by 

SS FL 
2024-05-27 2024-06-12 

Account Prelim Adj's Reclass Rep Annotation Rep 12/22 Amount Chg %Chg 

5701 Property Insurance 
5702 General liability 

5703 Truck Insurance 
5704 Directors Liability Insurance 
523.8690 Insurance 

25,545.45 
6,719.72 

1,350.25 
1,393.98 

35,009.40 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

25,545.45 
6,719.72 

1,350.25 
1,393.98 

35,009.40 

24,683.46 
6,298.16 

1,358.69 
1,512.96 

33,853.27 

861.99 
421.56 

(8.44 ) 
(118.98 ) 

1,156.13 

3 
7 

(1 ) 
(8 ) 
3 

5020 Bank Service Charges 
525.8710 Interest and bank charges 

1,588.06 
1,588.06 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

1,588.06 
1,588.06 

1,658.76 
1,658.76 

(70.70 ) 
(70.70 ) 

(4 ) 
(4 ) 

8010 Mortg-refinanced - interest 
525.8714 Interest on long term debt 

69,153.63 
69,153.63 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

69,153.63 
69,153.63 

68,064.81 
68,064.81 

1,088.82 
1,088.82 

2 
2 

5035 Dues and Subscriptions 
5040 Licenses and Permits 

527.8760 Business taxes, licenses and me 

762.62 
417.00 

1,179.62 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

762.62 
417.00 

1,179.62 

715.05 
409.00 

1,124.05 

47.57 
8.00 

55.57 

7 
2 

5 

5050 Office Supplies 

5055 Postage and Delivery 
5060 Printing and Reproduction 
5080 IT equipment, subs and maintenance 

5098 Bad Debts 
5099 Miscellaneous Administration 
5600 Meals & Entertainment 

5681 Board Expense 
5682 Staff Training 
529.8810 Office 

3,190.67 

185.38 
446.44 

4,602.22 

2,782.50 
229.56 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

11,436.77 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

3,190.67 

185.38 
446.44 

4,602.22 

2,782.50 
229.56 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

11,436.77 

2,135.98 

326.38 
1,151.02 
4,065.64 

0.00 
837.79 
109.98 

30.75 
99.00 

8,756.54 

1,054.69 49 

(141.00 ) (43 ) 
(704.58 ) (61 ) 
536.58 13 

2,782.50 0 
(608.23 ) (73 ) 
(109.98 )(100 ) 

(30.75 )(100 ) 
(99.00 )(100 ) 

2,680.23 31 

5801 Audit Fees 
5802 Professional Fees - Legal 

5803 Professional Fees - Other 
531.8860 Professional fees 

3,807.50 
3,858.55 

19,193.11 
26,859.16 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

3,807.50 
3,858.55 

19,193.11 
26,859.16 

3,075.00 
8,402.01 

8,755.55 
20,232.56 

732.50 24 
(4,543.46 ) (54 ) 

10,437.56 119 
6,626.60 33 

5045 Medical Alert/Fire Monitoring 
531.8861 Legal fees 

16,993.96 
16,993.96 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

16,993.96 
16,993.96 

15,978.65 
15,978.65 

1,015.31 
1,015.31 

6 
6 

5510 Tools and Misc. Supplies 
5900 Equipment Repairs 
5950 Small Capital Expense 

535.8960 Repairs and maintenance 

1,006.95 
48,946.06 

542.01 

50,495.02 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

1,006.95 
48,946.06 

542.01 

50,495.02 

0.00 
47,766.51 

0.00 

47,766.51 

1,006.95 
1,179.55 

542.01 

2,728.51 

0 
2 
0 

6 

5411 Wages (Building Mgr) 

5412 Wages (Housekeeping) 
5413 Wages (Kitchen) 
5415 Wages Administration) 

5420 Payroll Expenses 
5421 Accrued Vacation Expense 
5424 CPP Expense (Employer) 

5425 EI Expense (Employer) 
5426 Health Plan Expense 
5428 WCB Expense 

5429 Holiday Bonus 
5431 Pension Plan Expenses 
5470 Contract Wages 
537.9060 Salaries and wages 

95,849.91 

82,517.49 
229,532.35 
235,795.40 

153.77 
28,364.91 
33,219.42 

14,200.30 
36,912.00 
17,569.44 

35,778.02 
4,083.95 
7,450.00 

821,426.96 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

95,849.91 

82,517.49 
229,532.35 
235,795.40 

153.77 
28,364.91 
33,219.42 

14,200.30 
36,912.00 
17,569.44 

35,778.02 
4,083.95 
7,450.00 

821,426.96 

TAB T 

TAB T 
TAB T 
TAB T 

TAB T OK 
TAB T 
TAB T 

TAB T 
TAB T 
TAB T 

TAB T 
TAB T 
TAB T 

92,028.73 

92,756.78 
195,001.86 
196,988.24 

0.00 
33,598.40 
28,841.10 

12,503.24 
29,081.35 
13,526.44 

0.00 
0.00 

3,453.86 
697,780.00 

3,821.18 4 

(10,239.29 ) (11 ) 
34,530.49 18 
38,807.16 20 

153.77 0 
(5,233.49 ) (16 ) 
4,378.32 15 

1,697.06 14 
7,830.65 27 
4,043.00 30 

35,778.02 0 
4,083.95 0 
3,996.14 116 

123,646.96 18 

5200 Janitorial Supplies 
539.9110 Sub-contracts 

4,645.18 
4,645.18 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

4,645.18 
4,645.18 

4,084.94 
4,084.94 

560.24 
560.24 

14 
14 

5101 Food 
5102 Linen & Supplies 

541.9130 Supplies 

117,882.57 
5,812.96 

123,695.53 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

117,882.57 
5,812.96 

123,695.53 

108,786.35 
5,821.96 

114,608.31 

9,096.22 
(9.00 ) 

9,087.22 

8 
0 

8 
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Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
Year End: December 31, 2023 6. 1-3 
Trial Balance 

Prepared by Reviewed by 

SS FL 
2024-05-27 2024-06-12 

Account Prelim Adj's Reclass Rep Annotation Rep 12/22 Amount Chg %Chg 

5310 Property taxes 
543.9180 Property taxes 

17,112.80 
17,112.80 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

17,112.80 
17,112.80 

16,000.06 
16,000.06 

1,112.74 
1,112.74 

7 
7 

5301 Hydro 
5302 Water 

5303 Cable Television 
5304 Propane & Fuel 
5305 Sewage 

5306 Waste Removal 
5309 Property Management 
5311 Landscaping & Grounds 

5312 Snow removal 
547.9220 Utilities 

32,000.49 
15,598.55 

20,688.39 
21,907.94 
21,915.14 

12,426.61 
0.00 

36,336.17 

4,580.72 
165,454.01 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

32,000.49 
15,598.55 

20,688.39 
21,907.94 
21,915.14 

12,426.61 
0.00 

36,336.17 

4,580.72 
165,454.01 

31,484.72 
13,332.56 

19,629.52 
22,841.99 
21,819.06 

10,899.55 
2,671.25 

31,223.95 

2,795.87 
156,698.47 

515.77 2 
2,265.99 17 

1,058.87 5 
(934.05 ) (4 ) 

96.08 0 

1,527.06 14 
(2,671.25 )(100 ) 
5,112.22 16 

1,784.85 64 
8,755.54 6 

5065 Telephone & Internet 
547.9225 Telephone 

4,389.41 
4,389.41 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

4,389.41 
4,389.41 

4,656.45 
4,656.45 

(267.04 ) 
(267.04 ) 

(6 ) 
(6 ) 

5075 Meeting costs 
581.9270.07 Operating expense #7 

54.75 
54.75 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

54.75 
54.75 

1,194.04 
1,194.04 

(1,139.29 ) (95 ) 
(1,139.29 ) (95 ) 

5030 Consultant 
581.9270.09 Operating expense #9 

39,411.25 
39,411.25 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

39,411.25 
39,411.25 

46,678.83 
46,678.83 

(7,267.58 ) (16 ) 
(7,267.58 ) (16 ) 

5500 Truck Expense 
581.9281 Vehicle 

1,314.80 
1,314.80 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

1,314.80 
1,314.80 

713.64 
713.64 

601.16 
601.16 

84 
84 

7000 Other Income 
381.8230.01 Other income #1 (OI) 

(20,000.00 ) 
(20,000.00 ) 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(20,000.00 ) 
(20,000.00 ) 

(18,925.00 ) 
(18,925.00 ) 

(1,075.00 ) 
(1,075.00 ) 

6 
6 

7010 Interest Income 
7030 Other income - Dividend 
8900 Exchange gain or loss 

381.8230.02 Other income #2 (OI) 

(12,476.68 ) 
(0.48 ) 
(8.39 ) 

(12,485.55 ) 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

(12,476.68 ) 
(0.48 ) 
(8.39 ) 

(12,485.55 ) 

400.25 
(0.24 ) 
0.00 

400.01 

(12,876.93 )(3217 ) 
(0.24 ) 100 
(8.39 ) 0 

(12,885.56 )(3221 ) 

4016 Management Fees 

5090 Management Fees 
381.8230.03 Other income #3 (OI) 

(331,801.63 ) 

331,801.63 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

(331,801.63 ) 

331,801.63 
0.00 

(221,130.40 ) 

221,130.40 
0.00 

(110,671.23 ) 50 

110,671.23 50 
0.00 0 

6001 Building Depreciation 
6002 Depreciation Expense - Truck 
6003 Equipment Depreciation 

6004 Site Improvements Depreciation 
381.8230.04 Other income #4 (OI) 

103,453.02 
166.29 

10,730.51 

19,770.01 
134,119.83 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

103,453.02 
166.29 

10,730.51 

19,770.01 
134,119.83 

TAB J 
TAB J 
TAB J 

TAB J 

107,763.58 
237.56 

9,504.32 

17,953.68 
135,459.14 

(4,310.56 ) (4 ) 
(71.27 ) (30 ) 

1,226.19 13 

1,816.33 10 
(1,339.31 ) (1 ) 

8011 Mortgage refinance 
381.8230.05 Other income #5 (OI) 

700.62 
700.62 

0.00 
0.00 

0.00 
0.00 

700.62 
700.62 

332.83 
332.83 

367.79 111 
367.79 111 

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0 

Net Income (Loss) 284,939.22 284,939.22 177,295.13 107,644.09 61 

SS-1. FS 

SS-2. payroll 
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Gulf Islands Seniors Residence Association 
Year End: December 31, 2023 Prepared by Reviewed by 

FL FL 

2024-06-12 2024-06-12 

6. 2 
Adjusting Journal Entries 
Date: 2023-01-01 To 2023-12-31 

Number  Date  Name    Account No  Reference Annotation Debit Credit Recurrence Misstatement 

1 

1 

1 

1 

2023-12-31 Meadowlane fund 

2023-12-31 Invested in Tangible Capital As 

2023-12-31  Meadowbrook Fund Equity 

2023-12-31 Retained Earnings 

3014 

3015 

3020 

3900 

106,151.05 

25,084.25 

6,962.37 

124,272.93 

Adjust bgn fund balances to actual 

131,235.30 131,235.30 

Net Income (Loss) 284,939.22 
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Application Submitted By 
Name and Address of Applicant: _____________________________________________ 

______________________________ 

  _______________ _________________ 

Contact(s): ____________________________    _      ____________ 
(name) (phone)                     (fax)  

___________________________________ 
   Email address 

Contact(s): ____________________________    _      ____________ 
(name) (phone)                     (fax)  

_______________________________________ 
   Email address 

Application Summary 

Project or purpose for which you require assistance: 

Amount of grant requested $______________ 

To the best of my knowledge, all of the information that is provided in this application is 
true and correct. Furthermore, I hereby certify that this application for assistance is: 

 NOT being made on behalf of an industrial, commercial, or business undertaking 
• NOT available for the personal benefit of any individual, proprietor, member or 

shareholder 

______________________________ _________________________________ 
(signature of authorized signatory) (title) 

_________________________________ 
(print name) 

1 

CRD GRANT-IN-AID APPLICATION FORM 

Grants-In-Aid are for the CRD Electoral Areas only: Juan de Fuca, Salt Spring Island, and Southern Gulf Islands 

We are requesting funding to support the purchase of new, professional-quality oars for an expanding fleet of quad (4-seat) racing 
boats. This equipment is essential to growing our junior rowing program, and increasing access to the sport for more youth in our 
rural community. Adding these new oars to our inventory will directly impact our ability to serve more athletes, deliver higher-quality 
training, and ensure the sustainability of our volunteer-driven rowing club. 

We take exceptionally good care of our oars and expect at least a 20 year service life. 

Salt Spring Island Rowing Club

MICHAEL STRUMBERGER

Katharine Byers

10,000

Director — Salt Spring Island Rowing Club

Michael Strumberger
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 Please remember to attach: 
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Project / Proposal Profile 

1. Assistance is being requested for: 

capital project and / or equipment 

special event  

other purpose (______________________________________________________) 

2. Please describe the proposal for which you are requesting assistance. Attach additional 
information if required. 

3. Please describe how this proposal will benefit the community. 

3 

Increasing volunteer capacity to meet growing community demand

Over the past three months, RJSSI has experienced a growing demand for 
community-based referrals, pushing us close to capacity due to limited resources and 
volunteers. This increase highlights a clear and urgent need for accessible restorative 
mediation and conflict support services. In 2024, RJSSI—along with 14 other 
restorative justice organizations across the province—did not receive core funding 
from the Civil Forfeiture Grant cycle. We have applied again this year but have heard 
that they have reduced funding for this fiscal year. We planning for the possibility of 
not receiving this funding. To ensure long-term stability for our organization, we are 
actively working to diversify our funding streams and reduce reliance on a single major 
grant. This project will help bridge that gap by strengthening RJSSI’s infrastructure, 
expand outreach, and volunteer capacity, ensuring that restorative justice remains a 
viable and accessible option for conflict resolution in our community. Please see 
attached document for Project Objectives and Activities.  

Community Benefit: 
This project directly addresses community division and enhances access to 
non-adversarial, relationship-centred conflict resolution methods.  
 
By increasing RJSSI’s capacity, we will: 
-Expand opportunities for healing and reconciliation through casework and community 
dialogue. 
-Empower volunteers to support conflict resolution and harm repair. 
-Strengthen community resilience by fostering a culture of accountability, 
understanding, and collaboration.  
-Reduce reliance on punitive approaches to conflict, offering alternatives that prioritize 
relationships and long-term solutions. 
-Support additional community, RCMP, Victim service referrals for non-violent crimes, 
neighbour disputes, and community conflicts, 
-A stronger partnership with the CRD, paving the way for potential future collaboration. 
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  Please remember to attach: 
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CRD Salt Spring Grant-in-Aid Application 

Pilot Project Title: Strengthening Restorative Justice Capacity on Salt Spring Island 

Amount Requested: $5,000 

Project Summary: 

The Strengthening Restorative Justice on Salt Spring Island Project aims to expand access to 
restorative justice (RJ) services and strengthen community connections by addressing harm, conflict, and 
division. This initiative will build the organizational and volunteer capacity of Restorative Justice Salt 
Spring Island (RJSSI) to respond to community needs by increasing training opportunities, growing 
volunteer engagement, and expanding public awareness of RJ as an alternative conflict resolution 
approach. Through casework, community dialogue circles, and outreach, this project will provide more 
opportunities for collaborative problem-solving, ultimately fostering a more connected and resilient 
community. 

About RJSSI: 
Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island (RJSSI) is a provincially incorporated nonprofit and Community 
Accountability Program with over 25 years of experience. RJSSI provides free conflict resolution and harm 
repair services to the community. The organization has a strong volunteer team of eleven members, a 
coordinator, and a board of directors with deep expertise in restorative justice, including a teacher and 
two practitioners with over 20 years of experience. RJSSI has well-established partnerships with the RCMP, 
Victim Services, the School District, social and community service agencies, and the Salt Spring Health 
Advancement Network (SSHAN). These collaborations help ensure accessible, community-led restorative 
justice services, especially for seniors, under-housed individuals, and other vulnerable groups. RJSSI 
handles referrals from the RCMP, Crown Counsel, Victim Services, and community members, offering a 
trusted, relationship-centred alternative to punitive justice systems. 

Salt Spring Island faces growing social division, as highlighted in the 2023 Vital Signs report, where 65% 
of residents identified community polarization as a major concern. Rising tensions around housing, 
income inequality, and environmental issues have created significant challenges, often leaving community 
leaders hesitant to act. Additionally, Salt Spring Island has the highest per capita homelessness rate in 
BC, as well as a rapidly aging population, both of which contribute to conflict and strained resources. 
With 2,775 RCMP service calls in 2023, including disputes and mental health crises, RJ offers a proactive, 
community-driven approach to addressing harm, fostering accountability, and promoting healing. 

Over the past three months, RJSSI has experienced a growing demand for community-based referrals, 
pushing us close to capacity due to limited resources and volunteers. This increase highlights a clear and 
urgent need for accessible restorative mediation and conflict support services. 
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In 2024, RJSSI—along with 14 other restorative justice organizations across the province—did not 
receive core funding from the civil forfeiture grant cycle. To ensure long-term stability, we are actively 
working to diversify our funding streams and reduce reliance on a single major grant. This project will 
help bridge that gap by strengthening RJSSI’s infrastructure, expanding outreach, and ensuring that 
restorative justice remains a viable and accessible option for conflict resolution in our community. 

Project Objectives: 

● Capacity Building: Increase RJSSI’s ability to respond to community conflict by training more 
volunteers and expanding operational capacity. 

● Volunteer Engagement & Training: Recruit and equip more community members with the skills 
to facilitate RJ processes effectively. 

● Community Outreach & Education: Raise public awareness of RJ as a process for resolving harm 
and strengthening relationships. 

● Sustainable Growth: Establish a foundation for the ongoing expansion of RJ services on Salt 
Spring Island. 

Project Activities: 

● Develop and deliver training sessions for new and existing volunteers. 
● Expand public education efforts, including workshops and information sessions on RJ practices. 
● Increase capacity for RJ casework and community dialogue circles through structured volunteer 

support. 
● Strengthen organizational infrastructure to support long-term program sustainability. 
● Conduct community engagement initiatives to build awareness and participation. 

Community Benefit: 

This project directly addresses community division and enhances access to non-adversarial, relationship-
centred conflict resolution methods. By increasing RJSSI’s capacity, we will: 

● Expand opportunities for healing and reconciliation through casework and community 
dialogue. 

● Empower volunteers to support conflict resolution and harm repair. 
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● Strengthen community resilience by fostering a culture of accountability, understanding, and 
collaboration. 

● Reduce reliance on punitive approaches to conflict, offering alternatives that prioritize 
relationships and long-term solutions. 

● A stronger partnership with the CRD, paving the way for potential future collaboration. 

Project Budget 

Expense Category Item Description Amount 

($) 

Training & Capacity Casework Training & Community Conflict 

Building Training 

Facilitator/Training fee ($40/hour × 40 hours: prep, $1,600 

delivery, follow-up for both trainings) 

Venue rental for 2 days $600 

Supplies, materials, and refreshments for training $500 

Subtotal $2,700 

Volunteer Recruitment & Volunteer orientation sessions $600 

Support Prep and delivery (15 hours/$40 per hour) 

Printing of Binders and Training Materials $600 

Subtotal $1,200 

Outreach & Community Printed materials (flyers, posters, brochures for $420 

Engagement outreach) 

Community Information Session x 2 $480 
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Prep and Delivery (12 hours/$40 per hour) 

Supplies, materials, and refreshments for the $200 

information session 

Subtotal $1,100 

TOTAL $5,000 

Evaluation & Reporting: 

Success will be measured through: 

● The number of volunteers trained and engaged in RJ casework. 
● Participant and community feedback on the impact of RJ services. 
● Increased community awareness and engagement in RJ initiatives. 
● A final report to assess progress and identify next steps for long-term capacity building. 

Conclusion: 

This project represents a crucial investment in restorative justice as a community-led approach to 
addressing harm and conflict on Salt Spring Island. By strengthening RJSSI’s capacity, we can ensure that 
more individuals have access to free, effective, relationship-centred conflict resolution processes that 
promote healing, accountability, and community well-being. With the support of this grant, RJSSI will be 
better positioned to expand its reach and make a lasting impact in building a more connected and 
resilient community. 
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Restorative Justice Salt Spring 
Financial Report 

Income 

Civil Forfeiture (2024 - did not receive) (2025-2026 pending) 

CAP (2025) $4000.00 

Reserves from 2024 Surplus (where we are at the end of the 2024-
2025 financial year - March 31, 2025) 

$ 18,995.67 

Country Grocer Receipts (from 2024-2025 fiscal year) $ 750.86 

Total Income $23,745.67 

Expenses from (2024-2025 Fiscal Year) 

Coordinator Contract (428 hours x $40/hour) $ 17,120.00 

Transportation $ 150.05 

Materials: Printing of training materials: 
Purchase of training materials 

$ 209.91 

Bursaries/honourariums $ 104.86 

Rent/Utilities $ 1,891.04 

Training Opportunities $ 1,475.62 

Other: food, advertising, supplies $ 1,183.55 

Bank Fees - Island Savings $31.25 

Total Expenses $ 22,166.28 

*Average about $750.00 a year from Country Grocer in Donations 
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* The 2024/2025 expenses provide an overview of our basic expenses based on basic program 
deliverables. If we receive other grants, this budget will shift to support other programming. 
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_____________________________ 

__________________________________________ 

______________________________________________________________ 

_________________________________ 

CRD GRANT-IN-AID APPLICATION FORM 

Grants-In-Aid are for the CRD Electoral Areas only: Juan de Fuca, Salt Spring Island, and Southern Gulf Islands 

Application Submitted By 
Name and Address of Applicant: _____________________________________________ Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society

Salt Spring Island,  ________________ _________________ 
Jon CookseyContact(s): ____________________________ ____________ 
(name) (phone)          (fax) 

Email address 
Sheila DobieContact(s): ____________________________ ____________ 
(name) (phone)          (fax) 
chair@ssifarmlandtrust.org

 Email address 

Application Summary 

Project or purpose for which you require assistance: 
The Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust wants to further its Indigenous engagement and 
collaboration with other groups and organizations on the island, by being part of a group of
partners putting on the Indigenous Peoples Weekend on June 20 - 22, 2025. We request 

5000Amount of grant requested $______________ 

To the best of my knowledge, all of the information that is provided in this application is 
true and correct. Furthermore, I hereby certify that this application for assistance is: 

 NOT being made on behalf of an industrial, commercial, or business undertaking 
• NOT available for the personal benefit of any individual, proprietor, member or 

shareholder 

_________________________________ 
(signature of authorized signatory) (title) 

Board Member 

Jon Cooksey 
(print name) 
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Project / Proposal Profile 

1. Assistance is being requested for:

      capital project and / or equipment 

      special event  
SPECIAL EVENT

      other purpose (______________________________________________________) 

2. Please describe the proposal for which you are requesting assistance. Attach additional 
information if required. 

The 2024 Indigenous Peoples Weekend was a joyous celebration of pan-Indigenous 
culture mixed with inspirational gatherings focused on reconciliation and honouring
Indigenous history. FLT acted as the fiduciary for its own potluck feast event as well as 
the 16 other events and paid honoraria to over 60 Indigenous participants. 

FLT would like to continue this support of the 2025 IPW which promises to have even 
more events and participants, including the Quw’utsun Cultural Connection workshop
“Journey of our Generation” and multimedia immersive exhibit “Thu-it”; Indigenous art
show at ArtSpring; an all-Indigenous musical event featuring Wesley Hardisty (Dene 
First Nation in the North West Territories), Ed Peekeekot (Ahtahkakoop Cree First 
Nation in Saskatchewan); Indigenous textiles workshop at the Library (Elders TBA); a 
clam garden event with SȾÁUTW (Tsawout) Elder Eric Pelkey, put on by Nature Salt 
Spring; Indigenous craft demonstrations put on at ArtCraft; Hawaiian history 
presentation with Kate Roland (Hawaiian Salish); a teepee-raising by Métis artist
Sherry Leigh Williams; a youth dance ceremony to be led by Quw’utsun Elder Robert
George; and a Sunday gathering/potluck feast for Elders. 

3. Please describe how this proposal will benefit the community. 

The Indigenous Peoples Weekend was born of a desire in the community to foster 
relationships with members of local Tribes and First Nations whose territory includes 
Salt Spring, and to better understand their culture and the culture of the many
Indigenous Salt Spring residents who are not from this territory. It was intended from 
the beginning to maximize community participation by being a decentralized event,
with multiple people and organizations taking the lead in hosting a variety of events to
educate settlers about the work of reconciliation and celebrate Indigenous art and
culture. The 2024 Weekend event successfully created a unique opportunity to form 
new authentic relationships between settlers and our Indigenous neighbours and
residents, and we’ll be building on that success this year. The FLT is proud to be part 
of this event, which does so much to help Salt Spring thrive as a resilient, inclusive
community that is taking real action on reconciliation. 
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 Please remember to attach: 

1. Project budget 

2. Financial statement for your organization 
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SALT SPRING ISLAND FARMLAND TRUST SOCIETY 

Compiled Financial Information 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 
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COMPILATION ENGAGEMENT REPORT 

To the Members of Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society 

On the basis of information provided by management, we have compiled the statement of financial 
position of Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society as at December 31, 2023, and the statements of 
revenues and expenditures and changes in net assets for the year then ended, and Note 1, which 
describes the basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the compiled financial information 
("financial information"). 

Management is responsible for the accompanying financial information, including the accuracy and 
completeness of the underlying information used to compile it and the selection of the basis of 
accounting. 

We performed this engagement in accordance with Canadian Standard on Related Services (CSRS) 
4200, Compilation Engagements, which requires us to comply with relevant ethical requirements. Our 
responsibility is to assist management in the preparation of the financial information. 

We did not perform an audit engagement or a review engagement, nor were we required to perform 
procedures to verify the accuracy or completeness of the information provided by management. 
Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or a review conclusion, or provide any form of assurance 
on the financial information. 

Readers are cautioned that the financial information may not be appropriate for their purposes. 

Salt Spring Island, British Columbia MCLEAN, LIZOTTE, WHEADON AND COMPANY 
May 15, 2024 Chartered Professional Accountants 
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SALT SPRING ISLAND FARMLAND TRUST SOCIETY 

Statement of Revenues and Expenditures 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

2023 2022 

REVENUES 
Government grant 
Donations 
Rentals 
Other 

$ 217,680 
61,291 
22,428 
6,757 

$ 29,389 
65,770 
10,550 

-

308,156 105,709 

EXPENSES 
Advertising and promotion 
Amortization 
Bookkeeping 
Business taxes, licenses and memberships 
Consulting fees 
Contractors 
Insurance 
Interest and bank charges 
Interest on long term debt 
Office 
Professional fees 
Public relations 
Rental 
Repairs and maintenance 
Utilities 
Workshops 

4,733 
63,616 
5,330 
1,224 

18,226 
90,438 

7,022 
1,135 
8,041 
6,650 
5,265 
5,024 

455 
38,663 

5,470 
38,316 

9,267 
4,423 
2,827 

790 
2,144 
1,334 
6,159 

95 
-
368 

6,167 
-
-
851 

9,751 
850 

299,608 45,026 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES FROM OPERATIONS 8,548 60,683 

OTHER INCOME 
Interest income 
Deferred capital contribution 

2,953 
38,501 

1,177 
2,998 

41,454 4,175 

EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER EXPENSES $ 50,002 $ 64,858 

See notes to financial information 
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SALT SPRING ISLAND FARMLAND TRUST SOCIETY 

Statement of Changes in Net Assets 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

Unrestricted Capital Assets 
2023 2022 

NET ASSETS - BEGINNING OF YEAR 
EXCESS OF REVENUES OVER 

EXPENSES 
INTERFUND TRANSFERS 
CAPITAL ASSET ADDITIONS 

$ 58,639 $ 1,333,886 $ 

75,117 (25,115) 
- -

(131,561) 131,561 

1,392,525 

50,002 
-
-

$ 1,327,667 

64,858 
-
-

NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR $ 2,195 $ 1,440,332 $ 1,442,527 $ 1,392,525 

See notes to financial information 
Page 1784 



    

   

    

 

              
            

            
    

   

            
 

   

           

            
       

   

             
               
      

           

        
        
          

   

  

      
    

      
      
      

       

      

              
             

    

              
          

         

SALT SPRING ISLAND FARMLAND TRUST SOCIETY 

Notes to Compiled Financial Information 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

1. BASIS OF ACCOUNTING 

The basis of accounting applied in the preparation of the statement of financial position of Salt 
Spring Island Farmland Trust Society as at December 31, 2023, and the statements of revenues and 
expenditures and changes in net assets for the year then ended is on the historical cost basis and 
reflects cash transactions with the addition of: 

accounts receivable and gst receivable 

property, plant and equipment recorded at historical cost and amortized on a declining 
balance method 

accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

revenues received in the current year for the following year are deferred 

revenues received in the current year for the capital assets are deferred and recognized as 
revenues on the same basis as the capital asset amortization 

2. PURPOSE OF THE ORGANIZATION 

Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust Society (the "organization") is a not-for-profit organization of 
British Columbia. As a registered charity the organization is exempt from the payment of income tax 
under Subsection 149(1) of the Income Tax Act. 

The society operates to preserve farmland and maintain community farm, and to create and operate 
community gardens. 

As a registered not-for-profit organization, the society is dependent on various government, 
foundation and corporate entities and individuals for grants and donations to subsidize its 
operations. The Board of Directors is confident that support from these organizations will continue 
through the next year. 

3. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

2023 2022 
Accumulated Net book Net book 

Cost amortization value value 

Land $ 1,062,780 $ - $ 1,062,780 $ 1,062,780 
Buildings 1,305,644 76,468 1,229,176 1,162,394 
Equipment 24,509 11,495 13,014 11,847 
Computer equipment 856 852 4 10 

$ 2,393,789 $ 88,815 $ 2,304,974 $ 2,237,031 

The Beddis road property is a 0.6 hectare property of vacant land that was gifted to the Sal Spring 
Island Farmland Trust Society on December 7, 2012 as a condition of a rezoning application. No 
charitable receipt was issued. 

The Fulford-Ganges road property is a 25 Hectare property that was gifted to the Salt Spring Island 
Farmland Trust Society as an amenity in a rezoning application. The property was transferred from 
the SSI Farmers Institute in January 2013. No charitable receipt was issued. 
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SALT SPRING ISLAND FARMLAND TRUST SOCIETY 

Notes to Compiled Financial Information 

Year Ended December 31, 2023 

4. LONG TERM DEBT 

2023 2022 

951624 Ontario Ltd. loan bearing interest only at 2% per 
annum, repayable in monthly payments of $601. The loan 
matures on January 22, 2024 . 
ISCU loan bearing interest at 6.9% compounded monthly, 
repayable in monthly blended payments of $2,557. The loan 
matures on December 31, 2029. 

$ -

365,000 

$ 360,788 

-

Amounts payable within one year 
365,000 

(5,670) 
360,788 

-

$ 359,330 $ 360,788 

On March 1, 2022, the mortgage was renegotiated with the lender to allow for interest only 
payments. 

During 2023, the mortgage was renegotiated with Island Savings Credit Union. 

5. REMUNERATION 

On November 28, 2016, the new British Columbia Societies Act came into force. Included in the new 
Act is a requirement to disclose the remuneration paid to all directors, the ten highest paid 
employees and all contractors who are paid at least $75,000 annually. 

During the year, the Society did not pay any remuneration in excess of $75,000 to any one director, 
employee, or contractor. 
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Bandemonium Music Society of Salt Spring 
CRD Grant-in-Aid Application 

April 24, 2025 
Page1 

RECEPVs:67 CRD Grant-in-Aid Application Il ,�rt< z H lOZ:>
•i Apn 24, 2025 

" �  ............ - ... 

To: Capital Regional District (CRD), Electoral Area Director and Boai:'.d 

From: Bandemonium Music Society of Salt Spring Island, British Columbia 

Contact: Jennifer Oestreicher, Bandemonium Music Society, Board Member 

John Moore Bandemonium Music Society, Board Chair 

Precis: 

The Bandemonium Music Society is requesting funding support for a special project 
consisting of one workshop (Improvisation) and three performances taking place in 
2025-2026. Sections of this project have a significant educational component, are open 
to all in the community, and are not offered by any other community organization on 
Salt Spring Island. CRD funding support will help offset the production costs of these 
projects. 

The project budgets are detailed below under the table "Typical/Expected Costs" 
A financial statement itemizing expenses for the fiscal year is appended 
below. There are no monies and/or benefits paid to members or officers. 
Also below please find an introduction to the Bandemonium Music Society and 
information about its activities on Salt Spring. 

The Bandemoni-qw. Music Society of Salt Spring Island appreciates the opportunity to 
apply for a Grant-in-Aid from the CRD. Any and all funding or support received will be 
thankfully acknowledged, including on programs, literature, advertising, and social 
media. 
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REPORT TO SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL COMMUNITY COMMISSION 
MEETING OF Thursday, May 15, 2025 

SUBJECT 163 Drake Road – Phoenix Elementary School Property Expression of 
Interest 

ISSUE SUMMARY 

To review responses to an Expression of Interest posted publicly for 163 Drake Road. 

BACKGROUND 

The Capital Regional District (CRD) assumed responsibility for the operation and maintenance 
for the buildings and land located at 163 Drake Road effective December 1, 2024, for a five-year 
term. 

The property is a 2.82 ha / 6.97-acre lot consisting of a two-story house, portable classroom, 
playground, small garden and basketball court. The west end of the property is forested with an 
informal connection to the Drake Road Trail. 

The portable building onsite was used by the Chuan Society effective Dec 2, 2024, to March 31, 
2025. The lower floor of the main building and portable are planned to be used as a temporary 
maintenance facility following the recent approval of a Temporary Use Permit (TUP) by the Islands 
Trust. 

The Salt Spring Island (SSI) Local Community Commission (LCC) requested that staff post an 
Expression of Interest (EOI) for short-term rentals to occupy the upper floor of the main building 
for up to 12 months. 

The lease and facility are funded through the parks and recreation service. Any longer-term use 
would need to be related to community programs, events or recreation. Depending on short- and 
long-term use requests, another service may need to be considered as the funding source. 

The current zoning allows for a variety of principle uses including medical offices, recreation and 
a community hall. The current building code is more restrictive as it is considered an assembly 
building. If the building were to change to office use it would need to be assessed for code 
compliance and fire separation would likely be required if there were multiple occupants. 

To best determine potential zoning or building code implications an Expression of Interest (EOI) 
was posted publicly for four weeks through the Salt Spring Exchange, Gulf Island Driftwood and 
social media. The EOI was also directly sent to potential user groups including those who had 
previously expressed an interest. In addition, an open house was held on April 3rd to promote 
awareness and gather interest from the public. 

Two proposals were received prior to the close of the EOI on April 25th 2025. A proposal to 
support a community group of homeschool children ages kindergarten to grade three (Appendix 
A) and a proposal to support a community drop-in program including meal prep and yoga 
(Appendix B). A third proposal was received after the deadline (Appendix C) but did not meet the 
submission date or format requested in the EOI and has therefore been disqualified. 
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2 
Salt Sprig Island Local Community Commission – May 15, 2025 
163 Drake Road – Phoenix Elementary School Property Expression of Interest 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 
That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission authorize staff to enter a lease with 
Creek Song Learning Centre for the portion of the main building, playground and community 
gardens located at 163 Drake Road (PID 004-607-295) at a monthly rate of $1,000 plus GST. 

Alternative 2 
That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission refer the report back to staff for 
additional information. 

IMPLICATIONS 

Financial, Safety, Zoning, Building Code and Lease Implications 

When assessing potential users for the site, consideration will need to be given to the service 
holding the land, building code and zoning to determine the current permitted uses of the building 
and land. SD64 has also included language in the lease requesting that the CRD prioritize 
organizations that demonstrate a direct benefit to children followed by local not for profit 
organizations. 

The Decision-Making Framework referenced in the 2019 SSI Parks and Recreation Strategic plan 
should also be referenced when considering new facility and program proposals (Appendix C) 

Proposed 
Monthly 

Rent 

Safety 
Improvements 

Zoning 
Implications 

Building Code 
Implications 

Directly 
Benefits 

Youth 

Creek 
Song 
Learning 
Centre 

$1,000 Temporary Fencing 
/ Expansion and 
separation of 
existing parking 

none Fire Alarm, Fire 
Monitoring and 
Fire Safety Plan Yes 

Chuan 
Society 

$750 Temporary Fencing 
/ Expansion and 
separation of 
existing parking 

none Fire Alarm, Fire 
Monitoring and 
Fire Safety Plan No 

Both applications are considered assembly use resulting in minimal implications. 

CONCLUSION 

The CRD is now leasing the property and buildings located at 163 Drake Road. There is an 
opportunity to license or sub-lease a portion of the building or property to one or more tenants 
and a public process is proposed to be completed to try ensuring the optimal use. 

Two proposals were received in response to the EOI. Both proposals are from local not for profit 
groups and are considered permitted uses. The Chuan Society has previously occupied the 
portable onsite while the Creek Song Learning Centre’s proposal directly benefits youth. 
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3 
Salt Sprig Island Local Community Commission – May 15, 2025 
163 Drake Road – Phoenix Elementary School Property Expression of Interest 

RECOMMENDATION 

That the Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission authorize staff to enter a lease with 
Creek Song Learning Centre for a portion of the main building, playground and community 
gardens located at 163 Drake Road (PID 004-607-295) at a monthly rate of $1,000 plus GST. 

Submitted by: Dan Ovington, BA, Senior Manager, SSI Administration 

Concurrence: 
Stephen Henderson, Senior Manager, Real Estate, Southern Gulf Island Electoral 
Area and Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

Appendix A – Creek Song Learning Centre Proposal 
Appendix B – Chuan Society Proposal 
Appendix C – Salt Spring Chapter of the BCSPCA 
Appendix D – Decision Making Framework 
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Appendix A 

Creek Song Learning Centre 

website: www.creeksong.org 
email: info@creeksong.org 

April 23, 2025 
(Amended April 27, 2025) 

Re: Expression of Interest 

Rental Opportunity: 
Former Phoenix Elementary School
Upstairs of Main Building
163 Drake Road, Salt Spring Island, BC 

To whom it may concern, 

We are submitting our expression of interest for the rental opportunity of the former Phoenix 
Elementary School. We have detailed the information you requested for this submission below. 

Information about Creek Song 
Creek Song is a community group of K - grade 3 homeschool children and families. It is 
currently structured as a Parent Collective, meaning it is collaboratively run by invested families 
who actively participate in decision-making, planning, and support. We became established in 
September 2024, and have proven to be sustainable this year, with viable projections into next 
year given ongoing interest from the community. Next year, the group will be grades 1 - 4 
inclusive, led by our licensed teacher, Schuyler, as well as one educational assistant.  We 
estimate there to be 10-14 children enrolled in this class. We operate Monday to Thursday 
9:00am - 3:00pm. Our group is fully insured. 

This past year, Creek Song occupied the bottom floor of the schoolhouse building at the Salt 
Spring Yoga Centre. We have been offered the lease of the schoolhouse for just one more year. 
However, they require us to lease the entire building, and the cost is very high.  This presents a 
significant financial strain on our small program, and we are uncertain we can grow registration 
quickly enough to make it viable. Phoenix represents a path forward at a much more 
reasonable rate, given how small our group currently is. We also realize that the potential to 
stay at Phoenix beyond this coming year is an asset. 

Our values 
At Creek Song, educating the whole child is our goal.  We are a Waldorf-inspired nature 
program that includes individualized academic instruction, enriched by outdoor learning, and 
enhanced by the Waldorf tradition that educates the whole child: mind, body, heart, and spirit. 

Page 261

http://www.creeksong.org
mailto:info@creeksong.org





 



 
 



























Above all we value nature education. Time spent learning and playing in nature is essential for 
children’s mental, physical, emotional, and spiritual health. Nurturing children’s relationship to 
the land is crucial for their well-being and the health of our planet. 

We value the approach of Waldorf education which aims to create opportunities for children to 
experience beauty with all of their senses, to create art, and to experience the wonder of story 
and song.  In our academic instruction we provide inspired and creative opportunities for 
learning with lots of hands-on experiences. 

We value peace.  We have a culture and expectation of non-violence that extends from the 
realm of the children to communication between parents, staff, and teachers.  We value non-
violent communication and feelings-based conflict resolution processes. 

Rental Space Requested
We respectfully request all available rental space, including the upstairs of the main building, 
the backyard play area, the garden, and dedicated parking spaces. 

Monthly rental amount proposed 
Our budget allows for a rental range of $1000 to $1500 per month, including utilities. The range 
reflects the uncertainty of our final enrolment numbers. For example, if there is an enrolment of 
10 children, $1000 would be our ideal rent, and we can provide more if there are more children 
enrolled. If this proposed range is a barrier to renting the space, we could look at increasing 
student fees to support a higher rental amount. 

Proposed dates/times 
We would request access to the rental September 1, 2025 and will require a lease of 10 
months, to June 30, 2026. We would appreciate an opportunity for lease renewal. 

Improvements to accommodate our group 
Improvements to support division of the learning space from CRD maintenance staff and 
machinery will be helpful. Ensuring safety of the playground with proper fencing may be 
necessary. At this time, we cannot think of any other specific improvements to accommodate 
our group. However, if we are awarded the tenancy, we would very much appreciate the 
opportunity to revisit this question as our vision becomes more a reality. 

Thank you very much for reviewing our expression of interest. Please do not hesitate to reach 
out if you have any questions or need further clarification. 

Sincerely, 

Kristen Frampton and Solana Rompre
On behalf of the Parent Collective of Creek Song Learning Centre 

info@creeksong.org 
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Appendix B 

Expression Of Interest for the rental of the former Phoenix 
Elementary School 

Upstairs of Main Building, 163 Drake Road, Salt Spring 
Island, BC 

Submitted by the Chuan Society 

a) Community Group Description 

THE CHUAN SOCIETY 

The Chuan Society is a registered non-profit organization (since 2017) dedicated to building 
community resilience on Salt Spring Island. Our society was founded by a diverse group of 
islanders who recognise the value of community in effecting change, improving our collective 
well-being, and creating new opportunities and ways of living on the island. The Chuan Society 
emphasizes moving social action through culture, with an operating principle based on 
empowerment and agency through collective collaboration. The foundation of our practice is a 
relational approach to project realisation. 

Salt Spring faces the highest per capita homelessness rate in the region and significant challenges 
with substance abuse and mental health, yet has limited resources to address these issues. Our 
approach centers on building strong community networks that work cooperatively with residents 
and partner organizations to create sustainable solutions. 

Key Active Projects: 

• Gabriel's Kitchen: For the past two years, we've addressed local food security by 
providing weekly meals for up to 60-80 people in Ganges. 

• The Hearth: A successful winter pilot project (December 2024-March 2025) operated as 
a community drop-in space and resource hub at the former Phoenix School through 
agreement with the CRD. 

• Joga For The People: A weekly free/by donation yoga class now in its third year at the 
Anglican Parish, initiated to provide trauma-informed practice without barriers to 
community members. 

Community Partnerships: We maintain active collaborations with numerous local 
organizations including the Mental Wellness Initiative, Restorative Justice Salt Spring, The 
Farmland Trust, Harvest Kitchen, the Anglican Parish, the Salt Spring Health Advancement 
Network, and Salt Spring Safely. We also consult regularly with local RCMP, Mental Health and 
Substance Use services, Island Community Services, Umbrella, and members of the CRD. 
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Funding Sources: Our projects operate through community fundraising, local business support, 
and grants we have received from VIHA, SSI Foundation, HSA, the Brian Bleskie Memorial 
Fund for Mental Wellness, CRD Grant-In-Aid, and Grow Local SSI/Farmland Trust. We were 
also recipients of a Salt Spring Locals Care Award. 

The Hearth Pilot Project Results: Our recent pilot at Phoenix School demonstrated significant 
community impact: 

• Served 30-40 community members daily as a warm, safe gathering space 
• Hosted diverse cultural and wellness activities including film screenings, workshops, 

open-mics, and community circles 
• Improved food security through daily meals and food redistribution 
• Operated a "Free Zone" to distribute clothing, sleeping bags, and essential resources 
• According to RCMP Chief Clive Seabrooke, contributed to a measurable decrease in 

incidents in the Ganges core 
• Successfully operated daily (9am-8pm) with volunteer teams and minimal incidents 

The Hearth also demonstrates our first, successful working relationship with the CRD in 
providing a vital, much-needed service for many in our community. 

b) Rental Space Requested 

PHOENIX LANDING NEIGHBOURHOOD HOUSE 

The Chuan Society proposes to expand our successful Hearth pilot into a comprehensive 
Neighbourhood House model called Phoenix Landing, utilizing: 

• The upstairs of the main building 
• The playground 
• The community garden 

Phoenix Landing is a community hub which connects wellness, cultural and learning spaces, a 
community kitchen, garden and pantry, and a neighbourhood gathering space. 

This is an integrated project which will serve the wider community. Salt Spring Island presently 
lacks a dedicated community center, friendship center, or commons (some regional examples 
include Cowichan Neighbourhood House, Fernwood Neighbourhood House, and the Gabriola 
Commons). With the diversity and size of our population, many islanders recognise the need for 
establishing a collective space as a co-creative resource which is accessible to all. Our vision is 
for a diverse, multi-use, intergenerational space shaped by the community and based on 
relationship, reciprocity, mutual learning, and collective resource building. 

The timing is particularly strategic with the adjacent 36-unit BC Housing supportive housing 
development opening soon. Phoenix Landing would facilitate integration between existing Drake 
Road residents and incoming neighbors, helping ease the transition to higher neighborhood 
density by providing a vital all-ages gathering space for families, friends and neighbours. 
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Proposed Space Utilization: 

Main Building (Upstairs) 

• The Hearth: Large drop-in community and activity space 
• Art Room: Art, media and cultural space 
• Wellness Room: Counseling, support groups, and recovery meetings 
• Resource Hub/Tool Library: Redistribution center and "free zone" 
• Program Room: Workshops and educational activities 
• Gabriel's Kitchen: Community meal preparation and service 

Playground 

• Outdoor gathering area for events, performances, workshops, community meals, family 
activities and programs during warm weather 

• 
Community Garden 

• Extension of Gabriel's Kitchen to enhance food security 
• Development of a community pantry for neighborhood food sharing 
• Potential outdoor kitchen/BBQ space during summer months 

Community Support: We have confirmed partnerships with the Mental Wellness Initiative, 
Restorative Justice, the Anglican Parish, the Farmland Trust, and Salt Spring Safely. We have 
pending funding applications with the Victoria Foundation and SSI Foundation, and will 
continue community fundraising efforts. 

c) Monthly Rental Amount Proposed 

We propose a monthly rental of $750 including utilities. While we recognize this is below market 
value, as a grassroots non-profit organization, we prioritize allocating resources toward 
programs, operations, honoraria, and direct community support. The demonstrated community 
benefit of our services aligns with the CRD's prioritization of organizations benefiting children 
and non-profit service providers. 

d) Proposed Dates/Times 

We propose initiating the lease between July 1-August 1, 2025, for a 12-month period, with 
potential for renewal based on CRD review and assessment of our impact. 

e) Improvements Required 

We understand the CRD plans to install fencing to separate staff areas from upstairs operations. 
We request ensuring wheelchair accessibility to the building entrance. No structural 
modifications are anticipated, though we may request removal of some shelving. 
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Addendum 

Evidence of Community Support: 

• Letters Of Support from community partners (attached) 
• Signatures (326 in total) collected on a change.org petition supporting the Phoenix 

Landing project: https://www.change.org/the_Hearth_at_Phoenix (attached) 
• Driftwood article covering The Hearth April 2 (attached) 
• Video document of testimonials from community members served during The Hearth 

pilot project, viewable at: https://vimeo.com/1077403452?share=copy 
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ealt ]pr;^g Health Adro^cerueat Network

Mar Sth, 2025

ssHAN Letter of support - The Hearth Proiect at Phoenix Landing

The salt spring Health Advancement Network wishes to express its full support for the chu'an

Society's Hearth Proiect at Phoenix Landing'

ssHAN has been involved in discussions for a long while around the needs of insecurely housed and

unhoused community members on Sart spring. Part of this has included encouraging and facilitating

the community coming together to mutually support the creation of a warming space and ultimately a

community centre space called the Hearth. we see how creating dignity - a warm space to go, a place

to eat some food, a place to do some work or rest, a safe space from harassment' a place to watch a

movie and talk - creates a healthier community and community members' we also see how addressing

the needs of community members leads to greaterfunction generally, in the Ganges Village' This

includes interactions with public spaces and businesses'

We have witnessed how the community has come together to support this project - Local Community

commission, businesses, RCMP, Salt spring safely, Restorative Justice, community members - and
vvll ll I ll99lvr tr vsvrr r!

that this is growing. community donations alone have been tremendous taking ylitl:t-:,::::J::T
sized empty space and creating a homey and comfortable community space' steps are being taken to

ffiJffirJJoi*r"ity members wno use the space in the decisions that affect their wellbeing,

continuing interactions *itn tn" broader community to build-relationships. an! 01ti91311"^33.1".
strengthen the growing of community amongst all. A good thing has been started and we wish

to see it continue.

Norget
Spring Health Advancement Network Co-Chair

davidnorqei@gmalt "cqnn
c.250-221-7243

David Norget, Co-Chair, 171 Cedar Lane, Salt Spring lsland, BC V8K 1R1
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March 3, 2025 

RE: Letter of support for Chuan Society 

To Whom This May Concern, 

I am writing on behalf of Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island (RJSSI) to express our strong support for 
the Chuan Society's expansion of The Hearth into Phoenix Landing, a vital community hub that fosters 
connection, support, and resilience. 

Since 1996, RJSSI has been committed to addressing conflict and harm within the Salt Spring Island 
community, operating under the BC Ministry of Justice’s Victim Services Prevention Division and 
Community Accountability Program. RJSSI has a long history of collaboration with various organizations 
and individuals across Salt Spring Island, including the Chuan Society. Our collective efforts have always 
aimed at centering community wellness, and Phoenix Landing aligns perfectly with this goal. It represents 
a vital step towards a more inclusive, just, and equitable Salt Spring Island. RJSSI continues to 
collaborate with The Chuan Society and is in the process of supporting internal training around restorative 
practices and conflict management. 

Phoenix Landing is poised to significantly enhance our community’s resilience and inclusivity. Building 
on the success of Gabriel’s Kitchen and The Hearth, which has provided weekly warm and nutritious 
meals to vulnerable community members, Phoenix Landing promises to further foster collaboration, 
celebrate cultural diversity, and strengthen community bonds. This new project embodies the principles of 
restorative justice by promoting healing, empowerment, and social cohesion. 

Financial support for this project will undoubtedly enhance its impact, allowing it to serve even more 
community members and create lasting positive change. We wholeheartedly endorse Phoenix Landing 
and look forward to witnessing the transformative effects it will have on our community and becoming 
more involved in their projects. 

Please feel free to reach out if you have any further questions. 

Jessica Terezakis 
Program Director 
Restorative Justice Salt Spring Island 
jessica@rjssi.org 
www.rjssi.org 
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March 3rd, 2025 

RE: Letter of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

To Whom It May Concern, 

Dzenes hoti’e/Good Day. I am writing this in support of the The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

My name is Caroline Dick and I am the Indigenous Coordinator at the Salt Spring Island Public Library and a 
person who, as a youth, experienced being unhoused on Salt Spring Island. 

The Hearth at Phoenix provides desperately needed support for several of our Island community members. 
As someone who experienced houselessness on this Island when there were virtually no supports of any kind, I can 
directly attest to the necessity of supporting groups like the Chuan Society, and the importance of endeavours that 
are grassroots and community based. Grassroots, community based programs allow individuals to access services in 
a timely manner with dignity and grace. 

The Library has been a Warming Centre for the Island, however this is restricted to limited business hours 
and we offer no amenities or support aside from wifi and bathrooms. The Hearth creates an atmosphere of care and 
support with dignity, and I can see the positive impact this has had on many of our regular patrons, which is creating 
an outward rippling positive impact on the Library overall and our community as a whole. 

Indigenous, BIPOC, LGBTQSIA2S+ Disabled, and other marginalized folks experience houselessness at a 
distressingly higher rather than people who fit in the status quo. Supporting projects like this is an integral part of 
Reconciliation. 

This is an endeavour that is desperately needed in our community. With the current political climate and 
economic instability, programs like these are going to become more and more necessary. Being proactive now is will 
help protect our community for the uncertain times ahead. 

If you have questions about this letter of support, please feel free to contact me. 

Meduh/Thank You 

Caroline Dick 

Caroline Dick, BA, PBD 

Indigenous Coordinator 
Salt Spring Island Public Library 

250-537-4666, ext. 229 

cdick@saltspringlibrary.com 

I acknowledge the unceded territory and the ancestors of Salt Spring Island, the Coast Salish First Nations peoples of Salt Spring 
and surrounding areas, who are the original stewards of these lands since time immemorial. I acknowledge that the unlawful 
displacement and genocide of these peoples is the reason why I am able to live, work, and play on this beautiful Island. 
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Support Letter for The Hearth and Phoenix Landing Project 

Dear Salt Spring Island Foundation, 

I am writing to express my strong support for The Chuan Society’s initiative to continue and
expand their community-focused project, The Hearth, into Phoenix Landing. This project has
already demonstrated its immense value to our community by addressing critical needs during
the harsh winter months and fostering a welcoming, inclusive space for all. 

The Hearth has provided a vital lifeline for vulnerable populations, including those who are
under-sheltered or marginalized. As a daily warming center and community hub, it has offered
not only warmth and shelter but also meals, resources, and a space for culture, wellness, and
collaboration. The dedication of its diverse volunteer team highlights the strength of community-
driven solutions to pressing social challenges. 

The proposed transition to Phoenix Landing represents an exciting opportunity to build on this
success by creating a permanent Neighbourhood House and Open Source Community Hub. With
plans for a community garden, pantry, kitchen, cultural workshops, wellness programs, and
more, Phoenix Landing will serve as a model of integrated, intergenerational community
development. Its emphasis on decolonizing practices and engaging with Indigenous relationships
ensures that it will remain inclusive and culturally relevant. 

The Local Food Share program run through the Farmland Trust has been proud to contribute to
the meal programs run by the Chuan Society and is committed to continuing our support for
these programs in years to come. Their work is essential and allows the food reclamation
program to have a direct connection to some of the people who need food access the most. Their
goals to expand into community gardening and pantries is in direct alignment with the food
security goals of the island and contributes to our collective long-term resiliency.  

By supporting this initiative, the SSI Foundation will help sustain a project that not only meets
immediate needs but also fosters long-term community empowerment and resilience. 

Sincerely,
Polly Orr
Salt Spring Island Farmland Trust 
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March 5, 2025 

To Whom It May Concern, 

On behalf of Transition Salt Spring, I am writing to express our strong support for the Chuan 

Society’s proposal to establish Phoenix Landing, an inclusive Neighbourhood House and Open 

Source Community Hub on Salt Spring Island. This initiative is vital for fostering community 

resilience and aligns closely with our mission to prepare our island for the impacts of climate 

change through social, environmental, and economic sustainability. 

Climate change is already affecting our community, increasing the frequency and severity of 

extreme weather events, including colder, wetter winters and hotter, drier summers. As we 

experience these shifts, the need for safe, accessible community spaces where residents can 

find shelter, support, and connection becomes even more critical. Phoenix Landing builds upon 

the success of The Hearth, providing a permanent hub where islanders—especially those who 

are under-sheltered or marginalized—can access resources, mutual aid, and emergency 

support. 

The proposed community garden, pantry, kitchen, and cultural programming will not only 

address immediate food security and wellness needs but also contribute to long-term 

community self-sufficiency. As a centre for knowledge-sharing and skill-building, Phoenix 
Landing will help strengthen our ability to respond collectively to climate challenges—whether 

through disaster preparedness, local food production, or fostering the relationships that make 

our island more resilient in times of crisis. 

We commend the Chuan Society for their leadership in creating this essential community 

resource. We urge decision-makers to support this initiative, recognizing its crucial role in 

ensuring a just, sustainable, and climate-resilient future for Salt Spring Island. 

Sincerely, 

Darlene Gage 

Executive Director 

Transition Salt Spring 

www.transitionsaltspring.com info@transitionsaltspring.com 
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Jon Cooksey 
380 Trincomali Heights, Salt Spring Island, BC V8K 1M9 Canada 

(604) 836-1095 
jon@hope-springs.com 

March 8, 2025 

LETTER OF SUPPORT 
FOR: The Chuan Society 
RE: Application for funding for The Hearth 

Dear Funder, 

Please accept this letter as my wholehearted support of the work that the Chuan Society is 
doing to create a much-needed community hub at Phoenix school, as part of their 
amazing work supporting the un- and underhoused and marginalized in our community. 

I originally met Kajin Goh through my work on food security, as a member of the Board 
of the Farmland Trust, and got to know a little about Chuan. But my awareness of the 
work that Kajin and others are doing deepened through his involvement through the OCP 
engagement work I’m doing as a consultant for Transition Salt Spring. I can’t imagine a 
better messenger for Chuan – Kajin is a student of alternative living models all over the 
world, a tireless advocate, and a human being with deep and intrinsic empathy for all 
around him. 

Through the efforts of Kajin and others at Chuan, The Hearth found a home at the newly-
closed Phoenix School during a winter that featured a polar vortex, a consequence of 
climate change that is likely to bring subzero temperatures to Salt Spring for extended 
periods of time, for as long as it takes the polar ice caps to melt. We can no longer 
depend on our fair weather to take care of the least among us – that responsibility is on all 
our shoulders now. 

With your support for operational costs as well as funding programs, Chuan will be able 
to create more sustainable remunerations for part-time staff and honorariums at The 
Hearth, and expand to a similarly active community space at Phoenix Landing, as part of 
their proposal for a Neighbourhood House and Open Source Community Hub. Please 
give every consideration to this important project that not only saves lives, but makes 
them better. 

Yours, 

Jon Cooksey 
(604) 836-1095 
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March 1, 2025 

To: Whom It May Concern 

Letter of Support: The Hearth 

I was inspired to write a letter in support of the Hearth, as it’s presence has helped myself 
and my daughter to build roots in the community of Salt Spring Island, BC. 

It’s been a place that we could go and feel safe to be ourselves. A place of acceptance. 
A place of authenticity. A place of love. It’s been a home for us. A home for those without 
family roots or ancestral ties to these lands. It’s a place we find kinship with the human mosaic 
and always feel the spirit of generosity, kindness, and compassion every time we attend their 
weekly Soup & BBQ event. 

It’s been a lifeline to us and many others who rely on this hub for the connection based wealth 
that we all find in our human tribes. This is a very key piece in healing poverty and in the 
prevention of homelessness. Without roots we cannot survive, grow, and contribute 
to society in meaningful ways. The Hearth gives people roots. 

As an Indigenous Knowledge Keeper and lone parent, we’ve had a challenging time navigating 
through the social landscape of Salt Spring Island and we’ve been able to break through those 
barriers while visiting the Hearth. It’s a space that truly holds space for active reconciliation and 
works to achieve equality by removing barriers to connection based wealth. 

I hope that this space can proceed to grow its roots within the Salt Spring Community and that it 
can continue to thrive for many years to come. I request that you consider this application with 
extra care. The most vulnerable in our society deserve a space. A space to find roots based 
upon love and kinship. That’s what your support of it’s expansion will mean. 

I appreciate your careful consideration of my words and experiences. 

Kinanaskomitin, (thank you in Cree) 

Laurie Anderson 
Laurie & Aurora Anderson 

The Wahkohtowin Experience 
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Letter of Support for the Chuan Society 

I am writing to express my wholehearted support for the Chuan Society’s funding application.
The Chuan Society, through Gabriel’s Kitchen, has been a beacon of hope and a pillar of
community support on Saltspring Island. Their once-weekly dinners have transcended the mere
provision of meals; they have become a symbol of fellowship, inclusion, and community
building.
These dinners, lovingly prepared by members of the community, have offered sustenance and
companionship to residents who are marginalized for various reasons. But beyond feeding the
body, these gatherings have nourished the soul by fostering a sense of belonging and mutual
respect. They have opened avenues for inclusion and have been instrumental in bridging divides
within our community.
The work of the Chuan Society exemplifies hope, cooperation, and understanding—qualities that
are essential in today's world. By bringing people together around a common table, they have
created a space where differences are set aside, and common ground is found. This initiative not
only provides immediate relief to those in need but also lays the foundation for a more inclusive
and compassionate community.
The Anglican Church on Saltspring Island has had the privilege of collaborating with Gabriel’s
Kitchen by providing space and facilities for these well-attended community meals. This
partnership has allowed us to witness firsthand the positive impact of their work. The gatherings
are always filled with warmth and camaraderie, and the atmosphere is one of genuine care and
support.
Expanding the work of the Chuan Society to include the operation of a community hub, as
outlined in their application, offers numerous benefits to the community. This initiative will
enable the Chuan Society to build on their already successful meal program, providing a stable
and welcoming environment where community members can gather, share, and receive support.
By broadening their reach, the society will not only address food insecurity but also foster a
sense of belonging and connection among residents. The community hub can host a variety of
activities and services, from educational workshops to health screenings, thereby enhancing the
overall well-being of the community. This expansion will transform the Chuan Society into an
even more integral part of the community, empowering individuals and creating a stronger, more
cohesive society. 

I firmly believe that by supporting the Chuan Society, you are investing in a brighter future for
Saltspring Island. Their work is not just about providing meals; it is about building bridges,
fostering understanding, and opening doors to new possibilities. I urge you to give their
application your utmost consideration and support.
Thank you for your time and for considering this vital initiative.
Sincerely,
Ruth Pickett Seltner 
Rector’s Warden 
The Anglican Parish of Saltspring Island 

Page 274



 
       

  
              
 

 
  

 

 

  

 

Date:   March 7, 2025 
To: Whom it may concern 
From: The Rev. Charles Belknap, 1386 Beddis Rd Salt Spring Island BC

Chas.belknap@gmail.com 

I am writing in support of Chuan Society’s application for the space at the old Phoenix School
site. 
I have been involved with Chuan Society through their successful Gabriel’s Kitchen program
that was housed at the Anglican Church in 2024. (In beginning of the 2025 the church began a 
long planned remodel the facility). I have followed the evolution of their program at the Hearth.
I have been involved with homeless issues for a long time. In 1987 I help start a 100 bed shelter
for homeless families with children in Norwalk California. (The Rio Hondo Temporary Home,
still in operation). In 1990 I became Director of Housing and Community Development for the
National Mental Health Association Los Angeles (later renamed Mental Health America) where
I developed offices and residential projects. Residential projects included a repurposed motel that
offered permanent housing for people with mental health issues that had been homeless for at
least two years. I the 1990’s, when condominiums in Los Angeles could be bought for less than
$30,000, I created a first time home ownership program for people with disability incomes. I was
fortunate to work for MHA which saw itself a primarily as a consumer rights organization for
consumers of Mental Health services. MHA advocated and supported self-directed recovery.
What impresses me most about the Chuan Society’s work is their broad community networking.
Chuan leadership includes, people with unstable housing, concerned volunteers, community
service workers and those like myself who are active in local religious communities. If those
living on the margins are to successfully integrate into island life it will take self-directed
recovery, and a village. 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

Name City Postal Code Country Signed On 

Chuan Society Canada 2025-03-20 

Gloria McEachern Salt Spring Island V8K 1B9 Canada 2025-03-20 

Alex Pearce Calgary T3N 0J4 Canada 2025-03-20 

Ash Ozturk Salt spring island H2V Canada 2025-03-20 

Gary McNutt Saltspring island V8k2j8 Canada 2025-03-20 

Brian Dobbin Burnaby V5B 4S4 Canada 2025-03-20 

Jenny McClean Vancouver V5N 2G8 Canada 2025-03-20 

Sarah Zhang Canada 2025-03-20 

Parvinder Singh Sandhar Abbotsford V4x 2k1 Canada 2025-03-21 

vera kat Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-23 

Matthew McKinney Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-03-25 

Kristin Norget Montreal H3A 2T7 Canada 2025-03-25 

Adam James perret Vancouver V5L Canada 2025-03-25 

Rosie Schinners Salt Spring Island V8K 1B5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Linda Quiring Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Colleen Skelcher Salt Spring Island V8K2G8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Diana Hayes Salt Spring Island V8K 1M4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Susan Alexander Vancouver V5N Canada 2025-03-25 

OONA MCOUAT Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Wendy Nixon Victoria V8S Canada 2025-03-25 

Anne Parker New Westminster V5L 5V2 Canada 2025-03-25 

william kahl salt spring island v8k 2a5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Amedee Chappus Sikich Burnaby V5A Canada 2025-03-25 

Kappy Sav Vancouver V5X Canada 2025-03-25 

Grant Fredrickson Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

kathleen lynn Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Jill Tarswell Salt Spring Island V8K 1B7 Canada 2025-03-25 

Polly Orr Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Debra Krause Salt Spring Island V8K 2C3 Canada 2025-03-25 

Judy Allisen Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Chris Martell Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Marilyn Fotinakis Salt Spring Island V8k Canada 2025-03-25 

Mike Crant Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Ron Cooke Saltspring Island V8K 2B8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Shauna Anderson Galiano Island V0N Canada 2025-03-25 

Jeanna Au Yeong Toronto M5V 3N4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Angela Albo Ganges V8K 2A5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Roy Clery Salt Spring Island V8K 1X1 Canada 2025-03-25 

Olga Savchuk Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Kim Murray Ssi V8k1e9 Canada 2025-03-25 

Daryl Boehlig Surrey V3S Canada 2025-03-25 

Anna Haltrecht Salt Spring Island V8K 1N2 Canada 2025-03-25 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

Linnea Sellin Port Coquitlam V3C 2T8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Shamana Ali Salt Spring Island V8K 1H4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Susan Bailey BC V8K 1B6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Caroline Bracken Salt Spring Island V8K 2A8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Bernard Kromka Saltspring island V8k1s8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Daniel Margolese Salt Spring Island V8K2K7 Canada 2025-03-25 

andy poystila Burnaby V5C Canada 2025-03-25 

Elizabeth Van Akker Salt Spring Island V8K1M4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Cecile Petra Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Victoria Skinner Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-03-25 

Amanda Kimmel Saltspring island V3A Canada 2025-03-25 

Laurie Anderson Salt Spring Island V8K2G4 Canada 2025-03-25 

clodagh king Casa Grande 85122 United States 2025-03-25 

Glen Scott Toronto M5A Canada 2025-03-25 

Rebecca Martin Salt Spring Island V8K 1P4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Emily Girard Sidney V8k2p1 Canada 2025-03-25 

Jaime Fry Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

talluto donna Lake Cowichan Canada 2025-03-25 

Raven Kipling Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

cameron Shlakoff Castlegar v1n4l6 Canada 2025-03-25 

E W victoria v8t 2c7 Canada 2025-03-25 

Lorna Knowles Victoria V8V 1K7 Canada 2025-03-25 

April Cooke-Mackey Salt Spring Island V8L 2G6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Christina Chua Salt Spring Island V8K1Z2 Canada 2025-03-25 

ES Warwick Victoria V8V Canada 2025-03-25 

David Norget Salt Spring Island V8K 1R1 Canada 2025-03-25 

Lisa Jarvis Salt Spring Island V8K1H5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Donna Madsen Salt Spring Island BCV8K 2T4 Canada 2025-03-25 

Bryan Young Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Kai Tocher Victoria V8T Canada 2025-03-25 

Sheya Jordan Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Fia Grabowski Vancouver V5L Canada 2025-03-25 

John Westlake Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Omrane Hassan Vancouver V5X Canada 2025-03-25 

raelene bannick Nanaimo V9S 1P6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Bette Calkins SaltSpring Island V8K 1P6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Saera Burns Salt Spring Island V8K1E5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Ulrieke Benner Burnaby V5J Canada 2025-03-25 

Melanie Hayne Okotoks T1S 1G8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Catherine Parker Salt Spring Island V8K 2W3 Canada 2025-03-25 

eland Bronstein Saltspring island Vk81p1 Canada 2025-03-25 

Darren B Vancouver V5a 3k2 Canada 2025-03-25 

Bahador Sorour North Vancouver V7l2b1 Canada 2025-03-25 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

Mark Coulter Saltspring Island BC V8K-2W1 Canada 2025-03-25 

Liza Kim Tebbutt Salt Spring Island V8K 1C8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Barbara Riddy Nanaimo V9r6w9 Canada 2025-03-25 

Zainab Al-bassam Port Coquitlam v3c0c5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Ashley Day Parksville V9P Canada 2025-03-25 

Kirk LAIDLAW Vancouver V5Z Canada 2025-03-25 

Roxanna Roy Salt Spring Island V8K 1L6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Haley Theresa Salt spring island V8K 1C8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Haseeb Fazil New Westminster V3L Canada 2025-03-25 

Luan Ballabani Coquitlam V3E Canada 2025-03-25 

Essay Haile Burnaby V5H Canada 2025-03-25 

harry warner ssi v8k2a5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Lisa Speirs Salt Spring Island V8K 2M5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Ryan Earl Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Jane Beveridge North Vancouver V7L Canada 2025-03-25 

Marie-Philippe Dumaine Canada 2025-03-25 

Dagan Jurjans Saltspring island V8K1Z4 Canada 2025-03-25 

melanie furman salt spring island V8K2P6 Canada 2025-03-25 

Gingras Amandine Charette G0X Canada 2025-03-25 

Claudia Galea Van Isl. v8k-1w8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Natalie Hagn Montreal H4E Canada 2025-03-25 

Thomas Bahuon Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Bevis Lowry Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Judith Carol Chappus Windsor N8Y Canada 2025-03-25 

Julia Ventura Salt Spring Island V8K 2A5 Canada 2025-03-25 

Kathy Moradian Parksville V9P Canada 2025-03-25 

Lorie Bannick Alberta Beach T0E 0A0 Canada 2025-03-25 

penelope stephenson Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Carl Montgomery Salt Spring Island V8K 2C2 Canada 2025-03-25 

Peg gabor Salt spring island Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Mahoney Shelley Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Nathalie St-Amant Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Terry Parsons Port Moody V3H Canada 2025-03-25 

Jayne Underwood Salt Spring island V8K2L8 Canada 2025-03-25 

maggie ziegler saltspring island V8K 1T7 Canada 2025-03-25 

Bob Delion Salt Spring Island BCV8K 1H7 Canada 2025-03-25 

Rachel Jacobson Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Jennifer Lannan Sidney V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Katie Brennan Salt Spring V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Dennis Fortin Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-03-25 

Danait Yemane Burnaby V5C Canada 2025-03-25 

Robin Andison Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-25 

Hameed Askani North York M2M Canada 2025-03-25 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

John Kyle Cochrane T4C Canada 2025-03-25 

Cayla Ashforth Surrey V3Z Canada 2025-03-25 

Daniel Dori Burnaby V3N Canada 2025-03-25 

Lisa Kowbel Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Autum Falls Victoria V8T Canada 2025-03-25 

KIMANI GOFF Vancouver V5T Canada 2025-03-25 

Sam Barlow Nanaimo V9R Canada 2025-03-25 

Mary LynnMary Lynn HetheringtonSalt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Zoe Larigakis Saltspring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

K K Sangudo T0E Canada 2025-03-25 

Dwaine Anthony (Tony Prosk Salt Spring Island V8K 2G8 Canada 2025-03-25 

Deb Boughner Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-25 

Andy Roy Vancouver V8k Canada 2025-03-25 

Kaleigh Barton crescent valley v8k2j8 Canada 2025-03-26 

Kim Bonn Delta V4M Canada 2025-03-26 

Chantel Broe Vancouver V5Z Canada 2025-03-26 

Antony Partington Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-26 

Mae Bell Courtenay V9N Canada 2025-03-26 

Brian Smallshaw Saltspring Island V8K 1W5 Canada 2025-03-26 

Nicola Bishop Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-26 

ron zado Victoria V8T 5E3 Canada 2025-03-26 

Be Frey Salt Spring Island V8K 2H8 Canada 2025-03-26 

Maryam Mehraban North Vancouver V7P 3G3 Canada 2025-03-26 

Rex Shaak Salt Spring Island V8K 2J8 Canada 2025-03-26 

Raymond Tsang Burnaby V5C Canada 2025-03-26 

charlene linnell Salt Spring Island V8K 1P4 Canada 2025-03-26 

Sebastian Silva Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-26 

Steve Anisman Surrey V3R Canada 2025-03-26 

Janice Yeung Vancouver V5K 1C6 Canada 2025-03-26 

Lyndsay Olson Nanaimo V9R Canada 2025-03-26 

Ariel Gaitt SaltSpring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-26 

Ben Corno Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-26 

James Alexander Salt Spring Island V8K 2C4 Canada 2025-03-26 

Erinanne Harper SSI V8k 2a5 Canada 2025-03-26 

Randall Miron SaltSpring Island V8K2C3 Canada 2025-03-26 

Charlene Buziak Calgary T2R Canada 2025-03-26 

Bryce Stewart Victoria V9C2C4 Canada 2025-03-26 

James Jenka Yellowknife X1a1a7 Canada 2025-03-26 

Paul Oliphant SaltSpring Island V8K 2L7 Canada 2025-03-26 

Matthew Cheng Vancouver V5Z Canada 2025-03-26 

Marie Cyr Salt Spring Island V8k Canada 2025-03-26 

Gülbahar Yazıcıoğlu Vancouver V6S Canada 2025-03-26 

Jun Pang Coquitlam V3E 0A5 Canada 2025-03-26 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

Zeyneb Sahin Surrey V3T Canada 2025-03-26 

Damian Inwood Salt Spring Island V8K2E6 Canada 2025-03-26 

Yoshiyuki Yuen Port Coquitlam V3B Canada 2025-03-26 

Sanford Bartlett Vancouver V9S 6S3 Canada 2025-03-27 

teresa forbes Saltspring Island V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

Katherine Gower Salt Spring Island V8K 1N3 Canada 2025-03-27 

adina Hildebrandt Victoria V8X Canada 2025-03-27 

Danene Harley Saltspring island V8k1z8 Canada 2025-03-27 

Rachel Bonneau Sainte-Marguerite-du-Lac-MassonJ0T Canada 2025-03-27 

siu leung Burnaby v5r 2p1 Canada 2025-03-27 

Ker Lo Vancouver V6E Canada 2025-03-27 

Darlene Gage Salt spring island V8k 2e3 Canada 2025-03-27 

Krista Reed Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-27 

Rosanna Tong Richmond V6Y Canada 2025-03-27 

Reynold moersch Coquitlam V3E Canada 2025-03-27 

Malcolm Weatherston Langley V1M3E3 Canada 2025-03-27 

Abigaelle Petrin Ganges V8k Canada 2025-03-27 

Jonathan Barker Pender Island V0N Canada 2025-03-27 

Shawna Fortin Ballina 2478 Australia 2025-03-27 

Asia M Victoria V9A Canada 2025-03-27 

Kevin Scrimgeour Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-03-27 

John Davies Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

Cimmeron Meyer Salt Spring Island V8K1E4 Canada 2025-03-27 

Sakshi Patel London N5V Canada 2025-03-27 

Marie-Jeanne Brouillette Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

Steven Rathwell Salt Spring Island V8K 1V2 Canada 2025-03-27 

Fatih KILICARSLAN Surrey V4A Canada 2025-03-27 

Blake Antinori North Vancouver V7K Canada 2025-03-27 

Kathryn Christie Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

Matthew Cole Nanoose Bay V9P 9B7 Canada 2025-03-27 

Natu Mbanefo Salt Spring Island T6c0w7 Canada 2025-03-27 

Nicole Borthwick Victoria V8Z Canada 2025-03-27 

Zoe Daoust Powell River V8A Canada 2025-03-27 

Uma Meyers Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

davinia van s Langley V1m2r6 Canada 2025-03-27 

Andrea Villaroman Burnaby V3j 1a1 Canada 2025-03-27 

Erdem Gunes Vancouver V5R Canada 2025-03-27 

Sean Mccormick Victoria V8R Canada 2025-03-27 

CAROLINE TRÉPANIER Saltspring island V8L Canada 2025-03-27 

Justice Miller London N5V Canada 2025-03-27 

Thea Hopper Ajax L1T Canada 2025-03-27 

Ena G Salt spring v8k2c8 Canada 2025-03-27 

Joshua Bwishe Vancouver V5S Canada 2025-03-27 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

beate denz Crofton V0R 1R0 Canada 2025-03-27 

Sage Stobbe Victoria V8N Canada 2025-03-27 

KAM FUNG CHAN Burnaby V3N Canada 2025-03-28 

Maureen Marcano SALT SPRING ISLANDV8K2V8 Canada 2025-03-28 

Allison Gaines Salt Spring Island V8K 2M6 Canada 2025-03-28 

Emma Atkinson Ganges V8K1A0 Canada 2025-03-28 

Sandal Safa Canada 2025-03-28 

Ismail Yüksel Vancouver V5Y Canada 2025-03-28 

Sunya Wright Duncan V9L Canada 2025-03-28 

Kalyaan Selvakumar Salt Spring Island V8k Canada 2025-03-28 

Patricia Nichols Saltspring Island V8K2W3 Canada 2025-03-28 

Andrew Bissonnette Saltspring Island V8K2X6 Canada 2025-03-28 

Blake Antinori North Vancouver V7M Canada 2025-03-28 

Indra Singh Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-03-28 

Imanol A. Salt Spring Island V8K2B6 Canada 2025-03-28 

Ellen Hazenboom Salt Spring Island V8K 1M3 Canada 2025-03-28 

molly murphy saltspring island bc V8K 2A5 Canada 2025-03-28 

Jorge rafer Vancouver V5Y Canada 2025-03-28 

Ryan Taylor Vancouver V5L Canada 2025-03-28 

Umut Uzun Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-29 

Richard Hopkins Canada 2025-03-29 

Roxanne Boyle Salt Spring Island V8K 2K1 Canada 2025-03-29 

Andrew LeFort Victoria V8T 1C4 Canada 2025-03-29 

Karissa Ames Canada 2025-03-29 

Kristen Vincent New Westminster V7m 1t8 Canada 2025-03-29 

E Z Vancouver V7S Canada 2025-03-29 

etagegn hailegebriel surrey v3t 4p6 Canada 2025-03-29 

Vincent Giampalma Salt spring Island V8k 2a5 Canada 2025-03-29 

Hamidreza Namdari Coquitlam V3e 2v9 Canada 2025-03-29 

Ranich Raksmey Downsview M3H Canada 2025-03-29 

Fraser Rock Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-29 

Jo Logan Sidney V8K2C2 Canada 2025-03-30 

Dustin Mercier Victoria V8P 1A1 Canada 2025-03-30 

Dianne Petrie Salt spring, Island V8K1X9 Canada 2025-03-30 

Arlene Dashwood Salt Spring Island V8k2E9 Canada 2025-03-30 

charlotte Plant Saltspring Island V8L Canada 2025-03-31 

Renee Kreeft Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-31 

shae Houston Sidney V8L Canada 2025-03-31 

Ralph Bischoff salt spring island V8k 2j2 Canada 2025-03-31 

Zoe Fox Salt Spring Island V8K1C8 Canada 2025-04-01 

Fred Jacques Calgary T2W Canada 2025-04-01 

Leslie Moggridge Ottawa K2P Canada 2025-04-02 

Heather Picotte Salt Spring Island V8L Canada 2025-04-02 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

Holly Slaney Salt Spring Island V8K2R2 Canada 2025-04-03 

Robert Birch Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-04-03 

Louise Shelly Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-03 

Clark Lu Surrey V4N Canada 2025-04-03 

Jamie Ferguson Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-03 

Bethany Cunningham Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-04-03 

Paula Neglia Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-04-03 

Krista Thornhill Salt Spring Is. BC V8K 1P6 Canada 2025-04-03 

Anna Vineyard Salt Spring Island V8K Canada 2025-04-04 

Melissa Wang Surrey V4N6R9 Canada 2025-04-04 

Faye Hutchison North Saanich V8L Canada 2025-04-04 

Valerie Louvet Vancouver V5S Canada 2025-04-04 

Todd Mitchell Ganges V8K2K1 Canada 2025-04-04 

Marnie Marnie Langley M1f2z5 Canada 2025-04-04 

Harjeet Sandhu Vancouver V6A Canada 2025-04-04 

Jessica Buuck Surrey V3Z Canada 2025-04-04 

Kevin Dilke Victoria V9B Canada 2025-04-04 

Emma Northcote Langley V2Y Canada 2025-04-04 

Monika Nygaard Chemainus V0R 1K0 Canada 2025-04-04 

Roy Fletcher Victoria V9V 3C6 Canada 2025-04-04 

Andrea Goodman British Columbia V8K 1G9 Canada 2025-04-04 

Charlene Ndahmud Nanaimo V9R 4V1 Canada 2025-04-04 

Jane Armstrong New Westminster V3L 5V6 Canada 2025-04-04 

Janet Mitchell North Saanich V8L Canada 2025-04-05 

Jan Carnahan Duncan V9L 2E2 Canada 2025-04-05 

Helalr Betrev Surrey V3R Canada 2025-04-05 

Breanna Bandet Victoria V8W 1M1 Canada 2025-04-05 

Andrew Mitchell Victoria Canada 2025-04-05 

Rosemary Klippenstein Roberts Creek V0N 2W2 Canada 2025-04-05 

Zelda Sun Victoria V8V Canada 2025-04-05 

Camille Halsey Saanichton V8M Canada 2025-04-05 

Mikayla Susin Coquitlam V3E 2S7 Canada 2025-04-05 

Kelly Johnson Saltspring island V8k2n3 Canada 2025-04-06 

Nuria Belastegui Salt Spring Island V8K 1G2 Canada 2025-04-06 

Sarah Belknap Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-06 

Wendy Squirrell Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-06 

Kerry Beswick Victoria V8S Canada 2025-04-06 

Cheri Reid Saltspring Island V8K2B1 Canada 2025-04-06 

ELIZABETH SMITH Salt Spring Island V8K 2J3 New Zealand 2025-04-06 

Daphne Kuypers Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-07 

Stan Pak Surrey V3R Canada 2025-04-07 

Cameron Zupp Coquitlam V3E Canada 2025-04-07 

Rachel Wilton Surrey V0K2Z0 Canada 2025-04-07 
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Signatures of Support for The Hearth at Phoenix Landing 

John Macpherson Victoria V8T Canada 2025-04-10 

Jean-Pierre Roberge Victoria V9A Canada 2025-04-10 

David Carlile Duncan V9L Canada 2025-04-11 

Bernadette Letchford Victoria V8Z Canada 2025-04-11 

Denise Korn Victoria V9B 0K4 Canada 2025-04-11 

Roderick Baumel Nanaimo V9R 2Y9 Canada 2025-04-11 

Bernadette Reay Victoria V9C Canada 2025-04-11 

Kent Mjolsness Victoria V8P2G7 Canada 2025-04-12 

Zak Workman Duncan v9l5y1 Canada 2025-04-12 

Gail Wright Sidney V8L 4S4 Canada 2025-04-13 

Spencer Morriss Victoria V8T Canada 2025-04-13 

Leanna Boyer Salt Spring V8K 1R7 Canada 2025-04-14 

susan Emmett Victoria V8V3V3 Canada 2025-04-20 

Sophia Johnson Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-20 

Heather Wootton Burnaby V5A Canada 2025-04-21 

Tanya Taylor Prince George V2M5K4 Canada 2025-04-21 

Linda Elliott Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-22 

Ben Slaney Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-22 

Darlene Gage Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-22 

Josephine Fletcher Sidney V8K 1A1 Canada 2025-04-22 

Dysty Henderson Spruce Grove T7Y Canada 2025-04-22 

Sue Horner Hornby Island V0R Canada 2025-04-22 

Keith Delaney Toronto M6K Canada 2025-04-22 

Andrew Barbutza Salt Spring Island V8K 2H8 Canada 2025-04-23 

Charles Belknap Sidney V8L Canada 2025-04-23 

Nicholas Jewell Barrie L4m 2b4 Canada 2025-04-23 
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Appendix C 

EXPRESSION OF INTEREST FOR PHOENIX ELEMENTARY RENTAL 

FROM THE SALT SPRING CHAPTER OF THE BCSPCA 

Date:  March 15th 2025 

Our local chapter of the BC SPCA would like to submit our expression of interest to rent the 

old Phoenix Elementary School property.  We understand that presently, and perhaps for 

12-18 months, only the top floor is available for rent. 

As the largest animal welfare organization of its kind in Canada, the BC SPCA leads the way 

in animal care and management. We help abandoned, abused, injured and homeless 

animals, and run preventative programs around the province to address the root causes of 

animal suffering. Our work is evidence-based, using the best available scientific and 

professional knowledge about the welfare of all animals. 

For many years now, the Salt Spring branch of the BC SPCA has been housed in the 

basement of the Gulf Islands Veterinary Clinic on Lower Ganges Rd.  The 450 sq ft. space 
significantly limits the services we are able to provide that would help both the people and 

animals of Salt Spring Island. 

We would like to express our interest in moving into the top floor of the former Phoenix 
school as soon as possible and expand to the main floor when it becomes available. 

The Salt Spring SPCA serves our community on many fronts: 

• We take in stray or unwanted cats 

• We help capture, neuter and find homes for the many feral cats on Salt Spring 

• We foster unwanted kittens and find them good homes 

• We respond to calls regarding free-roaming dogs and attempt to find their owners 
(we have no place to house dogs at our facility) 

• We board cats when their owners must leave their home (for medical, safety, or 
other reasons) 

• We supply pet food, supplies and information to the community 

With a location at the former Phoenix school, we would be able to: 

• Hold education seminars on dog training, animal behaviour, pet first aid, nutrition 
etc. for the Salt Spring community 

• Provide resources to enable people and companion animals to stay together 

• Working compassionately and proactively with vulnerable populations to keep 
animals out of shelters and with their families 
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• Assist individuals in the community who are struggling to access services to care for 

their pets. 

• Further develop and execute intervention and prevention strategies, such as 

targeted outreach and empowering community, to achieve a reduction in the need 

for direct animal care 

• Designate an isolation room for cats when they arrive at the shelter (this is 

important because cats carry many infectious viruses that are life-threatening to 

other cats) 
• Help the CRD with the increasing problem of stray dogs on Salt Spring Island 

A community member who encounters a stray dog would be able to call the SPCA and a 

staff member would either come to retrieve the dog, or the finder could bring it to the 

shelter.  SPCA staff would be able to check whether the dog has ID or a microchip and if so, 

contact the owner.  The Phoenix property would give us the ability to house the dog in a 
safe and comfortable environment while staf attempt to reunite the dog with its owner (this 

process often takes 1-2 days). Although rare, if we are not able to find the owner, the dog 

could be transferred to the Duncan or Victoria branch. We understand that the CRD has an 

expectation to pay for this service which would help the SPCA offset our costs. We are 

suggesting a monthly rental fee of $750. 

Our staff are committed to the BC SPCA’s mission of protecting vulnerable animals and 

mobilizing communities so animals and people thrive together. We are professional, 

responsible and would prove to be excellent tenants for this new CRD facility. Please 

consider the SPCA for this rental opportunity so that we may continue to provide and 

expand valuable services for the community. 

NOTE:  Given how important this organization is for Salt Spring, it would be a great risk to 

give up our present location and move to Drake Rd without some guarantee that we would 

be secure. In order to offer the services we would like to, we would certainly need to occupy 

the main floor as a minimum. 

Submitted respectfully by, 

Jerry Lewandowski 
Rachael Gilliam 

Salt Spring SPCA 
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Appendix D 

Decision Making Framework 

The decision making framework is used as a guide to assess new opportunities or proposals 
against the outcomes to determine the greatest public good. 

Outcomes Alignment – The proposed initiative will support the CRD in achieving service 
function outcomes of the CRD as contained within broader strategic planning. 

Public Benefit – All island residents will benefit directly or indirectly by implementing the 
proposed initiative, regardless of whether they participate directly in the initiative. 

Demographic Trends - Population trends and growth areas on the Island support a need for 
the proposed initiative. 

Recreation Behavior Trends - Trends and growth areas on the island support a need for the 
proposed initiative. 

Community Support –Stakeholders and the community at large identified and supported the 
proposed initiative during engagements. 

Capacity – Analysis of staffing capacity and facility utilization on the Island supports the 
proposed initiative. 

Conditions & Functionality - An investment in the porposed initiative would create, extend or 
replace the existing capacity. 

Innovation & Risk Management – The proposed initiative demonstrates innovation in some 
form – design, operations, efficiencies, etc. and the potential risks associated with the initiative 
are minimal or can be reasonably mitigated. 

Environmental Impacts – The environmental impacts of implementing the proposed initiative 
will be identified and evaluated in relation to the benefit of the proposed initiative. 

Financial Viability – The proposed initiative has the ability to generate appropriate cost 
recovery relative to operating and maintenance expenditures 
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REPORT TO SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL COMMUNITY COMMISSION 
MEETING OF THURSDAY, MAY 15, 2025 

SUBJECT Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

ISSUE SUMMARY 

To consider a contract to develop a multi-functional housing registry model in support of workforce 
housing on Salt Spring Island (SSI). 

BACKGROUND 

In 2022 the Southern Gulf Islands Economic Sustainability Commission developed a Housing 
Now program with a HomeShare toolkit, home registry, and website. The Housing NOW project 
gathered data and responses through community engagement with businesses, community 
organizations, and private residents, to document the Southern Gulf Island housing experience. 
The program created opportunities for the registry’s growth and sustainability by seeking 
collaboration with the Southern Gulf Island Tourism Partnership (SGITPS) to include Salt Spring 
Island as an additional service community of the Registry. The financial support supplied by the 
SGITPS allowed for the creation of a Salt Spring Island coordinator for this new branch of the 
Housing NOW Registry, as well as an additional advertising and print media budget. 

In October 2023, The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission (LCC) directed staff to 
work with Housing Now to develop an SSI specific plan. The Housing NOW Project is a multi-
functional housing registry model designed for the Southern Gulf Islands and Salt Spring. In 2024 
the LCC approved funding of the SSI Housing Now HomeShare Registry project in the amount of 
$22,830. This funding was used to produce an SSI housing Now Island associate onboarding 
and training program, conduct a business housing needs poll, home share community awareness 
campaign, business housing needs report, employer guarantor registry, SSI Housing Now landing 
pages, and a HomeSharer Finding Resolutions publication. 

The Housing Now HomeShare registry project is requesting $23,724 in funding in 2025 to 
implement key initiatives throughout 2025, focusing on digital innovation, enhanced Homeshare 
support, expanded communication strategies, housing education and the development of a social 
enterprise model (Appendix A). 

ALTERNATIVES 

Alternative 1 
The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission approved a $23,724 contract with the 
Southern Gulf Islands Community Resource Centre for a Housing Now HomeShare Registry for 
Salt Spring Island. 

Alternative 2 
The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission refer this report back to staff for additional 
information 
IMPLICATIONS 

Index No 
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2 
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission – May 15, 2025 
Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

Financial Implications 

The Housing Now HomeShare Registry project will be funded from 1.124 Economic Development 
Service (EDS) budget. 

The Economic Development Service has $101,652 budgeted for project costs and third-party 
payments in 2025. $51,652 of this funding was carried forward from 2024 to support LCC 
housing strategy initiatives. There is $50,000 remaining to support fee-for-service contracts 
through the Economic Development Service in 2025. 

Table 1: Salt Spring Island 2025 Economic Development Service Summary 
2025 Economic 
Development Service 

2024 Carried 
Forward 

2025 
Budget 

Total 2025 
Project Cost 

Committed 
Funds * 

Remaining 

SSI ($) 51,652 50,000 101,652 51,652 50,000 

The CRD funded four fee-for-service contracts through the EDS in 2024 totaling $62,830: 

Table 2: Salt Spring Island 2024 Economic Development Service Spent for 2024 
2024 Economic Development Service 

Contract Description Amount ($) 

SSI Chamber of Commerce 
Visitor Information Centre 2024 Operating 
Season 

10,000 

SSI Farmland Trust Society 
Farmland Trust Grow Local Food 
Aggregation 

20,000 

Southern Gulf Islands Tourism DMMO Annual Funding 10,000 

SGI Community Resources Housing NOW Home Share Registry 22,830 

Total Spent 2024 $62,830 

The LCC has approved four fee-for-service contracts through the EDS in 2025 totaling $25,500: 

Table 3: Salt Spring Island Economic Development Service Approved for 2025 
2025 Economic Development Service 

Contract Description Amount 
($) 

SSI Farmland Trust Society Neighborhood Farmer Training Program 7,000 

Southern Gulf Islands Tourism DMMO Annual Funding 10,000 

Salt Spring Abattoir Abattoir Skills Training 5,000 

Tuesday Market Society Tuesday Farmers Market Advertising and 
Promotion 

3,500 

Salt Spring Island Chamber of Commerce Visitor Information Centre 2025 Operating 
Season 

10,000 

Total Spent 2025 $35,500 
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3 
Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission – May 15, 2025 
Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project 

Additional grant funding has been secured in the amount of $10,000 to support housing strategy 
initiatives in 2025.  Securing this additional funding will free up an additional $10,000 of funding 
to support fee for service contracts. 

Table 5: Post Approval and Pending Funds Remaining 

2025 Economic 
Development Service 

Summary 

Housing 

2025 
Budget 

New 
Funding 

Spent 
NOW 

HomeShare 
Registry 

Remaining 
Funds 

SSI ($) 50,000 10,000 35,500 23,724 776 

Economic Development Operating Reserve Balance = $10,224 

Social Implications 

The Housing Now Homeshare Registry will support building a workforce housing toolkit of 
resources specific to Salt Spring Island and guide the creation of a fee-for-service payment 
structure that will apply to a diverse size range of employers in the region. 

CONCLUSION 

Seed funding from the SGI Community Economic Sustainability Commission and the SGITP, in 
2023, allowed for the foundations of a Home Share Registry. With additional funding in 2024, the 
SSI Housing Now HomeShare Registry has continued to improve its function and be better 
equipped to address Salt Spring’s more immediate workforce housing needs more broadly. 

The LCC has received a request for additional funding to implement key initiatives throughout 
2025 and to enhance and expand existing services. 

RECOMMENDATION 

The Salt Spring Island Local Community Commission approved a $23,724 contract with the 
Southern Gulf Islands Community Resource Centre for a Housing Now HomeShare Registry for 
Salt Spring Island. 

Submitted by: Dan Ovington, BBA, Senior Manager, Salt Spring Island Electoral Area 

Concurrence: 
Stephen Henderson, BSc, MBA, Senior Manager of Real Estate, Southern Gulf 
Islands and Salt Spring Local Community Commission 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

Appendix A: Housing Now HomeShare Registry Project Work 
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Appendix A 

Housing NOW 
Statement�of�Work�

Project�Name:�Housing�NOW Enhanced�Homeshare�Platform�Pilot�
Contractor Name:�Southern�Gulf�Island�Community�Resource�Centre�
Dept./ Division:�SSI/LCC�Capital Regional District�
Budget:�$�23,724.00�
Prepared�by�SGICRC�Staff:�Janey�Rowland,�PPA�

Project Overview: 

The Southern Gulf Island Community Resource Centre (SGICRC) and the Housing NOW 

(HN) Project aim to establish a streamlined, accessible Homeshare platform that enhances 

housing stability, fosters community connections, and promotes sustainable housing solutions 

for residents across Salt Spring and the Southern Gulf Islands. 

Housing NOW is committed to expanding its capacity to provide tailored support for 

homeowners and tenants within the region. In response to evolving community needs, Housing 

NOW will implement key initiatives throughout 2025, focusing on digital innovation, enhanced 

Homeshare support, expanded communication strategies, housing education, and the 

development of a social enterprise model. 

Scope of Work: 

1. Improved Digital Platform 

• Implement digital security features to increase homeowner confidence. 

• Establish automated rent collection and secure deposit management. 

• Integrate background checks and affordable tenant insurance services. 

2. Enhanced Homesharer Support 

• Expand facilitation of Homeshare services to match homeowners and tenants 

effectively. 

• Conduct home inspections and provide direct homeowner support. 

• Strengthen homeowner engagement to improve program participation. 

3. Expanded Communication Strategy 

• Develop targeted marketing campaigns to increase awareness and participation. 

• Implement direct engagement efforts to improve community outreach. 

4. Housing Education Initiatives 

• Organize community conversations and produce podcast episodes to highlight long-

term tenancy benefits. 

• Conduct targeted initiatives to encourage pet-friendly rental opportunities. 

5. Social Enterprise Development 

• Research and develop the property management component of the Homeshare Registry 

platform. 
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• Explore funding partnerships to ensure long-term program sustainability. 

Implementation Strategy: 

To ensure the successful integration of these initiatives, Housing NOW will launch a First-Year 

Pilot Program with a primary focus on employer-driven workforce housing solutions. The pilot 

will include: 

• Refinement of both digital and in-person support systems to enhance service delivery. 

• Strengthening homeowner engagement through education and direct support. 

• Developing sustainable and affordable workforce housing options tailored to regional 

needs. 

By leveraging enhanced technological infrastructure alongside Housing NOW’s on-the-

ground expertise, this collaboration will create a scalable and sustainable Homeshare program 

that directly addresses the housing challenges of Salt Spring and the Southern Gulf Islands 

community. 

SCOPE 

In Scope Out of Scope 

SSI Homeshare Community Awareness Campaign 

Employer Driven Workforce Housing Campaign 

Digital Homeshare Platform Pilot 

Housing NOW Property Management Division Initiating Property Management Division 

Social Enterprise Framework Report 

PROJECT DELIVERABLES 

Deliverables 

1. Kitchen Table Conversations Guidebook - Distribution 

2. Property Management Component - Research and Development 

3. Social Enterprise Framework Report 

4. Digital Platform Pilot Six Month Review 

5. 2025 HN Year in Review 

Page 293



 

   

     

   

  

   

  

   

 

  

    

  

   

  

  

  

   

 

    

    

      

     

 
  

 

TIMELINE 

Milestones, etc. Delivery Date 

Digital Platform Pilot Initiation March 2025 

SSI Homeshare Community Awareness Campaign April thru December 2025 

Kitchen Table Conversations Guidebook Distribution May 2025 

Enhanced Platform Pilot Review September 2025 

Social Enterprise Framework Report November 2025 

2025 HN Year in Review January 2026 

BUDGET 

Explanation Amount 

Program Management $4,520.00 

SSI Coordinator $9,000.00 

Print and Marketing $2,500.00 

Digital Platform Licensing Fee $2,500.00 

Travel & Accommodations $1,250.00 

Administration 20% $3,954.00 

TOTAL $ 23,724.00 

Project Team 

Role Team Member Implementation Project Review 

Project Sponsor SGI CESC, SSI LCC 

CRD Project Manager Justine Stark, CRD 

CRC Project Manager Melody Pender, CRC Management, 
Budget, Final 
Deliverables, and 
Program Oversight 
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Program Manager Janey Rowland, CRC Creation, 
Coordination, and 
Execution of Project 
Plan 
Program Reporting 

Housing NOW Registry 
Coordinator 

Jacqueline Dupuis, 
CRC 

Execution of Registry 
Processes, Reporting, 
Communications, 
Homesharer Support 

Housing NOW SSI 
Coordinator 

Adam Evanik Execution of Program 
Directives, Reporting, 
Community 
Engagement, 
Homesharer Support 

SSI Island Associate TBD Coordinator Support, 
Community 
Engagement 

SGI Island Associates Jeannine Georgeson, 
Galiano 
Roberta Cremonez, 
Mayne/Saturna 

Coordinator Support, 
Community 
Engagement 
Homesharer Support 

Project Support TBD, CRD Advisory 

KEY STAKEHOLDERS 

Stakeholder Affected or interested Role or Involvement 

SGI, SSI EA -
Capital Regional District 

The project will help to address 
both short- and long-term 
housing shortages in the SGI 
and SSI Electoral Areas 

I 

SGI Community Economic 
Sustainability Commission 

The project will create a 
functioning Housing Registry 
model that will facilitate 
numerous homesharing 
opportunities in the SGIs 

C, A 
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SGI Tourism Partnership Society The project will create 
opportunities for workforce 
housing in support of the entire 
region’s visitor economy 

C 

SGI Community Resource Centre The project will support 
community capacity building 
through the creation of 
workforce housing 

PD, A 

SSI, SGI Businesses and NPOs The project will support 
functionality of community 
services and programs through 
the creation of workforce 
housing 

I 

SSI, SGI General Public The project will help in the 
creation of immediate and 
affordable housing 
opportunities in the region 

I 

COMMUNICATIONS 

Internal 

CRD Politicians No 

Management Teams No 

Specific Senior Management No 

External 

Public Consultation No 

Advertising Yes 

Politically sensitive updates No 

RISK ID. 

Risks Identification 
(related to scope, budget, schedule, etc.) 

High Level risk Response 
(if Applicable) 

1. N/A 

2. N/A 

3. 
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WORK PLAN 

Timeline Description Hours Wage Amount 

March 1 - 30 Digital Platform: 
Team onboarding and platform 
orientation 
Community Awareness: 
Direct business outreach, 
Enhanced Advertising 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

April 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events, 
Canada Post direct outreach 
campaign 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

May 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events, 
Kitchen Table Conversation 
Guidebook distribution 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

June 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
Social enterprise framework – 
research and development 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 
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July 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

Aug 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Project Management 
SSI Coordinator 12 

30 
$40.00 $480.00 

$1.000.00 

Sept 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
Social enterprise framework – 
research and development 
Digital Pilot review 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

Oct 1- 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events, 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

Nov 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
In person/online events 
Social enterprise framework – 
research and development 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 
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Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

Dec 1 - 30 Community Awareness: 
Consolidation of data 
Stakeholder reporting 
Onsite inspections and 
documentation 

Program Management 
SSI Coordinator 

12 
30 

$40.00 $480.00 
$1.000.00 

January 2026 2025 HN Year in Review 

Program Management 5 $40.00 $200.00 

Additional Items 

ITEM DESCRIPTION NEED COST 

Finance Upon receipt of the 
initial CRC invoice 

1st disbursement $8,000.00 

Finance Upon receipt of HN 
platform pilot review 

2nd disbursement $8,000.00 

Finance Upon receipt of HN 
Year in Review 

Final disbursement $7,724.00 
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REPORT TO SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL COMMUNITY COMMISSION 
MEETING OF Thursday, May 15, 2025 

SUBJECT SD64 and CRD Special Joint Meeting 

ISSUE SUMMARY 

For the LCC to meet with SD64 Trustees to discuss shared priorities and responsibilities on SSI. 

BACKGROUND 

The Capital Regional District (CRD) through its Salt Spring Island (SSI) Parks and Recreation 
Service has had a long-standing relationship with the Gulf Island School District 64 (SD64) to 
provide community recreation and education services to residents of SSI. 

With the SSI Parks and Recreation Service now delegated to the SSI Local Community 
Commission (LCC) the following motion was carried by the LCC on August 15, 2024: 

That the LCC, through the Chair, invites the Trustees and staff of School District 64 to a special 
joint meeting for the purpose of connecting in a public meeting and to discuss our shared 
priorities and responsibilities. 

To assist in the facilitation of the meeting staff have prepared this report as a reference to 
existing CRD and SD64 leases, joint use agreements, construction management and operating 
licenses including: 

• Kanaka Skate Park Joint Use Agreement (Appendix A) 

• SD64 and CRD Joint Use Agreement (Appendix B) 

• Salt Spring Island Multi Space Lease (Appendix C) 

• Hydrofield Design, Construction Management & Operating License (Appendix D) 

• 163 Drake Road, Phoenix Elementary Lease (Appendix E) 

Providing free or low-cost access to recreation facilities during school hours increases 
recreation opportunities for youth while removing cost barriers. Providing free or low-cost 
access to school facilities outside of school hours allows for a reduction in registration and 
facility booking costs for program registrants and not for community groups. 

IMPLICATIONS 

Financial Implications 

Recreation facilities have reduced use during daytime hours with peak use taking place after 
school hours. School facilities are typically only operated during school hours leaving the facility 
vacant during peak afterschool times, including evenings, weekends, spring break and summer. 

Joint-use agreements are common between recreation departments and their local school district. 
The main purpose of the agreement is to share indoor and outdoor spaces like gymnasiums, 
athletic fields and playgrounds with the goal of providing free or low-cost access to community 
amenities with a goal to keep costs down and communities healthy. 
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Salt Sprig Island Local Community Commission – May 15, 2025 
SD64 and CRD Special Joint Meeting 2 

CONCLUSION 

The SSI parks and recreation department has had a long-standing relationship with SD64 to 
provide community recreation and education services to residents of SSI. In recent years the 
relationship has expanded from a joint use agreement to include fully operating former SD64 
facilities and upgrading SD64 infrastructure such as playing fields for community use. 

RECOMMENDATION 

There is no recommendation, this report is for information only. 

Submitted by: Dan Ovington, BBA, Senior Manager, Salt Spring Island Administration 

Concurrence: 
Stephen Henderson, MBA, BSc, Senior Manager of Real Estate, Southern Gulf 
Islands and Salt Spring Local Community Commission 

ATTACHMENT(S) 

Appendix A - Kanaka Skate Park Joint Use Agreement 
Appendix B - SD64 and CRD Joint Use Agreement 
Appendix C - Salt Spring Island Multi Space Lease 
Appendix D - Hydofield Design, Construction Management & Operating License 
Appendix E - 163 Drake Road, Phoenix Elementary Lease 
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Appendix D 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.64 (GULF ISLANDS) AND 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT- SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL 

COMMUNITY COMMISSION 

SALT SPRING ISLAND HYDROFIELD UPGRADES 

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION MANAGEMENT 

& OPERATION LICENCE 

& 

SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.64 (GULF ISLANDS) AND CAPITAL 

REGIONAL DISTRICT - SALT SPRING ISLAND LOCAL 

COMMUNITY COMMISSION 

SALT SPRING ISLAND HYDROFIELD UPGRADES 

CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

December 2023 
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SALT SPRING ISLAND HYDROFIELD UPGRADES 

DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION 

MANAGEMENT AND OPERATION LICENCE 

THIS LICENCE dated for reference this day 18 of December 2023. 

BETWEEN: 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 
625 Fisgard Street 
Victoria, British Columbia V8W 2S6 

("the CRD") 

AND: 

BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT NO.64 (GULF ISLANDS) 

112 Rainbow Road 

Salt Spring Island, British Columbia, V8K 2K3 

(the "School District") 

WHEREAS the Board of Education of School District No.64 (Gulf Islands) is the 

registered owner of those certain lands and premises situated on Salt Spring 

Island and commonly known as the Hydrofield located at 160 Rainbow Rd, Salt 

Spring Island, B.C. and legally described as: 

PID: 001-335-367 

Lot A, Section 2, Range 3E, Cowichan District, 

Plan VIP8095, North Salt Spring 

and 

a portion of PID: 026-125-943 

Lot 2, Section 2, Range 3E, Cowichan District, 

Plan VIP78013, North Salt Spring 

and 

a portion of PID: 028-419-502 

Lot 2, Section 2, Range 3E, Cowichan District, 

Plan EPP9917, North Salt Spring 

(together, the "Hydrofield Lands"); 

AND WHEREAS the CRD is a local government duly incorporated pursuant to 

the laws of the Province of British Columbia; 

AND WHEREAS The Hydrofield Lands which are a publicly accessible sports playing 
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field (the "Facility") will be upgraded by the CRD; 

AND WHEREAS the CRD will plan and develop the upgrades to the Facility; 

NOW THEREFORE THIS AGREEMENT WITNESSES that the parties hereto 

mutually covenant and agree as follows: 

Grant of Licence 

1. The School District hereby grants to the CRD a licence to enter upon, use and occupy 
that area of the Hydrofield Lands shown outlined and marked with dashed lines on 
Schedule "I" of this Agreement (the "Licence Area") for the purpose of: 

a. the planning, development construction of upgrades to the Facility and the 
future, management, operation, maintenance, and repair of the Facility by 
the CRD its directors, officers, employees, agents, contractors, and 
invitees. 

b. the use of the Facility by the CRD, its directors, officers, employees, agents, 
contractors, invitees, and members of the public; and subject to the terms 
and conditions of this Agreement. 

2. It is understood and agreed by the parties hereto that all right, title and interest in and 
to the Facility and Hydrofield Lands remains vested in the School District. 

Reservation of Rights 

3. The School District hereby reserves to itself from the grant and the covenants made by it 
to the CRD under clause 1 above the right for the School District, its agents, employees, 
contractors and subcontractors to have full and complete access to the Hydrofield Lands 
to carry out any operations associated with the School District’s use of the Hydrofield 
Lands. 

Term & Renewal 

4. The term of this Agreement is for a period of five (5) years, commencing the eight (8) 
day of January 2024 and ending the seventh (7) day of January 2029 (the "Term"). 

5. If the CRD has duly faithfully performed each and every covenant contained in the Licence 
and requests in writing a further renewal of this Lease delivered not less than SIX (6) months 
before the expiration if the Term, the School District shall grant the CRD a renewal of this 

Licence for five (5) years. 

Licence Fee 

6. In consideration of the rights granted herein, the CRD shall pay to the School District the 
sum of Ten Dollars ($10.00) Dollars for the Term, the receipt and sufficiency of which is 
hereby acknowledged. 

Authority 

7. The CRD represents and warrants to the School District that it has the authority to 
enter into this Agreement and carry out its transactions and all necessary resolutions 
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and procedural formalities have been completed and the persons executing this 
Agreement on its behalf are duly authorized to do so. 

8. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 

Taxes and Utilities 

9. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 

10. The School District must pay all applicable property taxes, whether federal, provincial, 
municipal, or otherwise with respect to the Hydrofield Lands. 

Design and Construction of the Facility 

11. The planning and developing of the upgrades of the Facility must be carried out in 
accordance with the terms and conditions of the Construction Agreement attached 
hereto at Schedule "II". 

Operation Maintenance and Repairs of the Facility 

12. The operation, maintenance and repairs of the Facility must be carried out in 
accordance with the terms and conditions set out in Schedule Ill attached hereto. 

School District Covenants 

13. The School District will not, nor permit any other person to, without the written consent of 

the CRD being obtained: 

a. make, place, erect, install or maintain after the date hereof any building, 
structure, excavation, pile of material or other obstruction in, under or over the 
Licence Area so that it in any way interferes with or damages or prevents access 
along, to, under or over the Licence Area as permitted herein; 

b. do any act or thing which will interfere with or injure the Licence Area, the 
Facility or any related improvement constructed on, under or over the Licence 
Area by the CRD or the rights granted herein; 

c. prevent the CRD from peaceably holding and enjoying the rights hereby 
granted; or 

d. grant another interest or licence in the Licence Area that will materially affect 
or interfere with the rights granted to the CRD in this Agreement. 

Bookings & Access to Licence Area 

14. The CRD will have access to the Facility and Licence Area on weekend days, non-
instructional days, and after 4:30pm on School District 64 instructional days, as 
identified on the School District’s annual instructional calendar. 

15. The School District will have full use of the Facility from 7:30am until 4:30pm on 
instructional days identified each year on the School District 64 annual instructional 
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calendar. 

16. Facility Bookings are as follows: 

a. The CRD will be responsible for Facility bookings on weekend days, non-
instructional days, and after 4:30pm on School District 64 instructional days, 
as identified on the School District’s annual instructional calendar. 

b. Priority for bookings outside of school hours will be ordered: School District 64 
after school sports groups, CRD/SSI LCC programs, youth and adult non-profit 
groups. 

Insurance 

17. The CRD must, at its own expense, maintain at all times during the Term of this 

Agreement: 

a. commercial general liability (including bodily injury, death, and property 

damage) insurance on an occurrence basis with respect to the business carried 
on the Licence Area of not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence. 

b. all policies noted in Clause 17(a) must: 

i. include the School District as an additional insured; 

ii. include a cross liability clause; 

iii. be placed with one or more insurer(s) licensed to do business in the 
Province of British Columbia; and 

c. endeavor to provide thirty (30) days written notice of cancellation or 
reduction of coverage in favour of School District, to be delivered by 
registered mail. 

18. The CRD further agrees: 

a. to provide to the School District proof of the insurance policies noted in Clause 
17 upon placement and annually thereafter on renewal of the policies or 
otherwise upon demand by School District, by way of certificate of insurance; 

b. that building and contents insurance will be covered under any policies 
carried by School District; 

c. that the School District is under no obligation to verify that the CRD's 
insurance coverages are adequate; 

d. to ensure any workers or other persons engaged by the CRD to carry out 
any works at the Facility obtain Workers' Compensation Board insurance 
coverage; and to comply with all conditions of the Workers Compensation 
Act and regulations, and be responsible for all fines, levies, penalties and 
assessments made or imposed under the Workers Compensation Act and 
regulations relating in any way to any works carried out at the Facility, and 
to indemnify and save harmless the School District, its employees and 
agents, from and against any such fines, levies, penalties and assessments. 
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Indemnification 

19. The CRD agrees to release, indemnify, defend and saves harmless the School District 

and its elected and appointed officials, officers, employees, agents, successors and 

assigns from any and all liabilities, actions, damages, claims, losses, orders, fines, 

penalties, costs and expenses in any way directly or indirectly arising from or in 

connection with the activities, actions or omissions of the CRD or any of its employees, 

agents, licenses, servants , invitees or anyone for whom the CRD is in law responsible, 

in connection with this Agreement. The indemnities set out in this paragraph do not 

include indemnifications for negligence or misconduct on the part of the School 

District or a person for whom the School District is responsible at law. This paragraph 

will survive termination of this Agreement. 

Termination 

20. The School District may terminate this Agreement at any time, and without cause, by 
giving 365 days' written notice of termination to the CRD. 

21. The School District may terminate this Agreement if the CRD fails to comply with any 
of the terms, covenants and agreements that the CRD must observe or perform under 
this Agreement and that failure continues for thirty (30) days after receipt by the CRD 
of notice in writing from the School District specifying the failure. 

22. The CRD may terminate this Agreement by providing 365 days' written notice of 
termination to the School District. 

Other 

23. The Schedules to this Agreement form part of this Agreement. If there is a conflict 
between a provision in a schedule to this Agreement and any other provision of this 
Agreement, then the provision in the schedule is inoperative to the extent of the 
conflict, unless it states that it operates despite a conflicting provision of this 
Agreement. 

24. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 

25. Any notice which is required to be given under the terms of this License may effectively 
be given by a party hereto by mailing it by registered mail directed to the other party at 
the address hereinbefore set out or at such other address as the other party may in 
writing provide, which notice shall be deemed to be received on expiry of the day on 
which such notice would be reasonably delivered by such mailing. 

26. The CRD is not permitted to transfer or assign its rights under this Agreement 
· without the written consent of the School District. 

27. This Agreement and everything herein contained inures to the benefit of and be 
binding upon the CRD and School District and its successors and assigns. 

28. This Agreement shall not be interpreted as granting any legal interest in the Land to the 
Licensee. 
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_____________________________ _____________________________ 

_________________________ _________________________ 

29. The headings in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of reference only, and 
are not a part of the agreements created by this License. 

30. Whenever the singular or masculine are used in this Agreement, they are to be 
construed as meaning plural or feminine or body corporate where the context or 

the parties hereto require. 

31. This Agreement shall ensure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto 
and their permitted assigns. 

32. This Agreement may be executed in counterpart with the same effect as if both 
parties had signed the same document. Each counterpart shall be deemed to be an 

original. All counterparts shall be construed together and shall constitute one and 

the same agreement. 

EXECUTION(S): The authorized signatories of the parties hereto sign this Agreement as 

follows: 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL 
DISTRICT NO.64 (GULF ISLANDS) 

by its authorized signatory by its authorized signatory 

22 January 24

Lori Deacon

this ___ day of _________, 202_: this ___ day of _________, 202_: 

Print name: Print name: 
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SCHEDULE "II” 

SCHOOL DISTRICT 64 (GULF ISLANDS) AND 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT - SALT SPRING 

ISLAND LOCAL COMMUNITY COMMISSION 

SALT SPRING ISLAND HYDROFIELD UPGRADES 
CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

DECEMBER 2023 
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CONSTRUCTION SERVICES AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN: 
THE BOARD OF EDUCATION OF SCHOOL DISTRICT 64 

(GULF ISLANDS) 

112 Rainbow Road 

Salt Spring Island, BC 
V8K 2K3 

("School District", "SD64", "we", "us" or "our" as applicable) 

OF THE FIRST PART 

AND: 
CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT 

625 Fisgard Street 

Victoria, BC V8W 1R7 
Phone No. 250.360.3000 

("Capital Regional District", "you" or "your" as applicable) 

OF THE SECOND PART 
WHEREAS: 

A. The School District and the Capital Regional District, through its Salt Spring Island Local Community 
Commission, identified the need for upgrades to the sports field known as the Hydrofield, on property 
owned by the School District (PID: 001-335-367, and portions of 026-125-943 and 028-419-502). 
The School District received a $300,000 donation for upgrades to the Hydrofield and wishes to 
proceed with the upgrades with the assistance from the Capital Regional District. 

B. The School District has agreed to engage the Capital Regional District, and the Capital Regional 
District has agreed to provide the services as per Schedule “A” and Schedule "B" to this Agreement 
to the School District in respect of the project on the terms and conditions set out in this Agreement. 

NOW THEREFORE the Board of Education of School District 64 (Gulf Islands) and the Capital Regional 

District, in consideration of their mutual duties and responsibilities to one another under this agreement 

(the "Agreement"), agree as follows: 

CAPITAL REGIONAL DISTRICT'S OBLIGATIONS: 

1. Standard of Care You must provide the Services with the degree of care, skill and diligence 

normally provided by vendors having similar qualifications in the performance of duties of a nature 
similar to the Services, and you must provide the Services within the time limits specified in 

Schedule "A" or, if no time limit is specified in Schedule "A", you must provide the Services 

promptly. 

2. Billable Charges You must charge only those fees and disbursements specifically authorized for 
the Services in Schedule "A" to this Agreement. All other costs and expenses incurred by you that 

are related to this project including permits and licenses must be approved by the School District. 

3. Confidentiality the School District and CRD will not disclose any information, data or secret of the 
other party to any person other than representatives of each respective party duly designated for 
that purpose in writing and must not use for their own purposes or for any purpose other than 
those of the 
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providing party any information, data or secret acquired as a result of being engaged pursuant to 
this Agreement, unless otherwise authorized by law 

4. Conflict of Interest [Not applicable] 

5. INTENTIONALLY DELETED 

6. INTENTIONALLY DELETED. 

7. Severability It is understood and agreed that the covenants and agreements contained in 
paragraphs 3, 4, 5, 6 and 8 shall survive the expiry or earlier termination of this Agreement and 
that those paragraphs are severable for such purpose. 

8. Indemnification CRD shall indemnify and save harmless us and our elected officials, appointed 
officers, employees, agents and contractors from and against any claims, costs, losses, damages, 
actions, causes of action and expenses arising (each a "Loss"), from an error, omission or negligent 
or wilful act of CRD or its agents, employees, or sub-contractors, or from your breach of this 
Agreement. The School District shall indemnify and save harmless CRD and its elected officials, 
appointed officers, employees, agents and contractors from and against any claims, costs, losses, 
damages, actions, causes of action and expenses arising, from an error, omission or negligent 
or wilful act of the School District or its agents, employees, or sub-contractors, or from its breach of 
this Agreement. For clarity, the intent of this mutual indemnity is for each party to take responsibility 
for its tortious or wrongful acts, or the acts of anyone it is responsible for at law, to the extent those 
wrongful acts cause or contribute to a Loss. 

9. Insurance CRD must provide and maintain at its expense any insurance that it is required to 
provide by law, or that is reasonably necessary to insure against any risks it may assume as a 
result of entering into this Agreement, including coverage for its employees as required by the 
Workers Compensation Act. 

10. Compliance with Laws You must comply with all laws applicable to the provision of the Services. 

11. Assignment You must not assign, subcontract, or transfer any interest in your rights under this 
Agreement without our prior written consent. This does not include contemplated works to procure 
trades, consultants, and other services to complete the work as set out in the Project Charter 
attached as Schedule "B". 

12. Legal Relationship The legal relationship between you and the School District arising pursuant to 
this Agreement is that of an independent contractor and a purchaser of services. Nothing in this 
Agreement shall be interpreted so as to render us your employer or partner, or the employer of 
anyone working for you, and you must not do anything that would result in anyone working for you 
being considered our employees. Nothing in this agreement shall be interpreted so as to render 
CRD as the School District's employer or partner, or the employer of anyone working for the School 
District and the School District must not do anything that would result in anyone working for it being 
considered CRD's employee. 

. . 
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13. Agent You are not, and must not claim to be our agent for any purpose unless we give you 
authorization in writing to act as our agent for specific purposes that are reasonably necessary to 
your rendering of the Services pursuant to this Agreement. 

PAYMENT 

14. Payment for Services Upon signing this agreement the School District is responsible for the payment 

of the fees as per the scope identified in the Services and Fees (Schedule “A”). 
15. Currency Unless stated otherwise in this Agreement, all sums of money are in Canadian dollars. 

TERMINATION AND SUSPENSION 

16. For Default of CRD If you are in default of your obligations under this Agreement, and you have 

not corrected the default within thirty (30) days following written notice from us, or if the default 
reasonably requires more time to correct, and you are not taking active steps to correct the default 

within thirty (30) days following written notice from us, or if you become insolvent or are assigned 
into bankruptcy, we may immediately terminate this Agreement. Termination will be without prejudice 

to any other rights or remedies we may have. 

17. For Default of School District If the School District is in default of its obligations under this 
Agreement, and has not corrected the default within thirty (30) days following written notice from 

CRD, or if the default reasonably requires more time to correct, and it is not taking active steps to 
correct the default within thirty (30) days following written notice from CRD, or if you become insolvent 

or are assigned into bankruptcy, we may immediately terminate this Agreement. Termination will be 

without prejudice to any other rights or remedies we may have. 

18. With Notice If we are unwilling or unable to proceed with the Project we may terminate this 
Agreement by giving you fifteen (15) days written notice. If you receive such notice, you must perform 
no further Services other than those reasonably necessary to close out the Services, and we will pay 
you the fees and authorized disbursements properly owing as of the effective date of termination. 

GENERAL 

19. The School District to Provide Information We will make available to you all information in our 

possession which we consider pertinent to your performance of the Services. You may rely upon 
the accuracy and completeness of such information except where it is unreasonable to do so. 

20. The School District to Respond We will give prompt consideration to all draft reports, drawings, 
proposals and other documents relating to the Project provided to us by you, and, whenever prompt 
action is necessary, where possible inform you of a decision in such reasonable time so as not to 
delay your Services. 

21. Site Access We will arrange and make provision for your entry and ready access to property (public 
and private) as well as to the Project site, as necessary, to enable you to perform the Services. We 
will arrange a safety orientation for you and your employees, to identify the hazards of the site. Once 
we have provided such a safety orientation, you will be responsible for arranging any additional 
safety orientations necessary as a result of a change in your personnel or otherwise. 

22. Jurisdiction This Agreement is governed by and shall be construed in accordance with the laws 

in force from time to time in the Province of British Columbia. 
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23. Waiver Except as may be specifically agreed in writing, no action or failure to act by the School 

District or the Capital Regional District shall constitute a waiver of any right or duty afforded either 

of them under this Agreement nor shall any such action or failure to act constitute an approval of or 

acquiescence in any breach of this Agreement. 

24. Entire Agreement This Agreement, including the schedules attached to it, constitutes the entire 

Agreement between the School District and the Capital Regional District and supersedes all 

previous expectations, understanding, communications, representations and agreements whether 

verbal or written between the School District and the Capital Regional District with respect to the 

subject matters hereof and may not be modified except by subsequent agreement in writing 

executed by the School District and the Capital Regional District. 

25. Conflict In the event of a conflict between a provision in this Agreement and a provision in a 

schedule attached to this Agreement, the provision in this Agreement shall prevail. 

26. Invalidity If any part of this Agreement is or is declared invalid by a court of competent jurisdiction, 

the remainder shall continue in full force and effect and be construed as if the Agreement had been 

executed without the invalid portion. 

27. Designation of Parties In this Agreement, "we", "us" and "our" refer to School District alone and 

never refer to the combination of the Capital Regional District and the School District. The 

combination of the School District and the Capital Regional District is referred to as "the parties". 

28. Headings The captions or headings appearing in this Agreement are inserted for convenience of 

reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of it. 

29. Interpretation Whenever the singular or masculine is used in this Agreement, the same shall be 

deemed to include the plural or the feminine or the body politic or corporate where the context or 

the parties so require. 

30. Enurement This Agreement shall enure to the benefit of and be binding upon the parties hereto 

and their respective heirs, executors, administrators, personal representatives, successors and 

permitted assigns. Neither party may assign, subcontract or transfer an interest in the 

Agreement without the prior written consent of the other. 

DISPUTE RESOLUTION 

31. Arbitration All matters in dispute under this Agreement which are not first resolved between the 

parties acting reasonably may, with the concurrence of both the School District and the Capital 

Regional District, be submitted to arbitration pursuant to the Commercial Arbitration Act (British 

Columbia) to a single arbitrator appointed jointly by them. 

32. No Conflict of Interest No one shall be nominated to act as an arbitrator who is in any way 

financially interested in the conduct of the Project or in the business affairs of either the School 

District or the Capital Regional District. 

33. Nominees If the parties cannot agree on the choice of an arbitrator, each party shall select a 

nominee and the nominees shall jointly appoint an arbitrator. 

DESIGNATED REPRESENTATIVES 

34. The School District Representative We shall by notice in writing to you designate a representative 

to act on our behalf with respect to the performance of this Agreement (the "School District 

Representative") and we may at any time or from time to time thereafter, by notice in writing to 

you, designate another person to act as the School District Representative in the place and 

stead of any person previously designated. 

Page 358



 

   

 

      
           

            
 

 
 

 
       

         
       

                 
  

        
           

     
      

      

 

- 5 -

35. Project Manager You shall; by notice in writing to us, designate a representative to act on your 
behalf with respect to the performance of this Agreement (the "Project Manager") and you may at 

any time or from time to time thereafter, upon written approval from us, designate another person 
to act as the Project Manager in the place and stead of any person previously so designated. 

NOTICE 

36. Notice Unless otherwise specified in this Agreement, any notice required to be given by either party 

shall be deemed to have been given if delivered by hand, mailed by prepaid registered mail or faxed 
to the address of the other party set forth on the first page of this Agreement or at such other 

address as the other party may from time to time direct in writing, and any such notice shall be 
deemed to have been received if mailed or faxed, 72 hours after the time of mailing or faxing and, 

if delivered by hand, upon the date of delivery. If normal mail service or facsimile service is 
interrupted by strike, force majeure or other cause beyond the control of the parties, then a notice 

sent by the impaired means of communication will not be deemed to be received until actually 
received, and the party sending the notice shall utilize any other means of communication which 

have not been so interrupted or shall deliver such notice by hand in order to ensure its prompt 

receipt. 
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SCHEDULE "A" 

SERVICES AND FEES 
TERM 

The term of this Agreement commences on January 8th, 2024 and expires on January 7th, 2029 (the 
"term"). 

All deliverables as set out in this Agreement shall be delivered at the dates set in this Schedule and 
services completed by such dates, or if no dates are set, before the end of the term. 

If the deliverables are not provided as set out in the Schedule or the services are not completed by 

the end of the term, the term of the contract shall be extended by the parties by mutual agreement. 
In no event shall the term extend beyond five years. 

2 SERVICES 

The CRD will provide the service of construction management and administration of the project as set 
out in the Scope of Work, attached as Schedule "B" (the “Scope of Work”). 

The intent is to deliver this project within budget. As the project progresses, the Capital Regional 

District will work with the School District to modify the scope when needed to ensure the project is kept 
within budget. The project budget of $300,000 is based on the Scope of Work defined in this 

Agreement and the donation. School District is responsible for any additional costs due to scope 
changes or additional work outside the original scope. 

3 FEES 

Fees for trades and other procured services will be the cost of those services. 

4 EXPENSES 

CRD will charge-back the actual amount of expenses. 

5 INVOICES 

In order to obtain payment of any fees and expenses under this Agreement, the CRD will invoice the 

School District bi-monthly, detailing the construction cost to date and the amount owing to CRD per the 
fee calculation. At School District's request, CRD will prepare a written invoice containing: 

(a) the CRD's legal name and address; 

(b) the date of the statement; 

(c) the CRD's calculation of all fees claimed under this Agreement, including a declaration that 

the Services for which the Contractor claims fees have been completed; 
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(d) a chronological listing, 'in reasonable detail, of any expenses claimed by CRD with receipts 

attached, if applicable, and, if CRD is claiming reimbursement of any GST or other 

applicable taxes paid or payable by CRD in relation to those expenses, a description of any 

credits, rebates, refunds or remissions the Contractor is entitled to from the relevant taxation 

authorities in relation to those taxes; 

(e) the CRD's calculation of all applicable taxes payable by the CRD in relation to the Services; 

(f) a description of this Agreement to which the statement relates; 

(g) a statement number for identification; and 

(h) any other billing information reasonably requested by the School District. 

PAYMENT 

CRD will ensure payments to contractors and sub-trades are compliant with Builders Lien Act 
legislation. 
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SCHEDULE "B" 

SCOPE OF WORK 

The scope of work applies to the area in heavy red outline on Schedule C 

- A raised ballfield elevation with sand to level and improve drainage. 
- Relocate and replace existing ballfield backstop and fencing. 
- A new dugouts and adjacent storage shed with concrete block pony walls and metal roof. 
- Hydroseeded turf outfield 
- New baseball fly netting to existing backstop and upgrade footings for required structural support 

Additional works identified outside of the heavy red outline on Schedule C may be completed at a later 
date. 
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SCHEDULE "C" 
PROPOSED HYDROFIELD UPGRADES - MAP 
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SCHEDULE "Ill" 

OPERATION, MAINTENANCE AND REPAIRS 

AND 
ROLES AND RESPONSIBILITIES FOR FACILITY 

1.0 Operation 

1.1 The CRD agrees to manage the Facility in accordance with applicable CRD 
policies and procedures bylaws. 

1.2 The CRD must ensure that the use of the Facility and the deportment of its 
users, are both within the law and socially acceptable. Concerns or complaints 
from neighboring residents and the public at large regarding the Facility will be 
given every consideration and effort for their expedient resolution. 

2.0 Maintenance and Repairs 

2.1 The CRD must carry out the maintenance of the Facility in a good and workmanlike 
manner and must not cause unnecessary damage or disturbance to the 
surrounding land or any improvement on or in the Hydrofield Land; 

2.2 The CRD will accept responsibility for the annual preventative maintenance of the 
Facility and amenities upon completion of the construction phase. The timing of the 
maintenance will be arranged in co-operation with the School District to ensure minimal 
disruption of school activities. 

2.3 The CRD will be responsible for asset management and capital repairs of new Facility 
infrastructure. 

2.4 The CRD will provide and maintain restroom facilities in the form of port-a-potties in 
sufficient numbers to serve the community user groups during peak times. In addition, 
CRD will install garbage cans in sufficient numbers to handle all garbage generated by 
the community user groups. The CRD will empty the garbage cans as required. 

2.5 The School District is responsible for general cutting of grass and annual seeding related 
to preventative maintenance. 

a) The School District will not be providing general grass cutting during non-
instructional days. 

2.6 The School District and the CRD mutually agree to share the cost of major repair items 
that become necessary. 

2.7 The CRD must keep the Facility in good condition and promptly carry out all 
necessary maintenance and repairs within (120) days of notice or to such further 
period to which the parties agree, expect those repairs required to make the Facility 
reasonably safe must be carried out immediately. 

2.8 The CRD is not entitled to make any additions to or demolish the Facility except with 
the written permission of the School District. 
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